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About d+h D+H is a leading North American provider of secure and reliable technology solutions to domestic

and global financial institutions, with a reputation for being a trusted partner that helps clients build deeper, more

profitable relationships with their customers based on rich industry and market insight and consumer knowledge.

Today, approximately 7,000 banks, specialty lenders, community banks and credit unions rely on D+H to deliver

solutions across three broad service areas: Banking Technology Solutions (Enterprise, Lending); Lending Processing

Solutions; and Payments Solutions. Our integrated, compliant technology solutions enable clients to grow, compete,

and optimize their operations, while our forward looking approach helps them stay ahead of the market and

anticipate changing consumer needs. D+H is one of the world's top FinTech companies as measured on the FinTech

100 list and recognized on the Branham 300 ranking as one of the top ICT companies in Canada.

Davis + Henderson Corporation is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol DH. Further information

can be found at www.dhltd.com and in the disclosure documents filed by Davis + Henderson Corporation with the

securities regulatory authorities at www.sedar.com.
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In our journey to build our North American
standing as a leading FinTech company,
2013 was a transformational year. 



OUR GROWTH STRATEGY GAINS MOMENTUM

FINTECH
FAST FORWARD



Through strategic acquisitions and organic progress, we
substantially increased our ability to empower financial institutions
to grow, compete and optimize their operations.

As 2013 began, we derived the majority of our revenue in Canada. When 2013 drew to a close, D+H had become truly

North American in scope, more than tripling our U.S. customer base and counting approximately 7,000 banks, specialty

lenders, community banks and credit unions as our clients.

Assuming the businesses we acquired in the U.S. had contributed for the entire year, our pro forma Adjusted revenues

would have exceeded $1 billion, with 39% of that generated in the U.S., the world’s largest financial services marketplace.

Moreover, 75% of our run rate Adjusted revenue was derived from FinTech and related activities.

How did we fast forward our FinTech strategy? There were four drivers.

• We acquired the U.S. FinTech company, Harland Financial Solutions (HFS), in a transaction valued at U.S. $1.2 billion,

and in so doing, added over 5,000 new bank and credit union customers, over 1,400 valued employees and a portfolio

of complementary, market-leading lending and enterprise solutions that are profiled in this report. 

• We grew organically. Through our sales efforts and technology advancements, we added over 180 new financial

institution customers for our SaaS-based businesses as well as new consumer subscribers for our enhancement

services offer.

• We acquired the remainder of Compushare, a California-based FinTech company whose talented employees deliver

leading cloud-based infrastructure solutions for banks and credit unions.

• We divested assets that were not synergistic with our strategy, shedding approximately 30% of our workforce and a

non-material level of profitability, and in combination with growth in our ongoing business, increased our Adjusted

revenue per employee by 18%.

From a risk-management perspective, 2013 was also a transitional year as we significantly diversified our revenue

sources. Compared to five years ago when 82% of our business came from payments solutions, we now have three

equally robust growth platforms. Again, assuming the businesses we acquired in the U.S. had contributed for the entire

year, 28% of our 2013 pro forma Adjusted revenue was from Payments Solutions, 46% was from Banking Technology

Solutions and 26% was from Lending Processing Solutions. This level of diversification reflects the broadening of our

customer relevance and speaks to our focus on risk-managed growth.

Today, Payments Solutions encompasses our technology-enabled enhancement services platform, (see page 22), 

as well as our cheque programs for over 20 million personal and business chequing accounts. 
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Banking Technology Solutions incorporates lending, compliance and core banking

solutions from Software as a Service (“SaaS”) loan origination and underwriting

products and LaserPro, America’s first choice for automated loan compliance, to

Enterprise Solutions such as PhoenixEFE and UltraData, our flagship core banking

platforms acquired as part of HFS, and Compushare, our hosted cloud infrastructure

offering (see page 15). In Canada alone, our Banking Technology Solutions helped

in the transaction of more than $80 billion of loans in 2013.

Lending Processing Solutions is home to our loan registration and asset recovery

solutions, which our customers used in 2013 in the management of four million loan

transactions, and our student loans program where we now administer a $21 billion

customer portfolio that serves 1.7 million students on behalf of our customers.

Growth Plan and Performance

In 2013, each of our platforms improved customer service and their prospects

for growth and performance. 

• Payments Solutions expanded our reach to 7.5 million credit card accounts under

enhancement services agreements with several Canadian financial institutions as

well as ongoing collaboration with Canada’s leading financial institutions to offer

secure cheque payment solutions

• Lending Processing Solutions acquired new customers and supported one of our

largest customers in processing higher volumes flowing from an acquisition

• Banking Technology Solutions added functionality to improve service to the mobile

mortgage professionals employed by banks and credit unions and a product

extension that allows customers to capture revenue from mortgage origination

opportunities that they redirect to other institutions

Adding new customers and new customer-relevant solutions are all steps that

increase our growth potential. Now the challenge: realizing that potential in a

disciplined way.

Our plan for growth has several elements. First is to increase our share of wallet

with existing customers by giving them more value in areas that are strategic to their

businesses. While we enjoy strong relationships with our customers and add value

to their businesses, our opportunity is to expose our customers to the full breadth
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of our solutions. With broader products and solutions, we can now be of much greater value to our customers across a

wider spectrum of their operations in both Canada and the U.S.

Key to unlocking this growth is integration – of our sales efforts, our technologies and our technology development plans.

Since acquiring HFS, we have moved forward on all fronts and in 2014 will present a unified brand (see page 26), value

proposition and technology solutions set to our customers in a deliberately designed cross-selling effort.

A second growth avenue is to add new bank and credit union customers. Today there are more than 13,000 financial

institutions in the United States, some with over $100 billion of assets, some with less than $100 million. U.S. financial

institutions are spending over $49 billion annually on IT with mid-sized institutions spending in excess of $15 billion. Our

broader technology suite allows us to offer products to large and small financial institutions alike and we are reaching

into the available market to gain a foothold among the more than 7,000 banks and credit unions who have not used

D+H before. 

A third element of our growth plan is reinvestment to support the continuous development of new and refined customer-

relevant solutions and to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of our operations. 

Shareholder Perspective

Gaining momentum with our FinTech strategy allowed us to generate attractive results for our shareholders in 2013,

including strong per share accretion from our recent HFS acquisition, while being of greater service to our customers. 

Although transforming D+H increased the value of our business and resulted in strong returns for shareholders in 2013

that outstripped the broader market (measured by the S&P/TSX and its technology and banking sub-indices), we have

also retained the characteristics that we believe shareholders value: 

• Consistent: Since our IPO in 2001, we have generated surplus cash flow every year and have used these funds in a

balanced way. In 2013, we paid $89.6 million in dividends, and allocated $39.9 million to capital expenditures and 

$51.5 million to debt reduction.

• Competitive: D+H is one of the world’s top FinTech companies, now ranked number 33 on the FinTech 100 (up from

64th in 2010), a list compiled by American Banker, Bank Technology News and IDC Financial Insights and we enjoy

leading positions in several important FinTech categories.

• Disciplined: We use a targeted process for evaluating organic and acquisition growth opportunities and are unwavering

in our commitment to allocating capital where it will best satisfy our shareholders and customers.

• Efficient: We recognize the need to be efficient in everything we do, especially in more mature areas of our business

and over the past five years have become more efficient through efforts that have sustained profit margins and made

us more effective for customers.
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• Stable: The majority of our revenues are recurring and we work hard to deliver sustained value to drive high rates of

contract renewal – giving us a solid foundation in a volatile world. Our revenue models are also consistent with other

FinTech companies and include enough recurring SaaS subscription fees that Branham300 named D+H Canada’s

number one SaaS company in 2013.

• Responsible: We have a reputation for strong governance and ranked in the top 10% of Canada’s top 232 public

companies in the annual Globe & Mail report on governance practices. We also strive to be a responsible employer and

engaged, caring members of our communities, supporting numerous charities though the United Way in both Canada

and the U.S. and carefully managing our resources to conserve energy and reduce waste.

Overall, D+H’s journey to FinTech leadership was on fast forward in 2013. Standard & Poor’s and MSCI reflected this

fact by reclassifying D+H as an information technology company last year, putting us in the same peer group as our

largest U.S. FinTech competitors and marking our entry into the S&P/TSX Capped Information Technology Index. At year

end 2013 we ranked as one of the top five technology companies in Canada (as measured by market capitalization).

While we are proud of the momentum created by our strategies, we have much more work to do to realize on the full

potential of our now larger, more diversified and more capable business platforms. 

To us, the journey to FinTech value creation is only getting started.
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Our transformation to a FinTech market leader is evident

across our business, but is perhaps most pronounced in

the lending market. 

In 2013, our solutions for lending collectively supported

hundreds of billions of dollars of loans, making us an

integral player in the lending technology marketplace in

North America. 

Behind this growth is an expanded portfolio of solutions

employed by approximately 7,000 banks, specialty lenders,

community banks and credit unions in North America as

well as by Canada’s largest student lender. Our portfolio is

broad and crosses the Canada-U.S. border and contributes

revenue to both our Lending Processing Solutions and

Banking Technology Solutions platforms. 

As a further measure of our transformation, lending-

related solutions accounted for just over 50% of D+H’s

2013 Adjusted revenue in 2013, compared to just 18%

five years ago.

Despite this growth, we believe there are significant

opportunities to realize cross-selling synergies from newly

acquired lending solutions as part of our strategy to

LOCKED
IN ON
LENDING
Our transformation to lending
solutions leader takes form.

D+H | 2013 Annual Report 9



increase market share with existing U.S. customers and

penetrate banks and credit unions that have yet to take

advantage of our portfolio. 

What can we do for lenders to drive our growth and

answer their needs? Find out below.

Lending Compliance and Credit Risk Management

Regulations continue to re-shape the banking landscape,

especially in the United States, and the full implications still

lie ahead. The changing compliance landscape is a

concern to financial institutions – and opportunity for D+H.

Many functions of a financial institution are subject to

regulatory compliance rules which must be adhered to and

are often difficult, costly, and burdensome to a bank or

credit union. Our solutions help our customers to meet

their compliance obligations and run their lending

operations more efficiently and profitably with the

confidence that their loan documentation is compliant 

with the many rules and regulations related to lending. 

In 2013, we became the market leader in compliant 

loan documentation solutions in the U.S. with the

acquisition of HFS and in particular, with our D+H

LaserPro lending compliance solution. 

This dynamic lending compliance document solution is 

a pillar of our FinTech portfolio. Today, over 3,200 U.S.

banks and credit unions – from small to large, including

50 of America’s top 100 banks – rely on D+H LaserPro

to produce loan documentation that complies with state

and federal lending laws throughout the U.S. 

This means that nearly 25% of all U.S. financial institutions

use D+H LaserPro, making it America’s number one

choice for lending compliance across consumer, mortgage

and commercial loans. 

The need for financial institutions to comply with rules such

as The Dodd-Frank Act as well as numerous regulations

at the state level suggests a strong future for D+H

LaserPro. In addition, our plan is to leverage this solution

to open doors to the sale of our other market-leading

FinTech products.

D+H CreditPath™ is one product that can benefit from

LaserPro’s strong market presence. In Canada and the

U.S., D+H CreditPath provides credit lifecycle technology

solutions for retail, small business, commercial lending, and

equipment finance providers. Our adaptable platform

incorporates robust business intelligence tools that enable

fast, accurate and risk-managed credit decisions on a

variety of loan types:

• D+H CreditPath™ Retail automates decision-making

across a broad array of retail lending services, including

traditional and high-ratio mortgages, secured and

unsecured lines of credit, direct and indirect financing,

auto and marine loans, personal loans, multi-

credit/product accounts, and credit cards. 

• D+H CreditPath™ Small Business is designed for high-

volume, multi-party and multi-product small business

loans requiring automated decisions or recommendations,

sophisticated calculations, credit data access, and

application scoring for real-time business decisions.

In 2013, D+H CreditPath supported over US$160 billion

of loans and leases – up from $55 billion in 2008 – and

we are seeing growing demand for this FinTech solution

in the U.S. and Canada alike. 

Our competitive position in this FinTech application area

was recently reinforced in an independent survey

conducted by CEB Tower Group. It ranked D+H

CreditPath among the best-in-class for user experience

and enterprise support, and observed that in terms of

feature range, “CreditPath is one of the most robust

solutions featured in this technology analysis…” Reflecting

our focus on constant product refinements, more than half

of our CreditPath customers have installed or are in the

process of installing our newest software release.
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D+H CreditQuest is our powerful ‘sister’ solution for

smaller financial institutions and it contains several 

best practice modules that make it a strong contender 

in the marketplace.

Point of Sale Loan Origination 

In the mortgage and loan origination market, we are

leading players in both Canada and the U.S. and have 

been since 2011 when we acquired Mortgagebot, our first 

U.S. acquisition.

In the United States, D+H Mortgagebot technologies

enable consumers nationwide to shop for mortgage

products through point of sale (POS) channels including

consumer-direct via the Internet, in the branch or call

center, or through professional loan officers. Over the past

two years, we have increased the functionality of our

technology so that it can enable POS for non-mortgage

loans. This has helped us to broaden our reach and offset

lower mortgage refinancing activity. During 2013, we

supported over 831,000 loan applications in the U.S.,

valued at approximately $158 billion. 

Our flagship POS solution, known as D+H Mortgagebot

EnterprisePOS™, is valued by lenders as it automates the

pricing, approval and disclosure process in all of their

various delivery channels and is considered an essential

component in direct-to-consumer Internet lending.

As one example of the value of our technology, First

Internet Bank of Indianapolis, Indiana converted 71% of

the mortgage applications its borrowers started online 

into completed submissions using D+H’s Mortgagebot

Enterprise® platform. This completion rate earned the

$738 million-asset bank the title of Online Mortgage

Originator of the Year at the 2013 Mortgage Technology

Awards. The award recognizes a lender’s use of web-

based technologies to generate borrower leads and

convert them into closed loans. 

“Mortgagebot Enterprise plays an important role in our

service delivery and has been instrumental in our success,”

said Kevin B. Quinn, senior vice president at First Internet

Bank, which has used D+H Mortgagebot since 2008. 

“It provides the online lending functionality that we need

behind the scenes. When an application comes in, it feeds

right into our loan origination system, so that a loan officer

doesn’t need to rekey the information. Instead, they can

concentrate on the consultative process to help borrowers

choose the loan that is best for them.”

Mortgage Loan Origination Systems

We also provide Loan Origination Systems (LOS) for 

U.S. banks and credit unions through the D+H

Mortgagebot EnterpriseLOS™, one of the very few LOS

offerings in the marketplace that has a SaaS-enabled

architecture that allows for rapid and cost-effective

deployment. This subscription-based system supports

retail, wholesale and correspondent mortgage lending,

streamlines all origination processes, and helps our

customers increase loan production, reduce operating

costs and enhance service. 
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In 2013, almost $48 billion of loans were made using our

LOS. We acquired this FinTech suite as part of our Avista

Solutions acquisition in 2012 and since then, have

increased its customer base by 116%, improved the

number of customer LOS system activations we can do

each month by over 100% and achieved a 13% cross-sell

rate between our POS and LOS solutions.

Rounding out our U.S. mortgage and loan origination

platform is D+H E3 and D+H GreatDocswhich automate

the workflow and compliant document creation processes

of mortgage origination, and D+H DecisionPro which

automates consumer loan origination workflow and

compliance.

In Canada our D+H Expert web-based, market-making

electronic network is used by more than 26,000 mortgage

brokers and the in-house sales specialists employed at

Canada’s leading financial institutions to seamlessly

connect to over 50 mortgage lenders as well as credit

bureaus, appraisers and insurance companies during the

loan origination process. Our platform is considered a

complete end-to-end solution for the capture, submission

and management of mortgage applications. It became

even more complete in late 2013 with the launch of a

product extension that allows customers to capture

revenue from mortgage origination opportunities that they

redirect to other institutions.

D+H Expert is offered on a SaaS basis, meaning we host

the application and maintain it, and generate revenue from

the users of the application. 

Canadian mortgage originators and lenders also use D+H

Exchange® 2.0 which enables them to share electronic

documents, and improves collaboration on mortgage

transactions.

Mortgage Underwriting 

We don’t just help in loan originations. D+H Express® is a

mortgage underwriting platform that gives Canadian

lenders real-time access to credit risk values and portfolio

trends – information that is critical to managing and

responding to changes in their portfolio risk.

D+H Express offers built-in connectivity to a wide variety

of industry partners, including mortgage originators, title

insurers, mortgage insurers, appraisers, credit bureaus, and

document imaging services and its use is pervasive.

In 2013, ATB Financial, the largest Alberta-based financial

institution with more than 635,000 customers, became

the latest customer to select our full suite of mortgage

technology solutions. ATB uses D+H Expert to accept

mortgage applications through its broker, agency and

mobile channels, D+H Express for its mortgage

underwriting activities and D+H Exchange for secure and

flexible document management.

Rob Bennett, ATB Financial’s Executive Vice President of

retail financial services offered this analysis for choosing

us: “We reviewed what was available in the market and

came to the strong conclusion that D+H’s suite of

integrated mortgage technology solutions is the best

choice for ATB. D+H has designed their solutions with our

salespeople and customers in mind, enabling ATB to

provide our customers with the very best service and to

fulfill our ambition to become Albertans’ first choice for the

financial services and advice that matter most to them.”

Student Lending

D+H is the exclusive administrator and service provider

for the $21 billion Canada Student Loans program. Here

we work with our customers to originate, administer,

disburse and service loans to more than 1.7 million college

and university students. 
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Over the years, we have developed a sophisticated rules-

based system to adjudicate student requests. The system

was designed with an automated audit function to

enhance governance and control and is integrated into our

secure Internet platform, making it accessible by student

borrowers in both of Canada’s official languages. 

This program continues to grow as students seek to cover

rising tuition fees and we make it our job to help them

through responsive servicing and accurate, prompt

communications. When we first started to serve our

customer its loan portfolio was $15 billion. The portfolio

has now grown to $21 billion.

About 80% of our revenue from this program comes 

from servicing-fees with the remainder earned from

professional services for system and application

enhancements and for meeting certain performance

targets. 2013 continued our track record of enhancing

service as we attained a record 98% of possible

performance-based fees from our largest customer in 

this business. 

Collateral Management Solutions

D+H is Canada’s premier provider of technology and

services to manage loan searches, registrations,

discharges and amendments. In fact, we are the only

provider with permanent electronic links to all provincial

and federal government registries to facilitate PPSA,

corporate, land, and Bank Act security transactions for 

our customers.

In the registry area, our comprehensive software platforms

streamline and simplify the often challenging environment

of government registries, and provide lenders with a fully

automated solution for personal property Search and Lien

Registration Solutions, Know Your Customer compliance

searches, and secure security document management.

In addition, we drive efficiency and minimize risk for banks

and credit unions with integrated process and technology

solutions for “moveable” property recovery (i.e. cars, boats,

RVs etc.), insolvency management, unsecured collections

management, and real property recovery.

Each of our integrated process and technology solutions

is paired with an inventory and vendor management

platform that helps customers efficiently manage their

asset recovery efforts every step of the way. This allows

creditors to control both internal processes and external

suppliers, while simultaneously reducing operating 

costs, increasing recovery rates, satisfying compliance

requirements, reducing risks, and mitigating losses through

the loan recovery life cycle.

D+H also takes responsibility for processing mortgage

discharges on behalf of our customers, leveraging our

extensive experience in search and registration services,

along with our significant program management

capabilities.

In 2013, our Collateral Management Services assisted 

on more than 4.1 million registrations and some 22,000

recoveries as the leader in the Canadian market. To build

on our leadership position, we are working on new

functionalities that will reduce the time it takes to conduct

a search, improve customer convenience when they

conduct customized searches and support data capture,

analytics and auditing. We plan to start offering this next

generation technology to customers starting in 2014.

Today, we are leaders in several FinTech lending

applications in North America, and earn attractive,

recurring revenues as a result. But we believe we can 

do more. By locking in on lending solutions through our

strategies, we can deliver even more tightly integrated

offerings, advance our technologies in support of customer

growth and serve more banks and credit unions. 
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ENtErpriSiNG tEChNoLoGy

With our Enterprise solutions, customers can quickly, seamlessly and cost-effectively introduce:

• Internet Banking, Mobile Banking and Voice Banking using a single, unified system that allows for a common user

experience

• Remote deposit capture – the technology that allows accountholders (personal and business) to deposit a picture of

their cheques rather than the cheque itself

• Person-to-person payments using smartphones

• Automated on-line account opening and account transfers, relieving accountholders from visiting a branch to fill out

paperwork to verify their identities and fund their accounts

• C3 cloud-computing, a technology that virtualizes all bank software, enabling bank staff to connect in branch or remotely,

through device-neutral Internet browsers, to all the tools they need to serve customers – and alleviating the need to

install software across multiple personal computers

D+H created an important new portfolio within our Banking
Technology Solutions platform in 2013. Called Enterprise
Solutions, this area of our business provides technologies that
unleash new client service and revenue possibilities for bank and
credit unions – and cross-selling opportunities for D+H. 
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Of equal importance, our Enterprise Solutions include core banking technology (see below), which makes D+H even

more mission critical to our customers. 

Today, these and other D+H Enterprise Solutions are working across multiple financial institutions and in 2013 accounted

for over $86 million of our Adjusted revenue (or $205.3 million and 19% on a pro forma basis assuming HFS and

Compushare contributed for the full year). 

While some other FinTech companies provide individual products, we are able to provide a full suite of Enterprise 

Solutions – along with our lending technology products (see page 9). For customers, this eliminates the risk and cost 

of managing multiple FinTech vendors, and ensures a path toward a common user experience.

Here is a profile of these solutions, beginning with our channel offerings added through the acquisition of HFS.

Channel Solutions 

uOpen is our web-based, self-service and in-branch technology that allows automated account opening, account funding

and account transfers. This powerful suite uses special identification techniques to confirm the identity of the

accountholder. And if a consumer wishes to move funds from their old to their new financial institution, uOpen is able to

authenticate the consumer’s control over their old account through a unique automated deposit-withdrawal process that

conforms to Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) rules. With uOpen software, accountholders are also able to sign up for

debit cards, automated bill payments, and apply for credit right from their smartphone, PC or tablet, making this system

both a powerful client acquisition tool and a meaningful revenue-builder for banks and credit unions.

Cavion is our Internet banking, mobile banking and voice (including voice activated) banking technology. All three forms

of commerce are important to banks and credit unions as they address the preferences of existing accountholders, some

of whom prefer mobile to voice banking, or Internet to mobile banking. With our offering, consumers sign up just once,

receive one password and can avail themselves of whatever applications their banks wishes to offer across these

consumer channels.

ActiveView is used for automated item processing, document imaging, archival and retrieval, statement printing, and

merchant cheque deposit capture capabilities.

Our Card Payments solutions, delivered through a strategic alliance with Cincinnati, Ohio based Vantiv, offers advanced

payment processing capabilities. Whether customers are looking for self-directed or managed ATM solutions, our Card

Payments ATM can help them generate revenue and build their brands. We also provide: Card Payments Debit which

enables financial institutions to keep pace with the growing demand for PIN debit card processing programs; Card

Payments Credit which offers a wide variety of Visa® and MasterCard® products to meet all our customers’ needs; Card

Payments Merchant Services that helps banks acquire new commercial customers; Card Payments Prepaid, which offers

multiple, secure prepaid card options that enable financial institutions to increase non-interest revenue, attract new clients

and strengthen their competitive positions; and, Card Payments Rewards, a turnkey rewards program that is easy to

implement and customizable to the needs of our financial institution clients.
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Encore and EZTeller are our turnkey teller systems that support all contemporary

teller activities including cash dispensing/recycling, teller cheque deposit capture,

automated currency transaction reporting and more. The Encore solution is typically

deployed to larger financial institutions that require a relatively high degree of

customization. EZTeller is highly regarded for its turnkey implementation, ease of

use, reliability and depth of functionality.

Our Electronic Bill Presentment and Payment solution allows a financial institution

to offer its commercial clients a turnkey electronic bill/invoice presentment system

that features tight integration with the commercial customer’s billing and accounts

receivable system and supports electronic remittance of funds from the recipient of

the invoice, with automatic reconciliation of payments received. The system blends

deep functionality with a turnkey implementation ability that permits the financial

institutions to sell the service, quickly implement it for their commercial clients and

provide routine system support. 

Compushare 

Our Enterprise Solutions do not stop there. Through the acquisition of Compushare

in January 2013, D+H now offers powerful cloud-based solutions that virtualize

bank and credit union information technology infrastructures.

Compushare’s C3 offering, its latest release, is changing how technology is managed

and used in today’s financial institution. Before Compushare, banks and credit unions

outfitted their employees with personal computers loaded with different software

applications depending on the employee’s functional tasks. These PCs were then

connected to a core banking technology system that in turn was supported by large

and ever-expanding server farms. 

With Compushare, banks and credit unions can avoid the expense and complexity

of loading software applications onto individual PCs because C3 hosts all of the

software in the cloud, making it possible for bank staff to connect to the applications

they need through a web browser. If a loan officer wishes to visit a client at their

home or place of business, C3 makes it possible for them to access bank records

safely and securely through any computing device – PC, tablet, or smartphone. If a

PC fails, a teller can move seamlessly from it to another PC without losing data –

which has tremendous implications for business continuity.

The capacity of our cloud also means customers do not have to continuously build

and maintain costly physical data centres as they grow. Our cloud also delivers better

William W. Neville leads the

growth and development of our

U.S. business as the President of

D+H USA. Bill brings more than

25 years of banking and FinTech

experience to this important role

and served as a member of our

Board of Directors from 2009

until 2012. “The acquisitions of

HFS and Compushare

significantly improved our

competitive standing as a leader

in the U.S. FinTech market, the

world’s largest. To maximize the

revenue-growth synergies which

drove us to make these

acquisitions, we have made it a

top priority to achieve full

business integration. We are well

along on the path to combining

our marketing, sales, sales

planning and administrative

functions in the U.S., and in

January 2014 we introduced our

unified D+H brand to the U.S.

market. We’ve also identified a

roadmap for our technology

integrations. One of our strengths

as a business is the ability to

integrate technologies so we

believe we can deliver on our

roadmap while continuing to

develop Lending Solutions and

Enterprise Solutions products that

qualify as best of breed.” 



Now trending Several trends are reshaping financial
services. Three that we expect will drive continued customer
investment in FinTech solutions and create new opportunities
for D+H include: 

1) Consumerization. Technology has changed
consumer expectations. Consumers have come
to expect their favourite bank or credit union to
offer mobile and online solutions similar to what
they experience when they use Android or Apple
or other apps in retailing and other sectors. This
trend is often referred to as consumerization and
in a financial services context has the power to
reshape how banks and credit unions operate, secure new client accounts, and drive revenue
beyond traditional sources of loan interest. 

2) big data. Historically a customer might visit a bank branch a couple of times a month.
Today, with mobile banking rapidly gaining traction, customers are interacting with their bank
over 27 times a month – and often across multiple channels. Banks and credit unions are
looking for ways to analyze this massive increase in customer touch points to better
understand their customers and better assess how to create differentiated experiences.

3) Cloud Computing. Financial institutions are increasingly turning to what’s known as cloud-
computing to better serve customers. Some banks and credit unions are seeking to untether
their branch staff and allow them to roam branches, rather than be tied to a desk-bound PC
in order to create a more personalized client experience. Cloud computing enables this
capability. Others are looking to enhance their security and resiliency and reduce capital
expenditures in expensive data centres. Cloud computing supports these goals too. 

Understanding these and other forces shaping our market and our opportunities within it 
will allow D+H to acquire and build targeted solutions that banks and credit unions can rely
on tomorrow.
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data protection. Bank staff sees only the data they are authorized to see, and data and software are sheltered from

outside intrusion with advanced firewall and intrusion detection and prevention systems. Our RiskDirector solution also

helps customers to cost-effectively meet U.S. Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) guidelines for

information security risk assessments. This tool centralizes and documents risk management activities including vendor

contracts, information security reports, and business continuity test results.

By virtualizing their systems with us, banks, credit unions, investment houses, brokerages and private equity firms can

focus on financial services, not IT. 

CUNA’s Trusted Cloud Provider

Reflecting our ability to address credit unions’ needs to differentiate themselves, protect client data, increase efficiency,

and meet regulatory requirements, Compushare enjoys Trusted Service Provider status with the Credit Union National

Association (CUNA). 

“Adoption of cloud computing will grow as credit unions look for ways to be competitive and see the benefits of its cost

and operational efficiencies,” said Wes Millar, Senior Vice President of CUNA CSS. “CSS chose Compushare as a strategic

alliance provider for its cloud-based application platform, C3, which was built specifically for financial services

organizations.”

In late 2013, Gulf Coast Community Federal Credit Union of Gulfport, Mississippi became one of our new Compushare

customers. In choosing us, Gulf Coast President and CEO Lisa Graham said: “Knowing that Compushare is a CUNA

Strategic Services Trusted Service Provider helped give us the confidence that we were working with a best-of-breed

company specifically focused on the credit union industry.” 

Core Banking Technology 

Core banking technology is the backbone of our Enterprise Solutions because it is the software at the center of a bank

or credit union’s IT system and is the single most important component of their technology system. The core hosts

accountholder and lender information, facilitates general ledger accounting in branch and over the Internet, enables

payment processing, records transactions, calculates interest and account balances, and integrates all other banking

applications. The term core is apt as our technology keeps financial institutions operating 24 hours a day, seven days a

week, gives them real-time access and control over all of their branch data and assets, and accommodates the integration

of multiple delivery channels such as mobile devices, the Internet and automated teller machines (ATMs).

We gained access to the core market through HFS. In assessing HFS, we noted that its core products serve approximately

700 banks and credit unions. By acquiring the company, D+H immediately became one of the top four core banking

technology providers in the United States – an attractive position especially since the D+H PhoenixEFE core is one of

just a few contemporary core banking solutions available in the U.S. marketplace.
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Due to its fundamental nature, core technology is complex to develop and deploy. For the same reason, cores are not

something that banks and credit unions replace frequently. Once a core provider is chosen by a bank, it is normal for the

supplied technology, with upgrades, to be employed for eight to 10 years or more. This makes selling core banking

technology valuable on a long-term basis. 

Core technologies do, however, become outdated and eventually obsolete and in need of replacement. Between 2008

and 2012, Aite Group estimated that there were, on average, 387 new core banking technology agreements signed

each year in the U.S. This is somewhat lower than the annual average prior to the financial crisis and suggests that the

core replacement cycle was extended as financial institutions retrenched to deal with the recession and the onslaught

of new banking regulations. Now that some 35% of core systems in the U.S. community bank sector are 16+ years old,

the replacement market may see increased activity since legacy systems constrain banks and credit unions from efficiently

adding new services and automating their operational capabilities to serve their customers better, and are generally less

functional and more costly to maintain. 

20 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 

Country Bank’s Core and More

Replacement of core technology can also stimulate sales of our other FinTech solutions. Consider

our recent experience with Country Bank. Headquartered in Ware, Massachusetts, Country Bank

is a state-chartered, mutual savings bank with more than $1 billion in assets and 14 locations. 

On November 1, 2013, Country Bank chose to replace its core technology by licensing 

D+H PhoenixEFE, and also opted to include eight additional Enterprise Solutions as part of its

purchase, including D+H Touché Analyzer, a business intelligence tool that provides market data

for product creation and targeted marketing, Cavion, ActiveView, FMS financial accounting, uOpen

and Card solutions. 

Country Bank cited strong technology integration, cost-savings, and ease-of-use among the

reasons for its broader investment with us.

This recent win is illustrative of the value of bringing the core and more to our customers through

our Enterprise Solutions portfolio. In this example, Country Bank invested 2.5 times more with us

by licensing ancillary products than they would have had we only offered them core technology.



ENtErpriSiNG tEChNoLoGy

An Encore with Navy Federal Credit Union

Core technology licensing is not a prerequisite to doing business with D+H. Consider the example of Navy Federal Credit

Union, which serves 4.6 million members of the U.S. Armed Forces, and Coast Guard and was named “Best Financial

Institution for the Military” in MONEY magazine’s “Best Banks 2013” issue. Navy Federal recently purchased D+H Encore

as a best of breed channel solution. 

Insight Credit Union Takes the Core and More

In building our Enterprise Solutions platform, our strategy is to link related technologies and offer them across our existing

customer base in a coordinated cross sell and in the broader market to new customers.

An early example of success with our strategy is at Insight Credit Union, a long-time user of our UltraData core technology,

which recently purchased our Compushare offering. Insight delivers a full range of financial services to its 55,000

members in central Florida through 14 branches and a large network of ATMs.

“We of course were familiar with cloud computing but learned more about its applicability to credit unions during the

‘Introduction to Compushare’ webinar,” said Cindy Morgan, Executive Vice President and CFO of Insight Credit Union.

“We were in the midst of reviewing our strategic technology direction for the future, and the webinar came at just the

right time. We are looking forward to working with Compushare to migrate our systems to the C3 cloud platform while

implementing new business applications, improving the health and stability of our systems, and enhancing our security

and compliance as well as remote access for our associates.”

As these recent customer wins show, banks and credit unions are ready to unleash new possibilities presented by our

Enterprise Solutions.
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This need was driven by the inevitable growth of electronic

forms of payment which impact the use of cheques, the

original core product of our Payments Solutions’ segment.

While our strategies to increase average order value within

our cheque offerings to 20 million personal and two million

small business accountholders have served us well as an

effective offset, we were determined to develop a

complementary business.

Through discussions with Canada’s banks and credit card

companies, we recognized an opportunity in Payments

Solutions to do something new. That something was aptly

named Enhancement Services.

Today, Enhancement Services is a multi-tenant, multi-

channel, multilingual SaaS business that aligns with our

FinTech focus. It leverages the software, program

development and marketing skills resident in Payments

Solutions to deliver innovative products, on a subscription

fee basis, directly to credit card, deposit and chequing

accountholders on behalf of our customers.

Following the first introduction of our current version of

Enhancement Services to one of Canada’s largest banks

in 2011, D+H has won key customer mandates in each

year since and developed a subscriber base that continues

to expand. 

Subscribers to our Enhancement Services pay a monthly

fee and receive a password to special sections of our

customers’ websites that we created, host, maintain and

support. These sites offer a number of D+H solutions that

subscribers use regularly. 

MyIdentityAssist is one of our flagship Enhancement

Services. It combines the latest innovations in online

personal data monitoring, online credit monitoring, real-

time alerts and mobile technology to help subscribers take

action to prevent fraud, minimize disruption and avoid

financial loss. 
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ENhANCiNG our
ENhANCEMENtS
SaaS Moves Us From Products To Platform

In 2005, we decided that the Payments Solutions area of our
business needed to be enhanced for the future. 



SAAS
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With MyIdentityAssist, subscribers can choose to receive:

• Immediate notification by email or text message if

suspicious usage of their registered credit or debit cards

is detected or if changes are made to their credit profiles

• An online registry service that makes items such as

passports, account access passwords, driver’s licences

accessible anywhere, anytime

• D+H SecureVault, a personal 500 megabyte cloud

storage system that puts important documents out of the

reach of hackers, thieves and fraudsters 

• An Internet information report showing how their

personal information is being used in social networking

sites 

• A mobile phone number registration service that notifies

mobile carriers when a device is lost or stolen

• Out of country travel notification that electronically

connects to credit and debit card providers so that full

continuity of services is maintained during the duration

of the foreign visit

CreditDefend is another popular Enhancement Services

SaaS. It includes:

• My Credit Report, which provides subscribers with real-

time access to their credit reports

• My Credit Score, which subscribers use to view their

credit scores and find tips to improve those scores

• My Alerts, a notification system that tells subscribers

when there have been credit application inquiries on their

files

• My Mobile App, which delivers personal credit reports and

scores directly to subscribers’ mobile devices
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SAAS

BizDefend is the SaaS version of these personal products

for our business subscribers. 

Through our existing customer agreements, D+H

Enhancement Services now has access to 7.5 million

active credit card customers and the personal and

business deposit and chequing accountholders we serve

through our Payments Solutions business. This means our

currently available market offers room for growth. But now

that we have built a robust technology engine to support

these applications, and we see the potential to further

enhance our enhancements. 

Next Phase

In 2014, we will begin the next phase of development,

which will focus on Enhancement Services as a true

technology platform where D+H’s proprietary software-

driven products sit alongside those of other application

providers in a more open-source environment. 

This transformation will allow us to deliver more value to

participating banks and credit unions and our subscribers

because it will substantially increase the number of “apps”

that are made available. In this next phase of Enhancement

Services, D+H will selectively develop its own proprietary

software-driven products, but will also review, assess,

qualify and partner with other application providers who

have expertise in specialized areas. 

We have already demonstrated the value of this approach

through our CreditDefend service which leverages the

capabilities of our partners at Equifax, a global leader in

credit information solutions. 

To prepare for this next phase, we are making several

enhancements to our platform including adding better

analytics and business intelligence tools, and new

administration and content management system features

that make our scalable platform quick to customize and

easy for customers to brand as their own. 

While originally developed for Canadian banks and credit

unions, our platform technology is configurable for

America’s banks and credit unions. Regardless of

geographic location, we believe financial institutions

everywhere can benefit as they seek new ways to grow

fee revenue, and serve their clients in a differentiated –

and enhanced – way. 
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Today, Enhancement Services is a 
multi-tenant, multi-channel, multilingual
SaaS business that aligns with our
FinTech focus. It leverages the software,
program development and marketing
skills resident in Payments Solutions 
to deliver innovative products, on a
subscription fee basis, directly to credit
card, deposit and chequing
accountholders on behalf of our
customers.



A strong brand is an enabler of growth. It builds the affinity that leads customers to buy, shareholders to invest and

employees to engage. It is the sum total of every experience that stakeholders have with a business and it drives how

that company does what it does.

At D+H, we understand the importance of the brand to our growth strategy, to our share of mind and share of market

and the need to continually reinforce it in everything we do. We also recognize that as a result of our growth through

acquisitions strategy, many customers know us primarily for our product brands. We want to advance this towards a larger

promise of the experience they will enjoy when they choose D+H.

We believe there is significant value and competitive advantage to be gained by articulating what the D+H brand stands

for across our now broader North American marketplace and delivering that experience consistently.

In 2014, we will begin the journey of introducing our brand in the U.S, where D+H is not yet well understood. Equally

important, we will continue to pivot the brand equity we’ve built up over more than 130 years in Canada so that D+H is

recognized not just as a FinTech company, but one with a distinct personality that brings together the best attributes of

our growing business.

Our brand promise is both aspirational and true to our value system today. It embodies our deeply-held belief in the need

to understand our customers, think ahead to solve the challenges of tomorrow, provide innovations that are relevant and

act in a way that earns us trusted partner status with every stakeholder.

These attributes are the DNA of our brand. They shape all that we do including our staffing decisions. Today, the D+H

leadership team includes executives with both banking and technology experience. Having served in senior capacities

within the banking industry means we can hear the voice of the customer more clearly as we contemplate new

opportunities, and develop new technology-based solutions that help solve real problems and capture real opportunities. 

Responsibility for delivering the brand rests with all of our 4,000 employees in every role and every location. Many of our

people joined us through acquisitions and we have been enriched by their experiences. Now our employees have the

MAKING
MARK
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Delivering our brand means delivering growth.
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responsibility to communicate the D+H brand promise through their actions, today

and over the long term. We are supporting them with a master brand strategy based

on customer experience and brand positioning research, as well as a corporate

marketing plan that encompasses “one brand, one voice” communications activities

directed by a marketing centre of excellence. 

A strong and united D+H brand will in turn support the cross sales of our extensive

product lines, helping us to show customers the extent of our solutions, anchored

in the same experience promise. 

Studies have shown that in a business to business environment, up to two thirds 

of a customer’s buying decision is made before an actual conversation takes place

with the potential sales organization of a supplier. By making our brand recognized,

valued and understood in the marketplace, we increase the awareness,

consideration and ultimately the potential that D+H will be part of every buying

decision. Customers will return time and again because of the experience they know

and trust from D+H. A strong brand can do that; our brand at D+H can do that and

that’s where we are going.

Carrie russell joined D+H

in early 2013 as Chief Marketing

Officer reporting to the CEO, 

after more than 22 years in retail

and commercial banking. 

She is responsible for marketing,

communications, and new

product commercialization

throughout North America. 

Most recently, Carrie served as 

a Senior Vice President at one of

Canada’s largest banks where

she led product areas that

included chequing, deposits and

payment products. “By bringing

the D+H brand promise to the

FinTech marketplace, we believe

we can become the trusted

partner of choice for banks and

credit unions who can rely on us

for insight, meaningful innovations

and dependable solutions. In my

experience, a powerful brand,

anchored in a consistent and

differentiated customer

experience, propels market share

gains, effective cross selling, 

and the seamless launch of new

financial technologies. We aim 

for nothing less from the D+H

master brand as it supports our

growth and value creation

agenda.”

Developing the Future of FinTech 

D+H employs product managers and product developers to

ensure that our current offerings are best of breed. But to live

up to our brand promise of “thinking ahead to solve the

challenges of tomorrow”, we operate a dedicated R&D lab

in Denver, Colorado staffed by a deeply talented group of

software specialists. Working collaboratively with third-party

leaders in hardware and software, this team experiments with

advanced technologies, engages in feasibility testing and

builds prototypes – all without the burden of managing daily

software releases. Their activities help us to better understand

the implications of technology down the road and position us

to remain leaders in the FinTech world.



D+H has transformed itself into an emerging North American
FinTech leader through strategic acquisitions, including the August
2013 purchase of Harland Financial Solutions (HFS) and organic
initiatives. With broader, more diversified capabilities, the company
now has new growth opportunities, and, as Gerrard Schmid, Chief
Executive Officer says in this year-end interview, a dedicated plan
to realize on them.
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What are D+H’s best opportunities for growth?

There are two. The first is to deliver more value to existing customers. We serve approximately 7,000 customers, which

is a large number, but in reality, not all our customers are aware of all of our newly added capabilities and products. Now

that we have a broader value proposition, incorporating all of the capabilities of both D+H and HFS, we have a significant

opportunity to grow our share of wallet with banks and credit union customers who may currently buy just one or two of

our solutions rather than a broader selection from our range of product offerings. The second area for growth is to expand

our customer base. In North America alone, there are approximately 7,000 financial institutions that do not do business

with D+H today. Convincing them to make a first investment with us, again by showcasing our broad capabilities, will

open the doors to future business. 

What will it take to be the company that banks and credit unions buy from in the future?

Fundamentally, it will require us to be meaningful creators of customer value. We know that there is a broad business

need for FinTech, which is why banks and credit unions spend billions to acquire financial technologies annually in North

America, with variations depending on the performance of the economy in general and the banking sector specifically.
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But we will only be chosen to meet this need if we deliver solutions that banks and credit unions value above the offerings

of our competitors. That’s why the driving principle of our long-term growth plan is to offer market-leading FinTech solutions

that are proven to help customers grow, improve service to their clients and reduce risk and costs. By being customer

relevant at all times, we earn the right to grow and we sustain our customer relationships. I would say D+H has done a

good job of this, which is why we enjoyed many customer wins in 2013 and strong recurring revenues. The acquisitions

of HFS and Compushare added to our market-leadership positions and our customer relevancy for the future. Now our

plan is to leverage the sum total of our newest capabilities to deliver our growth and value creation objectives as a fully

integrated FinTech company that is focused on developing innovative solutions.

Your plan sounds like it is predicated on integration. 

That’s correct, since we acquired HFS midway through the third quarter of 2013, we have devoted considerable time

and resources to developing tight linkages between our operating teams and increasingly on tighter technology linkages

across our products. As a result, we will come to market in 2014 with an integrated suite of financial technologies and

services, integrated marketing and sales plans and an integrated sales force operating under a unified D+H brand. By

presenting all of our capabilities in a coordinated fashion we should be able to more fully realize growth through cross

selling to existing customers while also penetrating new bank and credit union accounts – and of course, delivering the

accretion that we envisioned when we acquired HFS.

Much attention has been focused on what the acquisition of HFS meant for your growth prospects

in the U.S. Is your plan solely focused on the United States?

Not at all, we see opportunity ahead in both countries. Of course, the U.S. is the larger of the two markets and because

it accounted for 39% of our pro forma annual sales in 2013 – assuming HFS and Compushare contributed for the full

year – we would expect a higher rate of growth there. But Canada is an excellent market for us, and we continue to

focus on delivering more value to Canadian banks and credit unions, in part through innovations, such as our Enhancement

Services (see page 22), such that we can continue to grow our Canadian revenues and our leadership position. 

What about your capital plan in support of growth?

In 2014, we will reinvest approximately $50 to $55 million, approximately two thirds of that amount used to drive

technology innovation and organic growth. Major areas of investment include support for a next generation collateral

management platform, our SaaS-based enhancement solutions platform, our core processing capability, our online and

mobile capability and integration between our lending products. 
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A CoNVErSAtioN With our CEo

What about growth by acquisition?

Our strategy in that regard continues, and we certainly have the financial and management capacity to make selective

acquisitions. However, our immediate focus in 2014 will be on reducing the leverage used to acquire HFS. Our plan is

to reduce debt to EBITDA to below 2.5 times in 2015 while funding our quarterly dividend, our capital investments, and

corporate tax payments. 

What are the challenges to your plan?

D+H now derives just over 50% of pro forma Adjusted revenue from lending-related FinTech services so the drivers of

lending activity – including employment, personal debt levels, interest rates and consumer confidence – are all factors

that affect our customers and in turn our outlook. It would appear that we may see a divergence in lending activity in

2014 between Canada, where consumers are highly leveraged, and the U.S. where household balance sheets have

improved significantly since 2008. Since D+H now serves both Canadian and U.S. financial institutions, we see this as

both a risk and an opportunity going forward. We also face strong competitors in the U.S. and the challenge in winning

and retaining customers remains fierce. There has also been ongoing consolidation in the U.S. banking industry. But our

market-leading solutions and ability to deliver customer value should provide us with effective competitive offsets.

Any final comments?

D+H advanced its ranking among the world’s top FinTech companies in 2013 while also meeting its financial objectives

including achieving immediate accretion at an Adjusted net income per share level through the transformational acquisition

of HFS. Credit for this goes to our team of 4,000 employees and especially our senior leaders who worked tirelessly in

pursuing our ambitious growth and improvement agenda on behalf of our shareholders and customers. We again added

talent to our leadership ranks during the year through recruitment and integration of HFS’s and Compushare’s teams

and have increased the number of women in leadership positions at D+H to 31% in 2013 from 22% in 2009. As a

result, we have gained important new perspectives and best practices. Furthermore, one of our strengths is that our

leadership ranks include executives who spent years in banking before joining D+H. On average, each of our top

executives has 14 years of banking experience behind them. This is a vital advantage because it helps us to anticipate

customer needs and channel our innovation activities to areas that matter. I am proud to serve alongside a team that is

deeply engaged with our customers and our competitive marketplace and passionate about delivering results. Together,

I believe we can realize on our potential in 2014 and beyond.
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Financial Highlights  D+H achieved transformational growth 
in 2013, as it integrated the capabilities, customer accounts 
and results of U.S.-based Harland Financial Solutions from 
August 16, 2013.
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MANAGEMENt’S diSCuSSioN ANd ANALySiS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of financial condition and results of operations of Davis + Henderson

Corporation (the “Corporation” or the “Company” or “D+H” or the “Business”) has been prepared with an effective date of

February 25, 2014 and should be read in conjunction with D+H’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended

December 31, 2013. This MD&A comments on D+H’s operations, performance and financial condition for the years ended

December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Caution Concerning forward-Looking Statements

This MD&A contains certain statements that constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable securities

laws (“forward-looking statements”). Statements concerning D+H’s objectives, goals, strategies, intentions, plans, beliefs,

expectations and estimates, and the business, operations, financial performance and condition of D+H are forward-looking

statements. The words “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “intend”, “may”, “will”, “would” and similar expressions and the

negative of such expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements

contain these identifying words. 

D+H has also made certain macroeconomic and general industry assumptions in the preparation of such forward-looking

statements. While D+H considers these factors and assumptions to be reasonable based on information currently available,

there can be no assurance that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause D+H’s actual

results, performance or achievements, or developments in its industry, to differ materially from the anticipated results, performance,

achievements or developments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 

Risks related to forward-looking statements include, among other things, challenges presented by declines in the use of personal

and business cheques; the Company’s dependence on a limited number of large financial institution customers in Canada and

dependence on their acceptance of new programs; strategic initiatives being undertaken to meet the Company’s financial

objective; stability and growth in the real estate, mortgage and lending markets; increased pricing pressures and increased

competition which could lead to loss of contracts or reduced margins; changes in the U.S. banking and financial services industry

and demand for HFS’s products and services; as well as general market conditions, including economic and interest rate

dynamics. Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

The documents incorporated by reference herein also identify additional factors that could affect the operating results and

performance of the Company. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s current plans, estimates, projections,

beliefs and opinions, and D+H does not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements should assumptions

related to these plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions change except as required by applicable securities laws. 

All of the forward-looking statements made in this MD&A are qualified by these cautionary statements and other cautionary

statements or factors contained herein, and there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments will be realized

or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on, the Company.
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Non-ifrS financial Measures

The information presented within this MD&A include certain adjusted financial measures such as “Adjusted revenues”, “EBITDA”,

“EBITDA Margin” (EBITDA divided by revenue), “Adjusted EBITDA”, “Adjusted EBITDA Margin” (Adjusted EBITDA divided by

Adjusted revenues), “Adjusted net income”, and “Adjusted net income per share”, all of which are not defined terms under

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

These non-IFRS financial measures should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Statements of Income. See the

reconciliations of “Adjusted Revenues”, “EBITDA”, “Adjusted EBITDA” and “Adjusted net income” to the most directly comparable

IFRS measures, “revenues” and “net income”, in the “Operating Results” section of this MD&A.

Management believes these supplementary financial measures provide useful additional information related to the operating

results of the Corporation. Management uses these measures to assess financial performance and as a supplement to the

Consolidated Statements of Income. Investors are cautioned that these measures should not be construed as an alternative to

using net income as a measure of profitability or as an alternative to the IFRS Consolidated Statements of Income or other

IFRS statements. 

Further, these measures do not have any standardized meaning and D+H’s method of calculating each measure may not be

comparable to calculations used by other companies bearing the same description. 

Adjusted Revenues 

Effective from the third quarter of 2013, the Company uses Adjusted revenues as a measure in determining Adjusted EBITDA

and as a measure of performance due to the impact of applying acquisition accounting on the acquisition of HFS. 

Upon acquisition, the acquired deferred revenue balances were adjusted to reflect the fair value based on estimated costs of

future delivery of the related services. These fair value adjustments to deferred revenues, recorded as of the acquisition date in

accordance with the business combination accounting standard, will reduce revenues recognized post-acquisition under IFRS.

Adjusted revenues exclude these acquisition accounting effects. 

Management expects to use Adjusted revenues as a measure to the extent that the amortization impacts of the fair value

adjustment to the acquired deferred revenues at the time of the HFS acquisition are significant to the Consolidated Statements

of Income.

Management believes that this non-IFRS measure provides investors with useful information regarding the underlying

performance of the business operations and facilitates meaningful comparisons of pre-acquisition operations to post-acquisition

revenues. Without considering these non-IFRS adjustments, acquisition accounting adjustments made in accordance with IFRS

may make it difficult to make meaningful comparisons of the underlying operations of the business between periods.

EBITDA

EBITDA is defined as income from continuing operations excluding interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, other non-

cash finance charges and fair value adjustments of interest-rate swaps which are directly related to interest expense, income

from investment in an associate and gain on re-measurement of previously held equity interest in the Compushare investment.

EBITDA is also described as income from operating activities before depreciation and amortization in the Consolidated

Statements of Income.
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In addition to its use by management as an internal measure of financial performance, EBITDA (with certain adjustments) is

used to measure compliance with certain financial covenants under the Company’s Credit Facility (as defined in the “Contractual

Obligations” section) and bonds. EBITDA is also used by D+H as a factor in assessing the performance and the value of a

business. EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and the reader should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for

analysis of results as reported under IFRS. 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Adjusted EBITDA is also used by D+H in assessing the performance of its businesses. 

Adjusted EBITDA excludes: (i) acquisition-related expenses such as transaction costs, business integration costs and certain

retention and incentive costs incurred in connection with acquisitions; (ii) other charges such as corporate development costs

related to strategic acquisition initiatives; and (iii) costs incurred in connection with cost-realignment initiatives, all of which are

not considered to be part of the normal course of operations. Beginning in the third quarter of 2013, the Company’s calculation

of Adjusted EBITDA also excluded effects of acquisition accounting on the fair value of deferred revenues and deferred costs

acquired from the acquisition of HFS.

These items are excluded in calculating Adjusted EBITDA as they are not considered indicative of the underlying business

performance for the period being reviewed and management believes that excluding these adjustments is more reflective of

ongoing operating results.

As described above, upon acquisition of HFS, the acquired deferred revenue balances were adjusted to reflect the fair value

based on estimated costs of future delivery of the related services. Similarly, deferred costs, which include sales commissions

and implementation costs, were adjusted to reflect their fair values of these items at the acquisition date. These fair value

adjustments to deferred revenue and deferred costs recorded as of the acquisition date will reduce revenues and expenses

recognized post-acquisition under IFRS primarily over the next two years, after which the impact to the consolidated results

would not be significant. Adjusted EBITDA excludes these effects from the results in the periods reported.

Similar to EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA also has limitations as an analytical tool, and the reader should not consider it in isolation

or as a substitute for analysis of results as reported under IFRS.

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted net income per share, basic

Adjusted net income is used as a measure of internal performance similar to net income, but is calculated by adjusting for the

impacts of certain non-cash items and certain items of note on an after-tax basis. These adjustments include the after-tax impacts

of: the effects of acquisition accounting on fair value of deferred revenue and deferred costs acquired from the acquisition of

HFS; acquisition-related and other charges; expenses associated with cost-realignment initiatives, all of which are not considered

to be part of normal course of operations; discontinued operations; and, certain non-cash items such as amortization of intangible

assets from acquisitions, gain on re-measurement of the previously held equity interest in Compushare, non-cash finance charges

such as deferred financing fees associated with the Previous Credit Facility (as defined in the “Contractual Obligations” section)

written off upon the refinancing in connection with the acquisition of HFS, amortization of other deferred financing charges,

accretion of the Debentures (as defined in the “Contractual Obligations” section), fair value adjustments of interest-rate swaps

and tax effects of acquisitions. These items are excluded in calculating Adjusted net income as they are not considered indicative

of the financial performance of the Company for the periods being reviewed.

Basic Adjusted net income per share is calculated by dividing Adjusted net income for the period by the weighted average

number of shares outstanding during the period.
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Additional ifrS Measures

Income from Operating Activities

D+H provides as part of its Consolidated Statements of Income an additional IFRS measure for “Income from Operating

Activities”. Management believes that this measure provides relevant information to understand the Corporation’s financial

performance. This additional IFRS measure is representative of activities that would normally be regarded as “operating” for 

the Company.

Accounting principles and financial information presentation

The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

Results from continuing operations include the performance of acquired businesses from the respective dates of acquisition

and exclude results from operations classified as discontinued operations.

Effective January 1, 2013, D+H reports its revenues under the following categories: (i) payments solutions; (ii) lending processing

solutions (previously reported as loan servicing solutions and loan registration and recovery services) and; (iii) banking technology

solutions (previously reported as lending technology services). Beginning in the third quarter of 2013, the Company further

segregates its U.S. banking technology solutions category into: a) enterprise; and b) lending offerings. For segment reporting

purposes, revenues in respect of payments solutions, lending processing solutions and banking technology solutions (including

technology solutions to the Canadian mortgage market and the commercial lending, small business lending and leasing markets)

are reported as part of the Canadian Segment. The U.S. Segment includes revenues from banking technology solutions to the

U.S. market and effective August 16, 2013, revenues relating to HFS. 

Comparative periods have been conformed to the current period classification, where applicable.

All amounts are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise specified. 

the business

Founded in 1875, D+H is a leading provider of secure and reliable technology solutions to financial institutions. Banks and

credit unions rely on D+H to deliver solutions across three broad service areas: banking technology solutions, lending processing

solutions, and payments solutions. 

With the acquisition of Mortgagebot in 2011 and Avista in 2012, D+H became a market-leading provider of software-as-a-

service (“SaaS”) solutions in the United States and delivers a wide range of consumer direct, loan officer and branch and call

centre mortgage origination and loan origination solutions for banks and credit unions. The acquisition of Compushare Inc.

(“Compushare”) in January 2013 enabled us to offer cloud-based infrastructure technology and further enhance our service

offerings to our U.S. customers. The acquisition of HFS in August 2013, and its complementary product suite, further enhances

D+H’s position as a FinTech provider and expands our capabilities as a leader in lending and compliance solutions, core banking

technology and channel solutions, creating significant cross-selling and revenue synergies, improving diversification and providing

further support for our growth strategies. D+H also offers broader technology solutions in the commercial lending, small business

lending and leasing area, as well as servicing solutions within the credit card market and in a number of specialty areas.

Following the acquisitions of HFS and Compushare in 2013, D+H now serves approximately 7,000 banks, specialty lenders

community banks and credit unions.
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Acquisitions

harland financial Solutions

On August 16, 2013, D+H completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of Harland Financial Solutions, Inc.,

Harland Financial Solutions Worldwide Limited and Harland Israel Ltd. (collectively referred to as “HFS”), for a purchase price

of approximately US$1.2 billion in cash, subject to post-closing adjustments. HFS is a leading U.S. based provider of strategic

financial technology, including lending and compliance, core banking, and channel management technology solutions to U.S.

banks, credit unions, and mortgage companies. HFS operates from offices throughout the U.S., as well as Dublin, Ireland,

Trivandrum, India and Tel Aviv, Israel. For further information, refer to note 4(a) of the audited consolidated financial statements

of the Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Revenues from HFS are included in the Banking Technology Solutions service area in the U.S. Segment.

Compushare

On January 29, 2013, D+H purchased all remaining shares of Santa Ana, California-based Compushare Inc. (“Compushare”),

a technology management and cloud computing provider to financial institutions. Building on its initial minority investment in

Compushare acquired on April 24, 2012, this transaction gives D+H one hundred percent ownership of Compushare. For

further information, refer to note 4(b) of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for the year ended

December 31, 2013. 

Revenues from Compushare are included as part of the enterprise category within the Banking Technology Solutions service

area in the U.S. Segment.

divestiture

On May 10, 2013, D+H divested its non-strategic business processing operations, comprised of credit card services, 

contact centre services, benefits and administration, coupon and rebate services and real estate services. These operations

largely served customers comprised of retailers, real estate boards and packaged goods companies and provided services 

that are not considered to be part of D+H’s long-term strategic goal of providing technology solutions to the financial 

services marketplace. 

The results of operations of these components were included as part of business service solutions and loan servicing solutions

in the Canadian Segment in prior periods. These components and the related transition services have now been classified as

discontinued operations for all periods presented. Refer to note 26 of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year

ended December 31, 2013 for further information related to the impact of these discontinued operations on the financial

statements of the Corporation.
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Strategy

D+H’s goal is to be a leading financial technology (“FinTech”) provider to the financial services marketplace by delivering

differentiated services that underpin comprehensive and robust product offerings. FinTech companies develop and deliver

technology and technology-enabled products and services to banks, credit unions and other leading financial services customers

who use these solutions to drive growth, improve customer convenience, streamline operations and efficiencies, reduce

infrastructure costs and enhance compliance requirements.

D+H’s strategy is to establish market-leading positions within well-defined and growing service areas in the financial services

marketplace, and to reinforce these positions with integrated technology solutions that deliver increasing value to our customers

and shareholders. We expect to advance this strategy through organic initiatives and selective acquisitions. By growing revenue

while maintaining efficient operations, D+H intends to achieve its long-term financial objective of growing earnings.

On August 16, 2013, D+H significantly advanced its FinTech goal and strategy by acquiring HFS. HFS added: over 5,000

U.S. bank and credit union customers to bring our combined customer count to approximately 7,000 (not counting shared

customer relationships); a suite of market-leading FinTech products including lending and compliance solutions which lead in

the United States, core banking technology and a number of innovative channel solutions; and over 1,400 employees across

17 facilities. Management believes the addition of HFS provides D+H with revenue synergies in the U.S. banking and credit

union marketplace and will improve the Company’s value proposition as a single-source FinTech provider. 

The HFS acquisition is fully aligned with D+H’s overall vision and with its ongoing plan to reduce risk by increasing revenue

diversification by geography and service line. 

Going forward, management will remain focused on executing its growth strategy with emphasis on: (i) developing an integrated

operating model in the United States that will support efficient and effective growth; (ii) cross-selling D+H’s suite of FinTech

solutions including its SaaS products, cloud-based infrastructure technology and the HFS suite of FinTech products primarily

within the U.S. marketplace to existing bank and credit union customers as well as approximately 7,000 other U.S. community

banks and credit unions that could benefit from these offerings; (iii) enhancing services, capabilities and cost effectiveness

across all service lines in Canada and the U.S. as a means of enhancing customer value, expanding margins, and creating

additional free cash flow; (iv) building new subscription-based offerings in its payments solutions service line where it won a

number of Canadian financial institution mandates in recent years; (v) extending an integrated D+H brand into the U.S. market;

and (vi) expanding its offering through strategic partnerships. 

In carrying out its cross-selling strategy, D+H will work to achieve synergies in a number of areas including integrating sales

activities to better serve customers, and focusing on creating tighter linkages between our technologies to enhance customer

satisfaction as D+H grows. 

In January 2014, we announced that D+H is now operating as a single brand in North America and globally, following the

rebranding of our legacy HFS, Mortgagebot and Compushare brands to D+H. Leading technology products and solutions from

these brands are now operating under the D+H brand, but will continue to use their existing product names. D+H anticipates

the rebranding will be a strategic enabler that will allow us to unlock synergies and create tangible benefits for our businesses

and clients. The move is aligned with our long-term plan, outlined following the HFS acquisition, and is the next step in D+H’s

continuing evolution as a FinTech leader.
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The Company is committed to reducing leverage while continuing to support its current dividend payments. Without taking into

account any future acquisitions or strategic investment initiatives, the Company expects to reduce its Total Funded Debt/EBITDA

ratio, as defined in the ‘Contractual Obligations’ section, to below 2.5 in 2015 from 3.05 on the date of acquisition of HFS. 

At year-end 2013, debt repayments had reduced this ratio to 2.93. After removing the impacts of foreign exchange fluctuations,

this ratio was 2.87. 

industry trends and Market opportunity

Payments Solutions

Payments solutions include: (i) the cheque supply program which serves the personal and small business account holders of

our financial services customers; and (ii) various subscription fee-based enhancement services and other service offerings

directed towards chequing and credit card programs. These service offerings (excluding the component of enhancement and

identity protection services that are integrated in the cheque order) currently represent a small but growing component of

revenues within this revenue category. 

As a result of growth in credit cards, debit cards and other electronic forms of payment such as online banking and mobile

payments, the number of cheques written has declined and is expected to continue to decline. Management believes that the

downward trend in cheque order volumes is in the mid-single digits annually. In recent periods, there has been more volatility in

personal cheque order volumes, while the decline in business cheque order volumes continues to be in the low single digits

with comparatively less volatility. Management expects that these trends will continue in 2014. D+H continues to develop service

enhancements to offset this impact and to generate future growth within this category. 

Payments solutions revenues are also affected by consumer confidence and employment. D+H believes the number of cheques

printed is driven by the number of cheques written, the number of new chequing accounts opened and reorders reflecting changes

in consumers’ personal situations (i.e., changes in address, marital status, employment status, etc.). Consumer confidence directly

correlates with consumer spending, while employment also affects revenues through the number of new chequing accounts

being opened. These volume declines have been partially offset by increased average order values for cheques, and growth 

in both service enhancements to the chequing and credit card programs and fee-based subscription offerings. Recently

announced upcoming changes in Canada Post’s delivery models may have a longer term impact on consumer appetite to order

and receive cheques in the mail. The Company is currently developing strategies to mitigate the impact this change will have on

our chequing business.

Lending Processing Solutions

Lending processing solutions consist of two distinct sets of customer solutions: loan registration and recovery and student loan

administration services. 
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Loan Registration and Recovery

Loan registration and recovery services, which account for approximately 55% to 65% of the revenues within this category,

support the personal and commercial lending activities of our financial services customers with the registration and management

of data related to secured lending for both personal and real property loans as well as recovery services related to both secured

and unsecured lending activities. Loans relating to vehicle purchases, new and resale, are a significant driver of activity and are

variable. In general, registration services are affected by both economic cyclicality and seasonality, while recovery services are,

in general, counter-cyclical. Registration activities are seasonally higher in the spring and summer relative to the fall and winter

periods. Related services include mortgage discharge solutions and various search-related services, both of which we deliver

on behalf of our financial institution customers. 

The economy has been experiencing continuing recovery within the auto and auto lending markets. The recovery is expected to

continue in 2014. Increases in lender portfolios over the last three years should continue to drive volume increases in 2014 in

our recovery business despite falling delinquency rates. 

Student Loans Administration

In our student loans administration services area, which accounts for approximately 35% to 45% of revenues within the lending

processing solutions category, we manage a $21 billion student loan portfolio servicing 1.7 million students on behalf of Canadian

federal and provincial governments and lenders. Our capabilities include student enrollment, management of funds disbursement,

loan tracking, student support services, reporting and collections. These capabilities rely on technology-driven solutions. We

continue to evolve our service delivery primarily through the introduction of new digital service channels and self-serve options.

Revenues from this program are primarily earned based upon the number of student loans serviced while enrolled in school and

the number of loans serviced while students are in the repayment cycle. D+H also earns revenue from professional services

work connected to program enhancements requested by the lenders. The delivery of these professional services is impacted

by the timing of government approval of these services. Student loan servicing volumes are expected to stabilize and modestly

grow on higher student loan balances and extended loan durations as demand among Canadian students for funds through the

federal student loans program continues to increase. Revenues in this area are not significantly impacted by seasonality. 

Banking Technology Solutions

Canadian Banking Technology Solutions

In the Canadian Segment, banking technology solutions is reported within the lending category and includes solutions directed

towards mortgage markets in Canada. Also included in this category are the technology products and services supporting

leasing, commercial lending and small business lending. Revenues related to Canadian mortgage markets currently represent

approximately 75% to 85% of revenues within this category of which over 90% is attributable to transaction-based fees earned

in connection with Canadian mortgage originations. Mortgage origination fees can be variable and are impacted by many factors

including the economy, the housing market, interest rates and changes in government regulations among others. 

Regulatory changes aimed at cooling the Canadian housing market have had less of an impact in 2013 than expected. While

interest rates are expected to remain steady in the near term, the government continues to closely monitor activity in the housing

market and any further intervention may impact revenues in future periods. These revenues may also continue to be impacted

by strategic price modifications, which are expected to be offset over time by potential revenues from the launch of new products

for Canadian lenders, including extension of our technology solutions across various areas in the lending value chain.
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U.S. Banking Technology Solutions

Effective August 16, 2013, the Company includes revenues from HFS in its U.S. Segment. HFS derives its revenues from

processing and account-based fees for cloud services (outsourcing), licenses for in-house solutions, and installation,

maintenance, and support fees from its installed customer base. The majority of HFS’ revenues are earned pursuant to long-

term contracts with typical contract durations of five to seven years. Revenues from our U.S. banking technology solutions are

classified into enterprise and lending offering categories. 

Enterprise solutions primarily consist of revenues from core processing systems including content management, financial

accounting and payments solutions, a number of innovative channel solutions related to self-service, business intelligence and

branch automation solutions and cloud-based infrastructure technology solutions offerings. 

Lending solutions primarily consist of loan and deposit origination and mortgage compliance offerings for a wide variety of loan

types, including consumer, mortgage and commercial loans, and also market offerings related to commercial lending risk

management, underwriting and portfolio management solutions. Within the U.S. lending solutions category revenues,

approximately 55% to 65% come from recurring subscription fees, and less than 10% from transaction-based activity. 

During the past 25 years, the number of financial institutions in the United States has been declining. While the decline

accelerates at certain points (due to events like the 2008 financial crisis) it has a long term consolidation rate of approximately

3% per year, with most occurring amongst the very smallest of banks, primarily as a result of mergers and acquisitions. An

acquisition benefits us when a newly combined institution is processed on our platform, or elects to move to one of our platforms,

and negatively impacts us when a competing platform is selected. Financial institution acquisitions also impact our financial

results due to early contract termination fees in our multi-year customer contracts. Contract termination fees are primarily

generated when an existing customer with a multi-year contract is acquired by another financial institution. These fees can vary

from period to period based on the number and size of customers that are acquired and how early in the contract term the

contract is terminated.

Today we effectively serve the largest of financial institutions with several discrete market leading products. We also target in

the United States the 13,000 commercial banks, credit unions and other leading financial services customers that have assets

less than US$10 billion with a broad array of solutions. These financial institutions are facing increasing challenges to improve

their competitiveness and operational performance, including requirements to comply with an increasingly complex regulatory

environment, the emergence of new technologies and channels, and margin compression on traditional products. As a result,

financial institutions invest significant capital in order to process transactions more efficiently, manage risk and information more

effectively, maintain regulatory compliance and offer new and innovative products and services to their customers.

For a detailed discussion of the operating results for the three months and year ended December 31, 2013 and management’s

outlook, please see below. 

42 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 



operating results – 2013

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended

December 31, 2013 and includes non-IFRS financial measures. Management believes these supplementary disclosures provide

useful additional information. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures and Additional IFRS Measures sections for a description of

non-IFRS and additional IFRS measures used. 

The consolidated results include those of HFS effective from the date of acquisition of August 16, 2013 and Compushare

effective from the date of acquisition of January 29, 2013. Results of HFS and Compushare have been reported as part of the

U.S. Segment. Consolidated results for continuing operations exclude revenues and expenses related to the discontinued

operations.

Consolidated operating results – overview

D+H delivered solid operating performance in 2013 that was consistent with its strategic agenda of becoming a leading FinTech

provider to the financial services marketplace. Year-over-year growth in revenues and Adjusted revenues was attributable to the

U.S. Segment and reflected the inclusion of HFS and Compushare. The U.S. Segment also contributed to year-over-year growth

in Adjusted EBITDA as a result of acquisitions. Consolidated EBITDA for 2013 was impacted by $23.8 million of acquisition-

related expenses, which were reported as part of Corporate. EBITDA was also negatively impacted by the acquisition accounting

adjustments of $24.2 million related to the fair value of deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired from the acquisition of

HFS. Consolidated net income for 2013 was lower compared to 2012 primarily due to the loss on discontinued operations

and the impacts of higher debt and amortization expense in relation to the HFS acquisition, partially offset by higher EBITDA

and lower income tax expense. Consolidated Adjusted net income, which excluded non-cash and non-normal course items,

was higher than the comparative period primarily as a result of the HFS acquisition. 

D+H | 2013 Annual Report 43



Years ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts, unaudited) 2013 2012

Revenues $ 837,093 $ 695,456

Expenses 637,630 513,850

EBITDA 1 199,463 181,606

Depreciation of capital assets and amortization of non-acquisition intangibles 31,645 27,667

Amortization of intangible assets from acquisitions 68,787 42,990

Income from operating activities 99,031 110,949

Interest expense 35,747 19,214

Other finance charges 2 3,224 -

Income from investment in an associate, net of tax 3 (130) (68)

Gain on re-measurement of previously-held equity interest 3 (1,587) -

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 4 (6,207) (2,016)

Income tax expense 6,280 23,531

Income from continuing operations 61,704 70,288

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 5 (18,052) (1,151)

Net income $ 43,652 $ 69,137

Income from continuing operations per share,

Basic 7 $ 0.9160 $ 1.1866

Diluted 6 $ 0.9149 $ 1.1866

Loss from discontinued operations, per share, net of tax 5

Basic 7 $ (0.2680) $ (0.0194)

Diluted 6 $ (0.2677) $ (0.0194)

Net income per share,

Basic 7 $ 0.6480 $ 1.1672

Diluted 6 $ 0.6472 $ 1.1672

1 EBITDA is a non-IFRS term. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of this term. 

2 Upon acquisition of HFS, the Credit Facility replaced the Previous Credit Facility entered into in 2011, resulting in a write-off of the unamortized deferred debt
issuance costs related to the Previous Credit Facility.

3 Income from investment in an associate consists of D+H’s share of profit from Compushare, the minority investment purchased on April 24, 2012. Upon acquisition
of the remaining interest in January 2013, a gain related to re-measurement of the previously held equity interest was recognized in accordance with IFRS
standards.

4 Includes a gain recognized resulting from fair value changes relating to two foreign exchange forward contracts entered into by D+H on July 25, 2013 to
economically hedge the foreign exchange exposure related to the U.S. dollar purchase price of HFS. Amounts also included mark-to-market adjustments of
interest-rate swaps that are not designated as hedges for hedge accounting purposes, and for which any change in the fair value of these contracts is recorded
through the Consolidated Statements of Income.

5 On May 10, 2013 D+H divested its non-strategic business processing operations. These operations were reported as part of business service solutions and
loan servicing solutions in prior periods and have now been classified as discontinued operations for both the current and comparative periods presented. 

6 Diluted per share reflects the impacts of outstanding stock options. If the average market price during the period is below the option price plus the fair market
value of the option, then the options are not included in the dilution calculation for income from operating activities per share. Weighted average number of shares
outstanding on a diluted basis during 2013 was 67,443,419 shares (2012 – 59,233,373 shares).

7 Weighted average number of shares outstanding during 2013 was 67,364,031 shares (2012 – 59,233,373 shares).
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Years ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Revenues $ 837,093 $ 695,456

Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 29,165 -

Adjusted revenues 2 $ 866,258 $ 695,456

1 Fair value of the deferred revenue balance acquired with the acquisition of HFS was adjusted to reflect estimated costs of future delivery of services. This add-
back represents the amortization of the deferred revenue that was written-off.

2 Adjusted revenues is a non-IFRS term. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a complete description of this term. 

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Revenue $ 837,093 $ 695,456

Expenses 637,630 513,850

EBITDA 1 199,463 181,606

EBITDA Margin 1 23.8% 26.1%

Adjustments:

Acquisition accounting adjustments 2 24,247 -

Acquisition-related and other charges 3 23,760 14,938

Adjusted EBITDA 1 $ 247,470 $ 196,544

Adjusted EBITDA Margin 1 28.6% 28.3%

1 EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description
of these terms. 

2 Acquisition accounting adjustments relate to the amortization of the fair value adjustments on deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired in connection with
the acquisition of HFS. See “Adjusted revenues” and “Adjusted EBITDA” in the Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms.

3 Acquisition-related and other charges for 2013 included transaction costs related to the acquisitions of HFS and Compushare, retention and incentive costs in
connection with the acquisitions, business integration costs and expenses related to cost-realignment initiatives. Acquisition-related and other charges for 2012
included transaction costs and certain retention and incentive costs related to the Mortgagebot and Avista acquisitions, charges related to cost-realignment
initiatives, corporate development expenses related to strategic acquisition initiatives and business integration costs.
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Years ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Net Income $ 43,652 $ 69,137
Adjustments:

Non-cash items:
Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 24,247 -
Non-cash interest expense 2 2,058 -
Other finance charges 3 3,224 -
Amortization of intangible assets from acquisitions 68,787 42,990
Gain on remeasurement of previous-held equity interest 4 (1,587) -
Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 5 (6,207) (2,016)

Other items of note:
Acquisition-related and other charges 6 23,760 14,938

Tax effect of above adjustments 7 (38,207) (16,974)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 8 18,052 1,151
Tax effect of acquisitions 9 (1,726) (1,156)

Adjusted net income 10 $ 136,053 $ 108,070

Adjusted net income per share 10, 11 $ 2.0197 $ 1.8245

2013 vs. 2012
% change

Adjusted net income 10 25.9%
Adjusted net income per share 10, 11 10.7%

1 Acquisition accounting adjustments relate to the amortization of the fair value adjustments on deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired in connection with
the acquisition of HFS.

2 Non-cash interest charges relate to accretion of Debentures issued to partially fund the acquisition of HFS and amortization of deferred financing charges incurred
in connection with the Company’s financing arrangements. 

3 Upon acquisition of HFS, the Credit Facility replaced the Previous Credit Facility entered into in 2011, resulting in a write-off of the unamortized deferred debt
issuance costs related to the Previous Credit Facility.

4 Upon acquisition of the remaining interest in Compushare in January 2013, a non-cash gain related to re-measurement of the previously held equity interest was
recognized in accordance with IFRS standards.

5 Includes a gain recognized resulting from fair value changes relating to two foreign exchange forward contracts entered into by D+H on July 25, 2013 to
economically hedge the foreign exchange exposure related to the U.S. dollar purchase price of HFS. Amounts also included mark-to-market adjustments of
interest-rate swaps that are not designated as hedges for hedge accounting purposes, and for which any change in the fair value of these contracts is recorded
through the Consolidated Statements of Income.

6 Acquisition-related and other charges for 2013 include transaction costs related to the acquisition of HFS, retention and incentive costs in connection with the
acquisitions of businesses, business integration costs and expenses related to cost-realignment initiatives. Acquisition-related and other charges for 2012 included
transaction costs and certain retention and incentive costs related to the Mortgagebot and Avista acquisitions, charges related to cost-realignment initiatives,
corporate development expenses related to strategic acquisition initiatives and business integration costs.

7 The adjustments to net income are tax effected at their respective tax rates.

8 On May 10, 2013 D+H divested its non-strategic business processing operations. The results of these components were included as part of business service
solutions and loan servicing solutions in the Canadian Segment in prior periods. These components and the related transition services have been classified as
discontinued operations for all periods presented.

9 This adjustment reflects: (i) a non-cash tax recovery related to liabilities recognized in connection with the acquisition of Mortgagebot, and (ii) a one-time income
tax expense arising from the revaluation of the Company’s deferred taxes to reflect the change in future U.S. income tax rates resulting from the acquisition of HFS.

10 Adjusted net income and Adjusted net income per share are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms. 

11 Weighted average number of shares outstanding during 2013 was 67,364,031 shares (2012 – 59,233,373 shares).
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operating results by Segment

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Years ended December 31,

Canadian Segment U.S. Segment Corporate Consolidated

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenues $ 654,608 $638,811 $ 182,485 $ 56,645 $ - $ - $ 837,093 $695,456

Acquisition accounting 

adjustments 1 - - 29,165 - - - 29,165 -

Adjusted revenues 2 $ 654,608 $638,811 $ 211,650 $ 56,645 $ - $ - $ 866,258 $695,456

1 Acquisition accounting adjustments in 2013 relate to non-cash fair value adjustments to deferred revenues acquired in connection with the acquisition of HFS.
The deferred revenue balance was adjusted to reflect its fair value, calculated by estimating costs of future delivery of the services. This add-back represents the
amortization of the deferred revenue that was written-off.

2 Adjusted revenues is a non-IFRS term. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of this term.

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Years ended December 31,

Canadian Segment U.S. Segment Corporate Consolidated

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenues $ 654,608 $638,811 $ 182,485 $ 56,645 $ - $ - $ 837,093 $695,456

Expenses 485,790 470,928 128,080 27,984 23,760 14,938 637,630 513,850

EBITDA 1 168,818 167,883 54,405 28,661 (23,760) (14,938) 199,463 181,606

EBITDA Margin 1 25.8% 26.3% 29.8% 50.6% - - 23.8% 26.1%

Adjustments:

Acquisition accounting 

adjustments 2 - - 24,247 - - - 24,247 -

Acquisition-related 

and other charges 3 - - - - 23,760 14,938 23,760 14,938

Adjusted EBITDA 1 $ 168,818 $167,883 $ 78,652 $ 28,661 $ - $ - $ 247,470 $196,544

Adjusted EBITDA 

Margin 1 25.8% 26.3% 37.2% 50.6% - - 28.6% 28.3%

1 EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description
of these terms. 

2 Acquisition accounting adjustments in 2013 relate to non-cash fair value adjustments to deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired in connection with the
acquisition of HFS. 

3 Acquisition-related and other charges for 2013 include transaction costs related to the acquisitions of HFS and Compushare, retention and incentive costs in
connection with the acquisitions, business integration costs and expenses related to cost-realignment initiatives. Acquisition-related and other charges for 2012
included transaction costs and certain retention and incentive costs related to the Mortgagebot and Avista acquisitions, charges related to cost-realignment
initiatives, corporate development expenses related to strategic acquisition initiatives and business integration costs.
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Years ended December 31,

Canadian U.S. 
Segment Segment Consolidated 

2013 vs. 2012 2013 vs. 2012 2013 vs. 2012
% change % change % change

Revenues 2.5% 222.2% 20.4%

Adjusted revenues 1 2.5% 273.6% 24.6%

Adjusted EBITDA 1 0.6% 174.4% 25.9%

1 Adjusted revenues and Adjusted EBITDA are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms. 

revenues and Adjusted revenues

Revenues and Adjusted Revenues – Consolidated

The table below shows the Company’s Adjusted revenues by its major service areas: 

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012

Adjusted Revenues – Consolidated

Payments solutions 35% 43%

Lending processing solutions 1 33% 38%

Banking technology solutions 2

Enterprise 10% -

Lending 22% 19%

100% 100%

1 Reported as loan servicing solutions and loan registration and recovery services in prior periods.

2 Reported as lending technology services in prior periods. Beginning in the third quarter of 2013, the Company reports banking technology solutions segregated
further into enterprise and lending categories to reflect the major service areas of HFS.
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(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Years ended December 31,

Canadian Segment U.S. Segment Consolidated

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Adjusted Adjusted 
Revenues Revenues Revenues Adjustment1 revenues2 Revenues Revenues Adjustment1 revenues2 Revenues

Payments solutions $304,360 $301,432 $ - $ - $ - $ - $304,360 $ - $304,360 $301,432

Lending processing solutions 282,161 265,885 - - - - 282,161 - 282,161 265,885

Banking technology solutions

Enterprise - - 79,564 7,102 86,666 - 79,564 7,102 86,666 -

Lending 68,087 71,494 102,921 22,063 124,984 56,645 171,008 22,063 193,071 128,139

Total Revenues $654,608 $638,811 $182,485 $ 29,165 $211,650 $ 56,645 $837,093 $ 29,165 $866,258 $695,456

1 Adjustment is related to non-cash fair value adjustment to deferred revenues acquired in connection with the acquisition of HFS. The deferred revenue balance
was adjusted to reflect its fair value, calculated by estimating costs of future delivery of the services. This add-back represents the amortization of the deferred
revenue that was written-off.

2 Adjusted revenues is a non-IFRS term. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of this term. 

Consolidated Adjusted revenues for 2013 were $866.3 million, an increase of $170.8 million, or 24.6%, compared to 2012.

This increase was primarily due to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare revenues effective August 16, 2013 and January 29,

2013, respectively, in the U.S. Segment and growth in our other SaaS businesses in the U.S. Also contributing to this increase

was revenue growth in payments solutions and lending processing solutions in the Canadian Segment. 

Consolidated revenues for 2013 were $837.1 million, an increase of $141.6 million, or 20.4%, compared to 2012. Revenues

in 2013 were impacted by the fair value adjustment to deferred revenues acquired from HFS. 

Revenues – Canadian Segment

Total revenues in the Canadian Segment for 2013 were $654.6 million, an increase of $15.8 million, or 2.5%, compared to

2012. Adjusted revenues are the same as revenues for the Canadian Segment as this segment was not subject to acquisition-

accounting adjustments. 

Payments Solutions

Revenues from payments solutions for 2013 were $304.4 million, an increase of $2.9 million, or 1.0%, compared to 2012.

Revenues from payments solutions reflected the positive impact of higher average order values and product and service

enhancements in the chequing and credit card programs, partially offset by volume declines in cheque orders. Management

believes that the downward trend in cheque order volumes is in the mid-single digits, annually, with variations in the personal

and business cheque categories. In recent periods, there has been more volatility in personal cheque order volumes, while the

decline in business cheque order volumes continues to be in the low single digits with comparatively minimal volatility.

Lending Processing Solutions

Lending processing solutions revenues for 2013 were $282.2 million, an increase of $16.3 million, or 6.1%, compared to 2012.

The increase was mainly due to higher transaction volumes in registration and recovery services reflecting a continuing recovery

within the auto and auto lending markets and higher volumes in the student loans program. These increases were partially offset

by lower professional service fees within the student loans program due to timing of customer approval of these services. 
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Banking Technology Solutions – Lending

All revenues from the banking technology solutions service area within the Canadian Segment come from lending solution

offerings. Revenues from this service area for 2013 were $68.1 million, a decrease of $3.4 million, or 4.8%, compared to 2012.

Revenues for 2013 were impacted by price modifications and lower origination volumes within our mortgage origination business,

partially offset by higher professional service fees earned in connection with our technology solutions directed towards leasing,

commercial lending and small business lending.

Revenues and Adjusted Revenues – U.S. Segment

Total revenues in the U.S. Segment for 2013 were $182.5 million, an increase of $125.8 million, or 222.2%, compared to 2012.

For 2013, Adjusted revenues of $211.7 million, were $155.0 million, or 273.6%, ahead of the previous year. The sharp increases

in both revenues and Adjusted revenues were due to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare. A strong U.S. dollar in the latter

part of the year compared to the prior year benefited Adjusted revenues in the U.S. segment by $9.6 million. The foreign exchange

impact was calculated as the difference between the current period’s actual results and the current period’s results in local

currencies converted at the prior period’s foreign exchange rates.

Enterprise Solutions

Revenues from enterprise solutions within the U.S. Segment for 2013 were $79.6 million. Revenues recorded under IFRS in

2013 were impacted by acquisition accounting adjustments related to fair value of deferred revenue acquired through the

acquisition of HFS. Adjusted revenues, which are calculated after removing the impacts of purchase accounting adjustments

related to fair value of deferred revenue, were $86.7 million for 2013. There was no comparable for Adjusted revenues for the

same period in 2012. 

Lending Solutions

Revenues from lending solutions in the U.S. Segment for 2013 were $102.9 million, an increase of $46.3 million, or 81.7%,

compared to 2012. Revenues in 2013 benefited from the inclusion of HFS since its acquisition on August 16, 2013. Revenues

recorded under IFRS in 2013 were impacted by acquisition accounting adjustments related to the acquisition of HFS. Adjusted

revenues of $125.0 million, which removed these acquisition accounting impacts, increased by $68.3 million compared to

2012, due to the inclusion of HFS. 

In our other SaaS businesses in the U.S., for 2013, revenues increased year over year primarily due to higher subscription fees

from a growing customer base and were partially offset by lower transaction volumes due to the impact of lower re-financing

activity compared to a year ago when historically low interest rates encouraged consumers to re-finance their mortgages.

Revenues for 2013 also benefited from annualization of Avista, acquired in May 2012. 
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Expenses 

Expenses – Consolidated 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Years ended December 31,

Canadian Segment U.S. Segment Corporate Consolidated

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Employee compensation 

and benefits 1 $ 159,208 $151,862 $ 78,886 $ 15,943 $ 4,783 $ 11,001 $ 242,877 $178,806

Non-compensation 

direct expenses 2 246,058 237,491 11,208 1,062 - - 257,266 238,553

Other operating 

expenses 3 80,524 81,575 37,986 10,979 18,977 3,937 137,487 96,491

Total Expenses $ 485,790 $470,928 $ 128,080 $ 27,984 $ 23,760 $ 14,938 $ 637,630 $513,850

1 Employee compensation and benefits on a consolidated basis includes retention and incentive expenses related to acquisitions of businesses and share-based
compensation expenses and are net of apprenticeship tax credits and amounts capitalized related to software product development. 

2 Non-compensation direct expenses include materials, shipping, selling expenses, royalties and third party direct disbursements. 

3 Other operating expenses include occupancy costs, communication costs, professional fees, contractor fees, transaction costs related to acquisitions of
businesses, corporate development costs related to strategic acquisition initiatives and expenses not included in other categories. Other operating expenses in
the Canadian Segment are net of management fees charged to the U.S. segment by the Canadian Segment.

Consolidated expenses for 2013 were $637.6 million, an increase of $123.8 million, or 24.1%, compared to 2012. The increase

was attributable to the inclusion of HFS expenses effective from August 16, 2013 and Compushare expenses effective from

January 29, 2013. Consolidated expenses also included acquisition-related and other charges of $23.8 million for 2013, which

are not considered reflective of normal course operations. These costs are not included in the segment results, but are disclosed

as part of Corporate. Acquisition-related and other charges of $14.9 million were recorded in 2012. Annualization of Avista

expenses also contributed to the increase in 2013. 

Expenses – Canadian Segment

Total expenses for the Canadian Segment in 2013 were $485.8 million, an increase of $14.9 million, or 3.2%, due to higher

revenues, partially offset by benefits from recent transformation and cost-realignment activities. The increase in expenses in

2013 was also attributable to a change in product mix and increased investments in new organic growth initiatives.

Employee compensation and benefits costs of $159.2 million for 2013 for the Canadian Segment were higher by $7.3 million,

or 4.8%, compared to 2012. This increase was primarily due to an increase in share-based compensation expense attributable

to an increase in the share price of D+H, timing of capitalization of internally developed projects and employee related incentive

costs. These increases were partially offset by savings realized from cost-realignment initiatives.
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Non-compensation direct expenses for the Canadian Segment of $246.1 million for 2013 increased by $8.6 million, or 3.6%,

compared to 2012. In general, these expenses directionally change with revenue changes. An increase in direct costs associated

with the lending processing solutions was consistent with the increase in revenue. These increases were partially offset by

savings realized from cost re-alignment initiatives.

Other operating expenses of $80.5 million for 2013 decreased by $1.1 million, or 1.3%, compared to 2012. Benefits from

cost-realignment initiatives were partially offset by an increase in expenses due to changes in product mix in the Canadian

Segment, a trend that is expected to stabilize. Other operating expenses in the Canadian Segment are net of management fees

charged to the U.S. Segment.

Expenses – U.S. Segment

Total expenses for the U.S. Segment in 2013 were $128.1 million, an increase of $100.1 million, with the increase attributable

to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare in the 2013 periods and annualization of expenses for Avista, acquired in May 2012. 

Employee compensation and benefits costs of $78.9 million in 2013, increased by $62.9 million, compared to 2012. This

increase was primarily due to the inclusion of the HFS and Compushare cost bases. 

Non-compensation direct expenses in 2013 of $11.2 million, increased by $10.1 million, compared to 2012, primarily due to

the inclusion of HFS and Compushare. 

Other operating expenses of $38.0 million for 2013 were higher by $27.0 million, or 246.0%, compared to the previous year.

The increase was primarily attributable to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare expenses. Other operating expenses also

included a management fee, for corporate-related services, charged to the U.S. Segment by the Canadian Segment.

Expenses – Corporate

Total expenses of $23.8 million were recorded in Corporate for 2013.

Employee compensation and benefits expenses of $4.8 million recorded as corporate expenses for 2013 and $11.0 million for

2012 consisted of retention and incentive expenses incurred in connection with acquisitions and severances related to cost-

realignment initiatives.

Other expenses of $19.0 million for 2013 mainly consisted of transaction and business integration costs incurred in connection

with the acquisition of HFS. For 2012, other operating expenses of $3.9 million consisted of corporate development expenses

related to strategic acquisition initiatives, transaction costs and business integration costs incurred in connection with the

acquisition of Avista.
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EbitdA and EbitdA Margin

Consolidated EBITDA in 2013 of $199.5  million, increased by $17.9  million, or 9.8%, from $181.6  million for 2012.

Consolidated EBITDA margin of 23.8% decreased from 26.1% in 2012.

Canadian Segment

Canadian Segment EBITDA for 2013 was $168.8 million, an increase of $0.9 million, or 0.6%, compared to 2012. EBITDA

margin for the Canadian Segment for 2013 was 25.8%, compared to 26.3% in 2012. 

U.S. Segment

U.S. Segment EBITDA in 2013 was $54.4 million, an increase of $25.7 million, or 89.8%, compared to 2012. EBITDA margin

for 2013 of 29.8% was lower than the margin of 50.6% during 2012. 

Adjusted EbitdA and Adjusted EbitdA Margin

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of $247.5 million in 2013, increased by $50.9 million, or 25.9%, compared to 2012, primarily

due to the inclusion of HFS. Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA was calculated by removing from EBITDA: (i) $24.2 million of

acquisition accounting adjustments to fair value of deferred revenues and deferred costs associated with the acquisition of

HFS; (ii) acquisition-related and other charges of $23.8 million, consisting of transaction costs expensed under IFRS, retention

and incentive costs and integration expenses associated with acquisitions. 

On a consolidated basis, Adjusted EBITDA margin for 2013 was 28.6% compared to 28.3% for 2012 due to the inclusion of

HFS in the U.S. Segment. Although HFS has lower margins than our other U.S. Segment offerings, it has a higher margin than

the overall Canadian Segment.

Canadian Segment

Adjusted EBITDA was $168.8 million for 2013, an increase of $0.9 million, or 0.6%, compared to 2012. Adjusted EBITDA in

2013 reflected growth in revenues, higher management fees charged to the U.S. Segment and savings realized from recent

transformation and cost-realignment activities in the Canadian Segment. These increases were partially offset by higher expenses

related to changes in product mix, price modifications related to mortgage originations, increased investments in new organic

growth initiatives and an increase in share-based compensation expense as described above.

Adjusted EBITDA margin of 25.8% in 2013 was lower than the Adjusted EBITDA margin of 26.3% in 2012. Adjusted EBTIDA

margin for 2013 was impacted by the changes in product mix and an increase in share-based compensation expense attributable

to an increase in the share price of D+H.
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U.S. Segment

U.S. Segment Adjusted EBITDA for 2013 of $78.7 million, increased by $50.0 million, or 174.4%, compared to 2012. This

increase was primarily attributable to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare, annualization of Avista and continued growth in

our other SaaS businesses. Adjusted EBITDA also benefited by $3.4 million due to a strong U.S. dollar in the latter part of the

year. This impact was calculated using the methodology described previously.

Adjusted EBITDA in the U.S. Segment excluded the impacts of $24.2 million attributable to the IFRS acquisition accounting

adjustments related to fair value of deferred revenues and deferred costs on D+H’s acquisition of HFS. This consisted of

$29.2 million of acquisition accounting adjustments related to fair value of deferred revenues and $5.0 million of fair value

adjustments related to deferred costs. 

U.S. Segment Adjusted EBITDA margin for 2013 was 37.2%, compared to 50.6% for 2012. As described earlier, HFS margins

are lower than the other SaaS offerings within our U.S. Segment, which resulted in lower Adjusted EBITDA margins in 2013.

depreciation of Capital Assets and Amortization of Non-Acquisition intangible Assets

Consolidated depreciation of capital assets and amortization of non-acquisition intangible assets of $31.6 million increased 

by $4.0 million, or 14.4%, compared to 2012, mainly due to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare. 

Amortization of intangible Assets from Acquisitions

Consolidated amortization of intangible assets from acquisitions for 2013 was $68.8 million, an increase of $25.8 million, or

60.0%, compared to 2012. The increase was attributable to the amortization resulting primarily from the acquisition of HFS on

August 16, 2013 and to a lesser extent the acquisition of Compushare on January 29, 2013 and annualization of amortization

expense resulting from the acquisition of Avista in May 2012.

income from operating Activities

Consolidated income from operating activities was $99.0 million in 2013, a decrease of $11.9 million, or 10.7%, compared to

$110.9 million for 2012. This reflected an increase in amortization and depreciation as described above, a decrease in EBITDA

as a result of acquisition accounting adjustments related to fair value of deferred revenues, net of deferred costs, associated

with the acquisition of HFS, and transaction and integration costs in connection with the HFS acquisition. These decreases

were partially offset by EBITDA growth in our other SaaS businesses. 
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interest Expense

Interest expense of $35.7 million for 2013 increased by $16.5 million, or 86.0%, compared to 2012. The increase reflected

incremental debt financing through the Credit Facility bearing a higher credit spread and bonds and Debentures issued to

partially fund the HFS acquisition in 2013. Interest expense for 2013 also included a non-cash interest charge of $2.1 million

consisting of: (i) accretion expense of $0.8 million related to Debentures issued in connection with the acquisition of HFS, and 

(ii) $1.3 million related to the amortization of deferred financing charges incurred in connection with the Company’s financing

arrangements. The difference between the carrying value and the face value of the Debentures is accreted over the 5-year term

of the Debentures such that the liability at maturity will equal the face value of $230 million. Prior to the acquisition in August

2013, interest expense had been favourably impacted by lower average loan balances as a result of debt repayments and

favourable pricing on the renewal of the Previous Credit Facility, due to renegotiated terms.

income from investment in an Associate

Consolidated net income for 2012 and for the first 28 days of January 2013 included D+H’s share of income related to the

minority interest held in Compushare. Compushare’s results were consolidated when D+H obtained 100% ownership on

January 29, 2013. 

Gain on re-Measurement of previously held Equity interest

Upon acquisition of the remaining outstanding shares of Compushare, a gain of $1.6 million was recognized on re-measurement

of the previously held equity interest in accordance with IFRS. 

fair Value Adjustment of derivative instruments

A net gain of $6.2 million related to fair value changes on derivative instruments was recognized in 2013, compared to

$2.0 million in 2012. The gain in 2013 was attributable to fair value adjustments pertaining to interest-rate swaps and foreign

exchange forward contracts used to economically hedge a portion of the foreign exchange risk related to the U.S. dollar

acquisition price of HFS, as described below:

Interest rate swaps

Net unrealized gain from interest-rate swaps, reflecting fair value adjustments related to changes in market interest rates over

2013 was $1.5 million. Net unrealized gain relating to interest-rate swaps was $2.0 million in 2012.

Foreign exchange forward contracts

D+H entered into two foreign exchange forward contracts to economically hedge the foreign exchange risk related to the U.S.

dollar acquisition price of HFS. A gain of $4.7 million relating to the fair value changes during the period was recorded in 2013.

These forward contracts were settled upon the completion of the acquisition of HFS on August 16, 2013. 
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other finance Charges

As a result of the acquisition of HFS, the Company entered into a new non-revolving, non-amortizing secured Credit Facility,

maturing in five years and senior secured bonds with a 10-year term. 

Also, this Credit Facility replaced the Company’s Previous Credit Facility entered into in 2011, resulting in the unamortized

deferred debt issuance costs related to the previous facilities of $3.2 million being written-off to net income. 

income tax Expense 

An income tax expense of $6.3 million was recorded in 2013 compared to an income tax expense of $23.5 million in 2012. The

income tax expense was lower in 2013 compared to 2012 due to a change in the geographic mix of income from continuing

operations. Also, an increase in the amortization of intangible assets from acquisitions resulted in a tax recovery which partially

offset the income tax expense. 

The 2013 income tax expense was increased as a result of non-deductible acquisition costs but was also reduced by a tax

recovery related to liabilities recognized in connection with the acquisition of Mortgagebot and the recognition of previously

unrecognized tax losses. The 2012 income tax expense on income from operations was also reduced by a smaller tax recovery

related to liabilities previously recognized in connection with the acquisition of Mortgagebot.

income from Continuing operations

Income from continuing operations for 2013 was $61.7 million compared to $70.3 million for 2012. The decrease was primarily

attributable to lower income from operating activities as described earlier, higher interest expense on debt drawn to fund the

HFS acquisition and the write-off of deferred finance fees related to the Previous Credit Facility, partially offset by a lower income

tax expense and a higher gain on fair value changes related to derivative instruments compared to 2012. 

Loss from discontinued operations

This loss was related to the divestiture of D+H’s non-strategic business processing operations on May 10, 2013. See Divestiture

section for more details.

Loss from discontinued operations in 2013 was $18.1 million ($0.2680 per share, basic and $0.2677 per share, diluted),

compared to a loss of $1.2 million ($0.0194 per share, basic and diluted) for 2012. The results of 2013 included a loss on

disposal of $5.9 million, a loss of $11.2 million related to measurement to fair value less estimated costs to sell the assets held

for sale, and losses from operating activities of $2.5 million. The loss from discontinued operations was partially offset by an

income tax recovery of $1.4 million pertaining to the discontinued operations. 

Net income 

Consolidated net income of $43.7 million for 2013 was lower by $25.5 million, or 36.9%, compared to $69.1 million for 2012,

primarily due to a loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes, of $18.1 million, transaction costs and other acquisition related

charges in connection with the acquisition of HFS, an increase in amortization and depreciation, and interest on incremental

debt. This decrease was partially offset by a lower income tax expense, the benefits of fair-value changes related to derivative

instruments of $6.2 million and a gain on re-measurement of previously held equity interest in Compushare.
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Net income per Share 

Net income per share, basic

Basic net income per share is calculated by dividing net income for the year by the weighted average number of shares

outstanding during the year.

Consolidated basic net income per share of $0.6480 for 2013 was lower compared to $1.1672 per share for 2012, primarily

due to the 21,505,000 additional common shares issued in connection with the acquisition of HFS and the other items discussed

above impacting net income, including those related to the acquisition.

Net income per share, diluted

Diluted net income per share is calculated by adjusting net income and the weighted average number of shares outstanding

during the year for the effects of dilutive potential shares (resulting from share-based compensation and Debentures). The

diluted per share amounts for share-based compensation are calculated using the treasury stock method, as if all the share

equivalents, where the average market price exceeds the issue price, had been exercised at the beginning of the reporting

period, or the date of issue, if later, and that the funds obtained thereby were used to purchase shares of the Company at the

average trading price of the common shares during the period. Dilution impact of the Debentures is calculated using the if-

converted method as at the beginning of the year, or the date of issue, if later.

For 2013, the inclusion of additional potential shares related to share-based compensation had a dilutive effect on net income

while additional potential shares related to the Debentures had an anti-dilutive effect on net income. Net income per share on

a diluted basis was $0.6472 in 2013 compared to $1.1672 for 2012. Per share amounts were also impacted by the additional

common shares issued in connection with the HFS acquisition. Refer to note 22 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial

statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 for the calculation of diluted net income per share.

Adjusted Net income and Adjusted Net income per Share

Consolidated Adjusted net income for 2013 was $136.1 million ($2.0197 per share), an increase of $28.0 million, or 25.9%,

compared to $108.1 million ($1.8245 per share) for 2012. This increase was mainly due to higher Adjusted EBITDA in the

U.S. segment resulting from the inclusion of HFS results and lower income tax expense, partially offset by higher depreciation

and interest expense as a result of HFS. Adjusted net income per share for 2013 was impacted by the additional shares issued

to fund the acquisition of HFS. 

Consolidated Cash flow, Liquidity and Capital resources 

The following table is derived from, and should be read in conjunction with, the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the

year ended December 31, 2013. Management believes this disclosure provides useful additional information related to the cash

flows of the Corporation, repayment of debt and other investing activities. 
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Consolidated Summary of Cash flows 

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in): 

Operating Activities 

Income from continuing operations $ 61,704 $ 70,288 

Depreciation and amortization of assets 100,432 70,657 

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments (6,207) (2,016)

Interest expense, including amortization of deferred finance fees and accretion 35,747 19,214 

Other finance charges 3,224 - 

Non-cash income tax and options expenses 6,822 25,184 

Income from investment in an associate, net of tax (130) (68)

Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest (1,587) - 

Decrease (increase) in non-cash working capital and other items 17,907 (2,955) 

Cash generated from operating activities 217,912 180,304 

Interest paid (23,081) (17,118)

Income tax paid (4,966) - 

Net cash from operating activities 189,865 163,186 

Financing Activities 

Net change in long-term indebtedness 561,131 (3,415)

Proceeds from issuance of Debentures 230,000 - 

Issuance costs of Credit Facility and Debentures (17,878) (902)

Proceeds from issuance of shares 460,207 - 

Payment of issuance costs of shares (19,883) - 

Dividends paid (89,582) (74,042)

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 1,123,995 (78,359)

Investing Activities 

Capital expenditures  (39,862) (33,317)

Acquisition of investment in an associate  - (10,058)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (1,256,450) (37,946)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 631 - 

Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations 8,500 - 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,287,181) (81,321)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year 26,679 3,506 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 5,719 2,213 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $ 32,398 $ 5,719 
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D+H’s primary liquidity needs are: (i) to fund normal operating expenses; (ii) to meet the interest and principal requirements of

our outstanding indebtedness; (iii) to fund dividend payments; (iv) to fund capital expenditures, including product development,

and operating lease payments; and (v) to fund strategic acquisitions. We believe these needs will be satisfied using cash flows

generated by our operations, our cash and cash equivalents of $32.4 million as at December 31, 2013 ($5.7 million at

December 31, 2012) and available borrowings under our revolving Credit Facility.

operating Activities

Operating activities provided $189.9 million for 2013, an increase of $26.7 million, compared to $163.2 million for 2012. This

increase was primarily attributable to higher EBITDA as a result of the HFS acquisition, and non-cash working capital changes

as described below. Net cash from operating activities were also impacted by increased interest payments reflecting the HFS

acquisition and income tax installment payments made during 2013. 

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital and Other Items 

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Change in non-cash working capital $ 38,134 $ (3,528)

Change in other operating assets and liabilities (9,080) (1,218)

Discontinued operations (11,147) 1,791

Decrease (increase) in non-cash working capital and other items $ 17,907 $ (2,955)

The net decrease in non-cash working capital in 2013 reflected increased trade payables reflecting cash management initiatives

taken by the Company and increased deferred revenues due to growth in the HFS business. This was partially offset by increased

prepayments reflecting deferred costs and integration expenses.

The net increase in other operating assets and liabilities for 2013 primarily related to increased non-current accounts receivable

and deferred costs, related to growth in our HFS business since its acquisition, and was partially offset by increased other long-

term liabilities mainly resulting from higher share-based compensation expense attributable to an increase in the Company’s

share price. 

Cash flows used in discontinued operations of $11.1 million represent directly attributable selling costs and the transfer of cash

associated with these operations and impact of activities undertaken in accordance with the previously negotiated transition

services agreement.

The Company expects to experience continued variability of non-cash working capital due to the nature and timing of services

rendered in connection with the businesses acquired.
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financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.1 billion for 2013, compared to $78.4 million used in financing activities for

2012. The net change was primarily due to funds drawn from the Credit Facility and proceeds from issuances of bonds, common

shares and Debentures in connection with the acquisition of HFS, net of issue costs. 

During 2013, D+H made net debt repayments of $51.5 million, compared to $54.0 million in the previous year. D+H also made

dividend payments totalling $89.6 million ($1.28 per share) during 2013, compared to $74.0 million ($1.25 per share) in 2012.

This increase in dividend payments reflected a dividend increase in the fourth quarter of 2012 and dividends on the 21,505,000

additional common shares issued in connection with the acquisition of HFS in August 2013.

Issuance of Common Shares

Gross proceeds of approximately $460.2 million were received from the issuance of 21,505,000 subscription receipts to partially

fund the acquisition of HFS, which included an over-allotment option for the subscription receipts exercised on closing. 

Each subscription receipt entitled the holder to receive one common share of the Corporation upon the close of the acquisition,

at a price of $21.40. 

With the completion of the acquisition on August 16, 2013, each subscription receipt was automatically exchanged into one

common share of the Corporation.

investing Activities 

During 2013, investing activities used $1.3 billion of cash, which was primarily for the acquisition of HFS on August 16, 2013

for a cash purchase price of approximately US$1.2 billion and $39.9 million on capital expenditures. Cash used in investing

activities during the year was partially offset by the proceeds from the sale of the non-strategic business processing operations

in May 2013. In 2012, $81.3 million was used in investing activities reflecting capital expenditures, the acquisition of Avista and

a minority investment in Compushare. 

Capital Expenditures 

For 2013, capital expenditures were $39.9 million, an increase of $6.5 million, compared to 2012. The increase in capital

expenditures was primarily attributable to the acquisition of HFS. Total capital expenditure for 2013 was also higher than the

previous guidance provided by management in the third quarter of 2013 due to increased investments in growth opportunities

during the fourth quarter of 2013. Expenditures in 2013 and 2012 included investment in integration and upgrade activities as

well as development of technology products and capability.

60 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 



Eight Quarter Consolidated Statements of income – Summary 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, 2013 2012
except per share amounts, unaudited) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenues $ 259,075 $ 209,223 $ 197,134 $ 171,661 $ 172,457 $ 176,689 $ 180,989 $ 165,321
Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 13,058 16,107 - - - - - -
Adjusted revenues 2 $ 272,133 $ 225,330 $ 197,134 $ 171,661 $ 172,457 $ 176,689 $ 180,989 $ 165,321
Revenues $ 259,075 $ 209,223 $ 197,134 $ 171,661 $ 172,457 $ 176,689 $ 180,989 $ 165,321
Expenses 3 190,876 172,539 144,551 129,664 131,082 129,405 128,289 125,074
EBITDA 2, 3 68,199 36,684 52,583 41,997 41,375 47,284 52,700 40,247
EBITDA margin 2 26.3% 17.5% 26.7% 24.5% 24.0% 26.8% 29.1% 24.3%
Adjustments:

Acquistion accounting adjustments 1 9,217 15,030 - - - - - -
Acquisition-related and other charges 3 3,842 13,126 5,764 1,028 6,558 3,265 4,378 737

Adjusted EBITDA 2 $ 81,258 $ 64,840 $ 58,347 $ 43,025 $ 47,933 $ 50,549 $ 57,078 $ 40,984
Adjusted EBITDA margin 2 29.9% 28.8% 29.6% 25.1% 27.8% 28.6% 31.5% 24.8%
EBITDA 2, 3 $ 68,199 $ 36,684 $ 52,583 $ 41,997 $ 41,375 $ 47,284 $ 52,700 $ 40,247
Depreciation of capital assets and amortization 

of non-acquisition intangibles 10,937 7,532 6,657 6,519 7,568 6,648 6,986 6,465
Amortization of intangible assets 

from acquisitions 27,631 19,182 11,060 10,914 11,292 10,597 10,706 10,395
Income from operating activities 2 29,631 9,970 34,866 24,564 22,515 30,039 35,008 23,387
Interest expense 15,509 11,251 4,516 4,471 4,629 4,943 4,821 4,821
Other finance charges 4 - 3,224 - - - - - -
Loss (income) from investment in an associate, 

net of tax - - - (130) 23 (53) (38) -
Gain on remeasurement of previously held 

equity interest 5 - - - (1,587) - - - -
Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 6 (138) (4,759) (1,203) (107) (542) (445) 616 (1,645)
Income tax expense (recovery) (975) (7,383) 9,158 5,480 4,165 5,987 8,345 5,034
Income from continuing operations 15,235 7,637 22,395 16,437 14,240 19,607 21,264 15,177
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, 

net of tax 7 2,133 (704) (8,786) (10,695) (529) (2) (377) (243)
Net income 17,368 6,933 13,609 5,742 13,711 19,605 20,887 14,934
Adjustments:

Non-cash items:
Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 9,217 15,030 - - - - - -
Non-cash interest expense 8 1,349 709 - - - - - -
Other finance charges 4 - 3,224 - - - - - -
Amortization of intangible assets 

from acquisitions 27,631 19,182 11,060 10,914 11,292 10,597 10,706 10,395
Gain on remeasurement of previously 

held equity interest 5 - - - (1,587) - - - -
Fair value adjustment of derivative 

instruments 6 (138) (4,759) (1,203) (107) (542) (445) 616 (1,645)
Other items of note:

Acquisition-related and other charges 3 3,842 13,126 5,764 1,028 6,558 3,265 4,378 737
Tax effect of above adjustments 9 (15,100) (15,715) (3,814) (3,578) (5,543) (3,962) (4,615) (2,854)
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, 

net of tax 7 (2,133) 704 8,786 10,695 529 2 377 243
Tax effect of acquisitions 10 - (1,726) - - - (1,156) - -

Adjusted net income 2 $ 42,036 $ 36,708 $ 34,202 $ 23,107 $ 26,005 $ 27,906 $ 32,349 $ 21,810
Adjusted net income per share, basic 2, 12 $ 0.5206 $ 0.5245 $ 0.5774 $ 0.3901 $ 0.4390 $ 0.4711 $ 0.5461 $ 0.3682
Income from continuing operations 

per share, 11, 12

Basic $ 0.1887 $ 0.1091 $ 0.3781 $ 0.2775 $ 0.2404 $ 0.3310 $ 0.3590 $ 0.2562
Diluted $ 0.1883 $ 0.1089 $ 0.3781 $ 0.2775 $ 0.2404 $ 0.3310 $ 0.3590 $ 0.2562

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 
per share, 11, 12

Basic $ 0.0264 $ (0.0101) $ (0.1483) $ (0.1806) $ (0.0089) $ - $ (0.0064) $ (0.0041)
Diluted $ 0.0264 $ (0.0100) $ (0.1483) $ (0.1806) $ (0.0089) $ - $ (0.0064) $ (0.0041)

Net income per share 11, 12

Basic $ 0.2151 $ 0.0991 $ 0.2298 $ 0.0969 $ 0.2315 $ 0.3310 $ 0.3526 $ 0.2521
Diluted $ 0.2147 $ 0.0989 $ 0.2298 $ 0.0969 $ 0.2315 $ 0.3310 $ 0.3526 $ 0.2521
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1 Acquisition accounting adjustments consisted of fair value adjustments related to deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired in connection with the acquisition
of HFS.

2 Adjusted Revenue, EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin, Adjusted net income and Adjusted net income per share are non-
IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms. Income from operating activities is an additional IFRS term. See
Additional IFRS Measures for a more complete description of this term.

3 Acquisition-related and other charges for the fourth quarter of 2013 mainly consisted of business integration costs incurred in connection with the acquisition of
HFS and certain retention and incentive costs in connection with the recent acquisitions. Acquisition-related and other charges for the other periods included
certain retention and incentive costs related to the acquisitions, expenses related to cost-realignment initiatives and corporate development expenses related to
strategic acquisition initiatives. 

4 Upon acquisition of HFS, the Credit Facility replaced the Previous Credit Facility entered into in 2011, resulting in a write-off of the unamortized deferred debt
issuance costs related to the Previous Credit Facility.

5 Upon acquisition of the remaining interest in Compushare in January 2013, a non-cash gain related to re-measurement of the previously held equity interest was
recognized in accordance with IFRS standards.

6 Gain in the third quarter of 2013 was mainly attributable to the fair value changes of the foreign exchange forward contracts entered into by D+H to economically
hedge the foreign exchange risk arising from the proceeds denominated in U.S. dollar to fund the acquisition of HFS. Gains and losses in the other periods
included mark-to-market adjustments of interest-rate swaps that are not designated as hedges for hedge accounting purposes, and for which any change in the
fair value of these contracts is recorded through the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

7 On May 10, 2013, D+H completed the divestiture of its non-strategic business processing operations. The results of operations of these components were
included as part of business service solutions and loan servicing solutions in the Canadian Segment in prior periods. These components and the related transition
services have now been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. 

8 Non-cash interest charges relate to accretion of Debentures issued to partially fund the acquisition of HFS and amortization of deferred financing charges incurred
in connection with the Company’s financing arrangements. 

9 The adjustments to net income are tax effected at their respective tax rates.

10 Adjustments for the third quarters of 2013 and 2012 included a non-cash tax recovery related to liabilities recognized in connection with the acquisition of
Mortgagebot.  Adjustment for the third quarter of 2013 also included a one-time income tax expense arising from the revaluation of the Company’s deferred taxes
to reflect the change in future U.S. income tax rates resulting from the acquisition of HFS.

11 Diluted per share reflects the impacts of outstanding stock options. If the average market price during the period is below the option price plus the fair market
value of the option, then the options are not included in the dilution calculation for income from operating activities per share. Weighted average number of shares
outstanding on a diluted basis during the fourth quarter of 2013 was 80,906,132 shares.

12 Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the fourth quarter of 2013 was 80,738,373 shares.

D+H has generally reported quarterly revenues that are relatively stable and growing when measured on a year-over-year basis.

More recent changes in the economic environment, specifically the housing and mortgage markets and the auto lending markets,

have increased volatility. Also, there has also been increased volatility in personal cheque order volumes. Measured on a

sequential quarter-to-quarter basis, revenues can vary due to seasonality. Revenue for certain service offerings by D+H can

also vary based on the timing of work performed. Fees earned in connection with mortgage origination services and automobile

loan registration services are typically stronger in the second and third quarters than in the first and fourth quarters. The

acquisitions of Avista on May 3, 2012, Compushare on January 29, 2013 and HFS on August 16, 2013 increased revenues

and expenses. EBITDA was impacted by acquisition-accounting adjustments related to fair value of deferred revenues and

deferred costs, acquisition-related and other charges, including transaction costs, business integration costs and certain retention

and incentive costs related to acquisitions as well as other charges attributable to cost-realignment initiatives and strategic

acquisition initiatives that were not part of the normal course of operations. Adjusted EBITDA removes the impacts of these

items as these are not indicative of underlying business performance and management believes that excluding these items is

more reflective of ongoing operating results. 

Net income is variable as it has been affected by non-cash items such as acquisition accounting adjustments related to fair

value of deferred revenues and deferred costs, fair value adjustments of derivative instruments, amortization of intangible assets

from acquisitions, gain on re-measurement of the equity-interest held in Compushare and other items such as acquisition-related

and other charges, loss from discontinued operations, and changes in other non-cash interest and tax items. 
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Common Shares 

As at December 31, 2013 and February 25, 2014, D+H had the following common shares and potential common shares

outstanding:

• 80,738,373 common shares issued and outstanding (as at December 31, 2012 – 59,233,373),

• $230.0 million principal amount of Debentures outstanding (as at December 31, 2012 – nil). These Debentures are

convertible at the option of the holder to common shares at a conversion price of $28.90 per common share, representing

34.6021 common shares per $1,000 principal amount of the Debenture, for a total of 7,958,483 shares. Please refer 

to note 17 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 for 

further details.

• 916,028 stock options outstanding (as at December 31, 2012 – 726,821). Each stock option is exercisable into one

common share of the Company. Please refer to note 20 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for

the year ended December 31, 2013 for further details.

Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”)

The NCIB program expired in 2013. No shares were repurchased under the NCIB in 2013.

hedging

The Company primarily manages its foreign currency risk by way of economic hedges. Due to the Company’s debt structure,

substantially all gains and losses on the Company’s U.S. dollar denominated debt are recognized in other comprehensive income.

Furthermore, the Company intends to pay down its U.S. dollar denominated debt using $USD earned in its U.S. businesses.

Revenues earned and associated expenses incurred are also generally denominated in the same currency.

The Company also utilizes interest-rate swaps to hedge interest rate exposure and, from time to time, foreign exchange forward

contracts to hedge foreign currency risk. 

D+H | 2013 Annual Report 63



Interest-rate swaps

In respect of interest-rate swap contracts with its lenders, as of December 31, 2013, the Company’s borrowing rates on 40.8%

of outstanding long-term indebtedness under the Eighth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Credit Facility”) are

effectively fixed at the interest rates and for the time periods ending as outlined in the following table:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Fair value of interest-rate swaps

Maturity Date Notional amount Asset Liability Interest Rate1

December 18, 2014 2 $ 25,000 $ - $ 361 2.720%

March 18, 2015 2 25,000 - 514 2.940%

March 18, 2017 2 25,000 - 1,269 3.350%

March 20, 2017 2 20,000 - 1,026 3.366%

October 17, 2016 (US$25,000) 3 26,590 - 84 0.835%

October 17, 2016 (US$25,000) 3 26,590 - 84 0.835%

October 17, 2016 (US$25,000) 3 26,590 - 13 0.784%

October 17, 2018 (US$25,000) 3 26,590 - 39 1.645%

$ 201,360 $ - $ 3,390

1 The listed interest rates exclude bankers’ acceptance fees and prime-rate spreads currently in effect. Such fees and spreads could increase or decrease depending
on the Company’s financial leverage compared to certain levels specified in the Credit Facility agreement. Based on the financial leverage as at December 31,
2013, the Company’s long-term bank indebtedness will be subject to bankers’ acceptance fees of 2.25% over the applicable BA rate and prime rate spreads of
1.25% over the prime rate.

2 Not-designated as hedges for the purposes of hedge accounting. Fair value changes on these swaps impact the Consolidated Statements of Income.

3 Designated as hedges for the purposes of hedge accounting. Fair value changes on these swaps impact other comprehensive income.

During the year, the Company entered into four 3-month resetting interest-rate swaps totalling US$100.0  million

(US$25.0 million each), which mature on October 17, 2016 or October 17, 2018, as detailed in the table above, to fix interest

rates on its U.S. dollar denominated debt. These interest-rate swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges for hedge

accounting purposes.

As at December 31, 2013, the Company would have to pay $3.4 million if it were to close out all of its interest-rate swap

contracts as set out in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. It is not management’s present intention to close out

these contracts and the Company has historically held its derivative contracts to maturity.

Subsequent to December 31, 2013, the Company entered into a 3-month resetting interest-rate swap of US$25.0 million to

fix interest rates on its U.S. dollar denominated debt. Reflecting this interest rate swap, the Company’s borrowing rates would

have been effectively fixed for approximately 46.1% of the outstanding long-term indebtedness of D+H under the Credit Facility

agreement. This interest-rate swap has been designated as a cash flow hedge for hedge accounting purposes. 

Foreign exchange contracts 

The Company had no foreign exchange contracts in place at December 31, 2013. 

64 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 



Contractual obligations

Less than 1 – 3 4 – 5 After 5
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Total 1 year years years years

Long-term indebtedness $ 933,850 $ - $ - $ 574,030 $ 359,820

Debentures 230,000 - - 230,000 -

Operating leases 57,332 13,939 20,685 14,222 8,486

Employee future benefits 3,384 211 423 423 2,327

Purchase obligations 14,490 8,673 5,150 667 -

Obligations relating to deferred 

compensation program 8,542 3,946 4,596 - -

Other obligations 20,913 12,140 6,559 2,214 -

Total contractual obligations $1,268,511 $ 38,909 $ 37,413 $ 821,556 $ 370,663

Long-term indebtedness

As at December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Reference Interest Rate Maturity 2013 2012

Previous Credit Facility (secured) 1 BA/LIBOR + 1.50% Apr 2017 $ - $172,306

Secured Credit Facility (secured) 2

Revolver (US$25,000; C$42,000) 2a BA/LIBOR + 2.25% Aug 2018 68,590 -

Non-revolver I (US$400,000) 2b LIBOR + 2.25% Aug 2018 425,440 -

Credit facilities 494,030 172,306

Bond (secured) 3a 6.99% Jun 2017 50,000 50,000

Bond (secured) 3a 6.17% Jun 2017 30,000 30,000

Bond (secured) (US$63,000) 3a 6.59% Apr 2021 67,007 62,679

Bond (secured) (US$16,500) 3a 4.94% Jun 2022 17,549 16,416

Bond (secured) (US$15,000) 3a 4.94% Jun 2022 15,954 14,923

Bond (secured) 3b 5.76% Aug 2023 20,000 -

Bond (secured) (US$100,000) 3b 5.51% Aug 2023 106,360 -

Bond (secured) (US$75,000) 3b 5.51% Aug 2023 79,770 -

Bond (secured) (US$50,000) 3b 5.51% Aug 2023 53,180 -

Bonds 439,820 174,018

933,850 346,324

Deferred finance costs (9,721) (5,747)

$ 924,129 $340,577

The Company has guaranteed all of the obligations under the Credit Facility and bonds, with such guarantees secured by a

security interest over all the Company’s assets.
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The table below lists committed and uncommitted arrangements available to D+H. Uncommitted arrangements are subject to

the prior approval of the relevant lenders with any fees, spreads and other additional terms to be negotiated at that time:

As at December 31, 2013

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Committed Uncommitted Outstanding Available

Revolver $ 355,000 $ - $ 68,590 $ 286,410

Non-revolver I 425,440 - 425,440 -

Uncommitted arrangements - 100,000 - 100,000

Credit Facility 780,440 100,000 494,030 386,410

Bonds 439,820 93,816 439,820 93,816

$1,220,260 $ 193,816 $ 933,850 $ 480,226

The Company partially financed the HFS acquisition through the Credit Facility. Subsequent to the HFS acquisition, the Company

repaid US$244.0 million of the total amounts drawn under the Non-revolver II (further described below) from the proceeds of

US$225.0 million and $20.0 million of issued bonds. The non-revolving, non-amortizing secured Credit Facility and bonds are

noted in the table above and further described below.

1. previous Credit facility: Effective August 16, 2013, the Seventh Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Previous

Credit Facility”) was replaced with the Credit Facility. 

2. Credit facility: the Credit Facility provides for the following: 

2a. A revolving term credit facility in the amount of $355.0 million (“Revolver”),

2b. A non-revolving, non-amortizing term credit facility in the amount of US$400.0  million ($425.4  million) 

(“Non-revolver I”).

A non-revolving, non-amortizing term credit facility in the amount of US $244.0 million (“Non-revolver II”) was also available

on August 16, 2013. The Credit Facility matures on August 16, 2018, however Non-revolver I and Non-revolver II (collectively

“Non-revolver I and II”) are available as a single drawdown for the purposes of financing the HFS acquisition and following

the drawdown, both facilities were permanently reduced to the amount drawn ($425.4 million and US$244.0 million,

respectively). On August 26, 2013, Non-revolver II was fully repaid with proceeds from the newly issued bonds (see 3b

below) and does not provide for additional borrowings. Non-revolver I’s borrowing capacity will be permanently reduced

upon any payments by the Company on outstanding balances. 

Drawings under the Credit Facility bear interest at the applicable floating rate plus a margin. The margin can vary based on

leverage as determined by the Total Funded Debt/EBITDA ratio, as described below.

The replacement of the Previous Credit Facility with the Credit Facility resulted in a $3.2 million loss associated with the

write-off of unamortized deferred debt issuance costs pertaining to the Previous Credit Facility. This loss was recognized in

finance expenses – other finance charges in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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3. bonds:

3a. During the year ended December 31, 2013, all of D+H’s secured bonds that were outstanding as at December 31,

2012 had their coupon rates increased by 1% per annum on a temporary basis until the Company’s Total Funded

Debt/EBITDA Ratio (described below) is less than 3.00 for two consecutive fiscal quarters. 

Effective January 1, 2014, the Company expects the coupon rates to be reduced by the additional 1% as the Company’s

Total Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio has been less than 3.00 for the two previous fiscal quarters.

3b. On August 26, 2013, D+H issued in aggregate proceeds US$225.0 million and $20.0 million of senior secured bonds,

the proceeds of which were used to refinance amounts drawn under the Non-revolver II. 

As at December 31, 2013, the average effective interest rate on the Company’s total indebtedness, including the

Debentures, was 4.8%, compared to 4.5% at December 31, 2012.

Covenants

The Company’s indebtedness is subject to a number of covenants and restrictions including the requirement to meet certain

financial ratios and financial condition tests. One such ratio is the Total Funded Debt / EBITDA Ratio (“Debt to EBITDA ratio”).

As at December 31, 2013, this ratio was calculated at 2.93 (December 31, 2012 – 1.76). 

Debt to EBITDA ratio – foreign exchange impact

The Canadian dollar has experienced volatility in the latter part of 2013 and this trend is expected to continue in 2014. The Debt

to EBITDA ratio is impacted by this volatility as the Company’s U.S. dollar denominated borrowings are translated at the period-

end exchange rate while EBITDA (as it pertains to this ratio), denominated in local currencies, is translated at average exchange

rates for the period. The acquisition of HFS in the third quarter of 2013 significantly changed the Company’s debt structure. As

such, in order to assess management’s capital management efforts post the HFS acquisition, management eliminates the impact

of foreign exchange from this ratio by calculating it using the applicable rates for the period ended September 30, 2013. As such,

the Debt to EBITDA ratio, after removing the impacts of foreign exchange fluctuations, was 2.87.

Total Funded Debt / EBITDA Ratio – calculation

Total Funded Debt includes all of the Company’s outstanding indebtedness, amounts capitalized under finance leases, bankers’

acceptances and letters of credit. Debentures are excluded from Total Funded Debt.

EBITDA, for the purposes of the Total Funded Debt / EBITDA Ratio, is calculated on a twelve-month trailing basis as Net income

plus: interest expense, depreciation and amortization, income tax and capital tax expenses, other non-cash expenses and certain

restructuring and transaction expenses, to the extent expensed in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Other add-backs to

Net income include changes in the Company’s deferred revenue balance and impacts of acquisition accounting adjustments

affecting revenue with respect to the HFS acquisition.

For a complete definition of Total Funded Debt / EBITDA ratio, refer to the Credit Facility filed on www.sedar.com.
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debentures

On August 13, 2013, the Company issued $230.0 million principal amount of 6.00% convertible unsecured subordinated

debentures (“Debentures”) for net proceeds of $220.6 million. These Debentures pay interest semi-annually on March 31 and

September 30, commencing with the initial interest payment on March 31, 2014 and have a maturity date of September 30,

2018. The Debentures are convertible at the option of the holder to common shares at a conversion price of $28.90 per common

share. The Company has the option to redeem the Debentures on and after September 30, 2016 and at any time prior to

September 30, 2017 at a redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest provided

that the current market price of the common shares is at least 125% of the conversion price of $28.90. On or after September 30,

2017 and prior to September 30, 2018, the Debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part at the option of the Company at

a redemption price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. On redemption or maturity the Company

may elect to repay the principal and satisfy its interest obligations by issuing D+H common shares. The Debentures will be the

Corporation’s direct obligations and will not be secured by any mortgage, pledge, hypothec or other charge and will be

subordinated to the Corporation’s other liabilities.

operating leases

D+H rents facilities, equipment and vehicles under various operating leases. At December 31, 2013, minimum payments under

these lease obligations totalled $57.3 million.

Employee future benefits

Obligations relating to employee future benefits relate to the Company’s non-pension post-retirement benefit plans. The latest

actuarial valuation of the post-retirement benefit plans was performed as of December 31, 2013.

purchase obligations

Purchase obligations consist of agreements to purchase goods and services that are enforceable and legally binding and that

specify all significant terms, including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased, price provisions and timing of the transaction.

obligations relating to the deferred compensation program

The Company’s deferred compensation program as at December 31, 2013 consisted of two components: (i) restricted share

units plan (“RSUs”) and (ii) performance share units plan (“PSUs”). Both components have a three-year vesting period and are

cash-settled share-based compensation. The RSUs vest 1/3 on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of January 1

of the calendar year in which the award of RSUs is made whereas the PSUs vest on the third anniversary of January 1 of the

calendar year in which the award of PSUs is made. The PSUs also have a performance target which is based on the annual

three-year change in earnings per share during the vesting period as measured against a performance grid set for a specific

period. The per share earnings is a derivative calculation of pre-incentive Adjusted net income before taxes, as well as certain

other adjustments made from time to time as approved by the Human Resources Compensation Committee. The fair value

amount payable is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities over the three-year vesting period. The

liability is re-measured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized

in profit or loss.

other obligations

Other obligations include retention and incentive obligations related to the acquisitions along with certain lease related liabilities.
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Selected Annual information

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share amounts, unaudited) 2013 20123 20113

Revenues $ 837,093 $ 695,456 $ 655,714

Income from continuing operations $ 61,704 $ 70,288 $ 91,139

Per share, basic 1 $ 0.9160 $ 1.1866 $ 1.5830

Per share, diluted 1 $ 0.9149 $ 1.1866 $ 1.5830

Net income $ 43,652 $ 69,137 $ 89,928

Per share, basic 1 $ 0.6480 $ 1.1672 $ 1.5620

Per share, diluted 1 $ 0.6472 $ 1.1672 $ 1.5620

Total assets $ 2,913,817 $1,264,466 $1,246,978

Total non-current financial liabilities 2 $ 1,145,987 $ 351,379 $ 359,958

Total non-current liabilities $ 1,534,891 $ 449,165 $ 430,453

Dividends paid per share $ 1.2800 $ 1.2500 $ 1.2233

1 Weighted average number of shares outstanding during 2013 was 67,364,031 shares (2012 – 59,233,373 shares; 2011 – 57,573,099 shares). Weighted
average number of shares outstanding during 2013, on a diluted basis, was 67,443,419 shares (2012 – 59,233,373 shares; 2011 – 57,573,099 shares).

2 Non-current financial liabilities include: derivative liabilities held for risk management, loans and borrowings, Debentures and other long-term liabilities.

3 Balances restated to reflect discontinued operations. See ‘Divestiture’ section.

revenue

Consolidated revenues for 2013 were $837.1  million, an increase of $141.6  million, compared to 2012. The increase 

in revenues was primarily due to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare revenues and growth in certain other areas, as 

described above. 

Consolidated revenues for 2012 were $695.5 million, an increase of $39.7 million, compared to 2011. The increase was

primarily due to growth in Mortgagebot and the inclusion of Avista acquired on May 3, 2012, in the U.S. segment. 

income from continuing operations and income from continuing operations per share, basic and diluted

Income from continuing operations for 2013 was $61.7 million compared to $70.3 million for 2012. The decrease was primarily

attributable to acquisition-related and other charges as described earlier, higher amortization of intangible assets from acquisitions

as a result of the HFS acquisition, higher interest expense on debt drawn to fund the HFS acquisition and the write-off of deferred

finance fees related to the Previous Credit Facility, partially offset by a higher gain on fair value changes related to derivative

instruments and a lower income tax expense compared to 2012. Income from continuing operations per share for 2013, both

basic and diluted, were also impacted by additional common shares issued in connection with the acquisition of HFS.

Income from continuing operations for 2012 was $70.3 million, a decrease of $20.9 million compared to 2011. The decrease

was primarily attributable to a higher income tax expense as income from continuing operations from 2011 benefitted from

inclusion of non-cash tax recoveries of $20.8 million attributable to D+H’s conversion to a corporation. Income from continuing

operations per share in 2012, both basic and diluted, was also impacted by additional common shares issued in connection

with the acquisition of Mortgagebot in April 2011.
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Net income and Net income per share, basic and diluted

Net income of $43.7 million for 2013 was lower by $25.5 million, compared to $69.1 million for 2012, primarily due to transaction

costs and acquisition related charges in connection with the acquisition of HFS, an increase in amortization of intangible assets

from acquisitions, interest on incremental debt and acquisition-related charges incurred in connection with the acquisition of

HFS, and loss from discontinued operations of $18.1 million, net of taxes. This decrease was partially offset by the benefits of

fair value changes related to derivative instruments of $6.2 million and a gain on re-measurement of previously held equity

interest in Compushare for 2013. Net income per share for 2013, both basic and diluted, was also impacted by additional

common shares issued in connection with the acquisition of HFS.

Net income for 2012 was $69.1 million, a decrease of $20.8 million compared to 2011. The decrease was primarily attributable

to an increased income tax expense as net income from 2011 benefited from inclusion of non-cash tax recoveries of $20.8 million

attributable to D+H’s conversion to a corporation. Net income per share for 2012, both basic and diluted, was also impacted

by additional common shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Mortgagebot in April 2011.

total assets

Total assets of $2.9 billion at December 31, 2013 increased by $1.6 billion compared to December 31, 2012. The increase

mainly relates to $734.8 million of additional intangible assets and $817.8 million of additional goodwill resulting from the HFS,

and to a lesser extent, the Compushare acquisitions. Other increases in cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, both

current and non-current, prepayments and other current assets, property plant and equipment and other assets were also mainly

due to the HFS acquisition. 

Total assets of $1,264.5 million at December 31, 2012 increased by $17.5 million compared to December 31, 2011. The

increase related to the acquisition of Avista, acquisition of a minority interest in Compushare by the Company and an increase

in cash and accounts receivable balances as at December 31, 2012, compared to December 31, 2011. The increase in cash

was attributable to timing of payments, and the increase in accounts receivable was related to higher revenues in 2012 than

2011. The increase was partially offset by amortization of acquisition intangible assets.

total non-current financial liabilities

Total non-current financial liabilities at December 31, 2013 of $1.1 billion increased by $0.8 billion from total non-current financial

liabilities at December 31, 2012. The increase was primarily driven by drawings from the Non-revolver I under the Credit Facility

and issuance of bonds and Debentures, as further described above, in connection with the HFS acquisition. 

Total non-current financial liabilities at December 31, 2012 of $351.4 million decreased by $8.6 million from total non-current

financial liabilities at December 31, 2011. This decrease was primarily driven by a lower liability at December 31, 2012 associated

with D+H’s outstanding derivative instruments and debt repayments.

total non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities at December 31, 2013 of $1.5 billion increased by $1.1 billion from total non-current liabilities at

December 31, 2012. The increase was primarily driven by drawings from the Non-revolver I, issuance of bonds and Debentures,

and a higher deferred tax liability, all resulting in connection with the HFS acquisition.

Total non-current liabilities at December 31, 2012 of $449.2 million increased by $18.7 million from total non-current liabilities

at December 31, 2011. This increase was mainly due to an increase in deferred tax liabilities attributable to intangible assets

related to acquisitions, temporary differences related to capitalized software development expenses and increased deferred

partnership income. 
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dividends per share

Cash dividends declared and paid in 2013 were $1.28 per share, compared to cash dividends declared and paid of $1.25 per

share in 2012. 

Cash dividends declared and paid in 2011 were $1.07 per share, in addition to a $0.15 per share distribution that was paid in

January 2011 (declared on December 31, 2012 when D+H was an income trust). As such, total payments in 2011 to

shareholders were $1.22 per share.

operating results – fourth Quarter of 2013
Quarter ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts, unaudited) 2013 2012

Revenues $ 259,075 $ 172,457

Expenses 190,876 131,082

EBITDA 1 68,199 41,375

Depreciation of capital assets and amortization of non-acquisition intangibles 10,937 7,568

Amortization of intangible assets from acquisitions 27,631 11,292

Income from operating activities 29,631 22,515

Interest expense 15,509 4,629

Loss from investment in an associate, net of tax 2 - 23

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 3 (138) (542)

Income tax expense (recovery) (975) 4,165

Income from continuing operations 15,235 14,240

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 4 2,133 (529)

Net income $ 17,368 $ 13,711

Income from continuing operations per share,

Basic 5 $ 0.1887 $ 0.2404

Diluted 6 $ 0.1883 $ 0.2404

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, per share, net of tax 4

Basic 5 $ 0.0264 $ (0.0089)

Diluted 6 $ 0.0264 $ (0.0089)

Net income per share

Basic 5 $ 0.2151 $ 0.2315

Diluted 6 $ 0.2147 $ 0.2315

1 EBITDA is a non-IFRS term. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of this term. 

2 Loss from investment in an associate consists of D+H’s share of loss from Compushare, the minority investment purchased on April 24, 2012. 

3 Balance represents mark-to-market adjustments of interest-rate swaps that are not designated as hedges for hedge accounting purposes, and for which any
change in the fair value of these contracts is recorded through the Consolidated Statements of Income.

4 On May 10, 2013 D+H divested its non-strategic business processing operations. These operations were reported as part of business service solutions and
loan servicing in prior periods and have now been classified as discontinued operations for both the current and comparative periods presented. Income during
the fourth quarter of 2013 mainly related to a working capital adjustment.

5 Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the fourth quarter of 2013 was 80,738,373 shares (Q4 2012 – 59,233,373 shares).

6 Diluted per share measure reflects the impacts of outstanding stock options. If the average market price during the period is below the option price plus the fair
market value of the option, then the options are not included in the dilution calculation for income from operating activities per share. Weighted average number
of shares outstanding, on a diluted basis, during the fourth quarter of 2013 was 80,906,132 (Q4 2012 – 59,233,373 shares).
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Quarter ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Revenues $ 259,075 $ 172,457

Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 13,058 -

Adjusted revenues 2 $ 272,133 $ 172,457

1 Fair value of the deferred revenue balance acquired with the acquisition of HFS was adjusted to reflect estimated costs of future delivery of services. This add-
back represents the amortization of the deferred revenue that was written-off.

2 Adjusted revenues is a non-IFRS term. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of this term. 

Quarter ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Revenues $ 259,075 $ 172,457

Expenses 190,876 131,082

EBITDA 1 68,199 41,375

EBITDA Margin 1 26.3% 24.0%

Adjustments:

Acquisition accounting adjustments 2 9,217 -

Acquisition-related and other charges 3 3,842 6,558

Adjusted EBITDA 1 $ 81,258 $ 47,933

Adjusted EBITDA Margin 1 29.9% 27.8%

1 EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description
of these terms. 

2 Acquisition accounting adjustments relate to the amortization of the fair value adjustments on deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired in connection with
the acquisition of HFS. See “Adjusted revenues” and “Adjusted EBITDA” in the Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms.

3 Acquisition-related and other charges for Q4 2013 included business integration costs related to the acquisition of HFS and retention and incentive costs in
connection with the acquisitions of businesses. Acquisition-related and other charges for Q4 2012 included transaction costs and certain retention and incentive
costs related to the Mortgagebot and Avista acquisitions, charges related to cost-realignment initiatives, corporate development expenses related to strategic
acquisition initiatives and business integration costs.
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Quarter ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Net income $ 17,368 $ 13,711

Adjustments:

Non-cash items:

Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 9,217 -

Non-cash interest expense 2 1,349 -

Amortization of intangible assets from acquisitions 27,631 11,292

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 3 (138) (542)

Other items of note:

Acquisition-related and other charges 4 3,842 6,558

Tax effect of above adjustments 5 (15,100) (5,543)

Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 6 (2,133) 529

Adjusted net income 7 $ 42,036 $ 26,005

Adjusted net income per share, basic 7, 8 $ 0.5206 $ 0.4390

Quarter ended December 31,

2013 vs. 2012
% change

Adjusted net income 7 61.6%

Adjusted net income per share, basic 7, 8 18.6%

1 Acquisition accounting adjustments relate to the amortization of the fair value adjustments on deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired in connection with
the acquisition of HFS. 

2 Non-cash interest charges relate to accretion of Debentures issued to partially fund the acquisition of HFS and amortization of deferred financing charges incurred
in connection with the Company’s financing arrangements. 

3 Amounts include mark-to-market adjustments of interest-rate swaps that are not designated as hedges for hedge accounting purposes, and for which any change
in the fair value of these contracts is recorded through the Consolidated Statements of Income.

4 Acquisition-related and other charges included business integration costs related to the acquisition of HFS and retention and incentive costs in connection with
the acquisitions of businesses. Acquisition-related and other charges for Q4 2012 included transaction costs and certain retention and incentive costs related
to the Mortgagebot and Avista acquisitions, charges related to cost-realignment initiatives, corporate development expenses related to strategic acquisition
initiatives and business integration costs.

5 The adjustments to net income are tax effected at their respective tax rates.

6 On May 10, 2013 D+H divested its non-strategic business processing operations. The results of these components were included as part of business service
solutions and loan servicing solutions in the Canadian Segment in prior periods. These components and the related transition services have been classified as
discontinued operations for all periods presented.

7 Adjusted net income and Adjusted net income per share are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms. 

8 Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the fourth quarter of 2013 was 80,738,373 shares (Q4 2012 – 59,233,373 shares).
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operating results by Segment

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Quarter ended December 31,

Canadian Segment U.S. Segment Corporate Consolidated

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenues $ 159,193 $157,070 $ 99,882 $ 15,387 $ - $ - $ 259,075 $172,457

Acquisition accounting 

adjustments 1 - - 13,058 - - - 13,058 -

Adjusted revenues 2 $ 159,193 $157,070 $ 112,940 $ 15,387 $ - $ - $ 272,133 $172,457

1 Fair value of the deferred revenue balance acquired with the acquisition of HFS was adjusted to reflect estimated costs of future delivery of services. This add-
back represents the amortization of the deferred revenue that was written-off.

2 Adjusted revenues is a non-IFRS term. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of this term. 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Quarter ended December 31,

Canadian Segment U.S. Segment Corporate Consolidated

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenues $ 159,193 $157,070 $ 99,882 $ 15,387 $ - $ - $ 259,075 $172,457

Expenses 119,052 115,825 67,982 8,699 3,842 6,558 190,876 131,082

EBITDA 1 40,141 41,245 31,900 6,688 (3,842) (6,558) 68,199 41,375

EBITDA Margin 1 25.2% 26.3% 31.9% 43.5% - - 26.3% 24.0%

Adjustments:

Acquisition accounting 

adjustments 2 - - 9,217 - - - 9,217 -

Acquisition-related and 

other charges 3 - - - - 3,842 6,558 3,842 6,558

Adjusted EBITDA 1 $ 40,141 $ 41,245 $ 41,117 $ 6,688 $ - $ - $ 81,258 $ 47,933

Adjusted EBITDA Margin 1 25.2% 26.3% 36.4% 43.5% - - 29.9% 27.8%

1 EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description
of these terms. 

2 Acquisition accounting adjustments relate to the amortization of the fair value adjustments on deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired in connection with
the acquisition of HFS. See “Adjusted revenues” and “Adjusted EBITDA” in the Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms.

3 Acquisition-related and other charges for Q4 2013 included business integration costs related to the acquisition of HFS and retention and incentive costs in
connection with the acquisitions of businesses. Acquisition-related and other charges for Q4 2012 included transaction costs and certain retention and incentive
costs related to the Mortgagebot and Avista acquisitions, charges related to cost-realignment initiatives, corporate development expenses related to strategic
acquisition initiatives and business integration costs.
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Quarter ended December 31,

Canadian U.S. 
Segment Segment Consolidated 

2013 vs. 2012 2013 vs. 2012 2013 vs. 2012
% change % change % change

Revenues 1.4% 549.1% 50.2%

Adjusted revenues 1 1.4% 634.0% 57.8%

Adjusted EBITDA 1 (2.7%) 514.8% 69.5%

1 Adjusted revenues and Adjusted EBITDA are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms. 

revenues and Adjusted revenues

Revenues and Adjusted Revenues – Consolidated

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Quarter ended December 31,

Canadian Segment U.S. Segment Consolidated

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Adjusted Adjusted 
Revenues Revenues Revenues Adjustment1 revenues2 Revenues Revenues Adjustment1 revenues2 Revenues

Payments solutions $ 75,958 $ 76,113 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 75,958 $ - $ 75,958 $ 76,113

Lending processing solutions 67,852 63,683 - - - - 67,852 - 67,852 63,683

Banking technology solutions

Enterprise - - 53,115 1,910 55,025 - 53,115 1,910 55,025 -

Lending 15,383 17,274 46,767 11,148 57,915 15,387 62,150 11,148 73,298 32,661

Total Revenues $159,193 $157,070 $ 99,882 $ 13,058 $112,940 $ 15,387 $259,075 $ 13,058 $272,133 $172,457

1 Adjustment is related to non-cash fair value adjustment to deferred revenues acquired in connection with the acquisition of HFS. Fair value of the deferred revenue
balance was adjusted to reflect estimated costs of future delivery of the services. This add-back represents the amortization of the deferred revenue that was
written-off.

2 Adjusted revenues is a non-IFRS term. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of this term. 

Consolidated Adjusted revenues for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $272.1 million, an increase of $99.7 million, or 57.8%,

compared to the same period in 2012. This increase was primarily due to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare revenues

effective August 16, 2013 and January 29, 2013, respectively, in the U.S. Segment and growth in our other SaaS businesses

in the U.S. Also contributing to this increase, but to a lesser extent, was revenue growth from lending processing solutions in

the Canadian Segment. 

Consolidated revenues for the fourth quarter of 2013 were $259.1 million, an increase of $86.6 million, or 50.2%, compared

to the same period in 2012. Revenues for the fourth quarter in 2013 were impacted by the fair value adjustment to deferred

revenues acquired from HFS. 
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Revenues – Canadian Segment

Total revenues in the Canadian Segment for the fourth quarter of 2013 of $159.2 million, increased by $2.1 million, or 1.4%,

compared to the same quarter in 2012. Adjusted revenues are the same as revenues for the Canadian Segment as this segment

was not subject to acquisition accounting adjustments. 

Payments Solutions

Revenues from payments solutions for the fourth quarter of 2013 were $76.0 million, a decrease of $0.2 million, or 0.2%,

compared to the same quarter in 2012. Revenues from payments solutions reflected volume declines in cheque orders partially

offset by the positive impact of higher average order values and product and service enhancements in the chequing and credit

card programs. 

Lending Processing Solutions

Lending processing solutions revenues for the fourth quarter of 2013 were $67.9 million, an increase of $4.2 million, or 6.5%,

compared to the same quarter in 2012. The increase was mainly due to higher transaction volumes in registration and recovery

services reflecting a continuing recovery within the auto and auto lending markets and higher average order values combined

with higher volumes in the student loans program. 

Banking Technology Solutions – Lending

Revenues in the fourth quarter of 2013 from banking technology solutions within the Canadian Segment were $15.4 million, a

decrease of $1.9 million, or 10.9%, compared to the same quarter in 2012. Fourth quarter 2013 revenues reflected lower

mortgage origination fees resulting from strategic price modifications. We expect the impact of strategic price modifications to

be fully accounted for by the end of the second quarter of 2014. Origination volumes during the quarter remained relatively

unchanged compared to the same period in 2012. 

Revenues and Adjusted Revenues – U.S. Segment

Total revenues in the U.S. Segment for the fourth quarter of 2013 of $99.9 million increased by $84.5 million, or 549.1%,

compared to the same quarter in 2012. Fourth quarter Adjusted revenues for the U.S. Segment of $112.9 million were

$97.6 million, or 634.0%, ahead of the same period of 2012. The sharp increase in revenues and Adjusted revenues in the

fourth quarter of 2013 was primarily due to the inclusion of HFS and to a lesser degree, Compushare. A strong U.S. dollar in

the latter part of the year compared to the prior year benefited Adjusted revenues in the U.S. Segment by $6.3 million. This

impact was calculated using the methodology described previously.

Enterprise Solutions

Revenue from enterprise solutions within the U.S. Segment for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $53.1 million. 

Adjusted revenues, which are calculated after removing the impacts of purchase accounting adjustments related to fair value 

of deferred revenues, were $55.0 million for the fourth quarter of 2013. There were no comparable figures for the same period

in 2012. 
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Lending Solutions

Revenue from lending solutions in the U.S. Segment for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $46.8 million, an increase of $31.4 million,

or 203.9%, compared to $15.4 million for the same period in 2012. Revenues for the fourth quarter of 2013 benefited from

inclusion of HFS since its acquisition on August 16, 2013. Revenues recorded under IFRS for the fourth quarter of 2013 were

impacted by acquisition-accounting adjustments related to fair value of deferred revenue acquired through the acquisition of

HFS. Adjusted revenues of $57.9 million, which removed these acquisition accounting impacts, increased by $42.5 million

compared to the same quarter in 2012, due to the inclusion of HFS. 

In our other SaaS businesses in the U.S., year-over-year increases in revenues were attributable to higher subscription fees

from a growing customer base and were partially offset by the impact of lower re-financing activity compared to a year ago

when historically low interest rates encouraged consumers to re-finance their mortgages. 

Expenses 

Expenses – Consolidated 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) Quarter ended December 31,

Canadian Segment U.S. Segment Corporate Consolidated

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Employee compensation 

and benefits 1 $ 40,454 $ 36,433 $ 42,179 $ 4,697 $ 878 $ 3,284 $ 83,511 $ 44,414

Non-compensation 

direct expenses 2 58,949 58,708 6,956 269 - - 65,905 58,977

Other operating 

expenses 3 19,649 20,684 18,847 3,733 2,964 3,274 41,460 27,691

Total Expenses $ 119,052 $115,825 $ 67,982 $ 8,699 $ 3,842 $ 6,558 $ 190,876 $131,082

1 Employee compensation and benefits on a consolidated basis includes retention and incentive expenses related to acquisitions of businesses and share-based
compensation expenses and are net of apprenticeship tax credits and amounts capitalized related to software product development. 

2 Non-compensation direct expenses include materials, shipping, selling expenses, royalties and third party direct disbursements. 

3 Other operating expenses include occupancy costs, communication costs, professional fees, contractor fees, transaction costs related to acquisitions of
businesses, corporate development costs related to strategic acquisition initiatives and expenses not included in other categories. Other operating expenses in
the Canadian Segment are net of management fees charged to the U.S. segment by the Canadian Segment.

Consolidated expenses of $190.9 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 increased by $59.8 million, or 45.6%, compared to 

the same quarter in 2012. The increase was attributable to the inclusion of HFS expenses effective from August 16, 2013 

and Compushare expenses effective from January 29, 2013. Consolidated expenses also included acquisition-related and 

other charges of $3.8 million for the fourth quarter of 2013, which are not considered reflective of normal course operations

and are disclosed as part of Corporate. Acquisition-related and other charges of $6.6 million were recorded in the fourth quarter

of 2012. 
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Expenses – Canadian Segment

Total Canadian Segment expenses for the fourth quarter of 2013 of $119.1 million, increased $3.2 million, or 2.8%, compared

to the same quarter in 2012. 

Employee compensation and benefits costs of $40.5 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 for the Canadian Segment were

higher by $4.0 million, or 11.0%, compared to the same quarter in 2012. The increase was primarily due to an increase in share-

based compensation expense attributable to an increase in the share price of D+H partially offset by savings realized from

cost-realignment initiatives.

Non-compensation direct expenses for the Canadian Segment were $58.9 million for the fourth quarter of 2013, an increase

of $0.2 million, or 0.4%, compared to the same quarter in 2012. In general, these expenses directionally change with revenue

changes. An increase in direct costs associated with the lending processing solutions area, consistent with the increase in

revenues, was partially offset by savings realized from cost-realignment initiatives.

Other operating expenses of $19.6 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 decreased by $1.0 million, or 5.0%, compared to the

same quarter in 2012. The decrease in the fourth quarter of 2013 was due to cost efficiencies realized from transformation and

integration activities. 

Expenses – U.S. Segment

Total expenses for the U.S. Segment for the fourth quarter of 2013 were $68.0 million, an increase of $59.3 million, or 681.5%,

compared to the same quarter in 2012 with the increase mainly attributable to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare. 

Employee compensation and benefits costs of $42.2 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 for the U.S. Segment increased by

$37.5 million compared to the same period in 2012. Non-compensation direct expenses for the U.S. Segment of $7.0 million

for the fourth quarter of 2013 were higher by $6.7 million compared to the same period in 2012. Other operating expenses of

$18.8 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 were higher by $15.1 million, compared to the same quarter in 2012. These increases

were primarily attributable to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare expenses. Other operating expenses also included a

management fee, for corporate-related services, charged to the U.S. Segment by the Canadian Segment.

Expenses – Corporate

Employee compensation and benefits 

Employee compensation and benefits expenses of $0.9 million recorded as corporate expenses for the fourth quarter of 2013

consisted of retention and incentive expenses incurred in connection with the acquisitions. For the fourth quarter of 2012,

expenses of $3.3 million consisted of charges related to cost-realignment initiatives of $1.2 million, and retention and incentive

expenses of $2.1 million incurred in connection with Avista and Mortgagebot acquisitions.

Other expenses

Other expenses of $3.0 million mainly consisted of business integration costs incurred in connection with the acquisition of

HFS. For the same period in 2012, other operating expenses of $3.3 million included corporate development expenses related

to strategic acquisition initiatives and business integration costs.
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EbitdA and EbitdA Margin

Consolidated EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $68.2 million, an increase of $26.8 million, or 64.8%, compared to

$41.4 million for the same quarter in 2012. Fourth quarter 2013 EBITDA margin of 26.3% was higher than the 24.0% margin

for the same period in 2012. 

Canadian Segment

Canadian Segment EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $40.1 million, a decrease of $1.1 million, or 2.7%, compared

to the same quarter in 2012. EBITDA margin for the Canadian Segment for the fourth quarter was 25.2%, compared to 26.3%

for the same period in 2012. 

U.S. Segment

U.S. Segment EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $31.9 million, an increase of $25.2 million, compared to the same

quarter in 2012. EBITDA margin was 31.9% for the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to 43.5% a year ago.

Adjusted EbitdA and Adjusted EbitdA Margin

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA during the fourth quarter of 2013 was $81.3 million, an increase of $33.3 million, or 69.5%,

compared to the same quarter in 2012, primarily due to the inclusion of HFS. Adjusted EBITDA growth in the U.S. Segment for

the three-month period in 2013 was partially offset by a lower Canadian Segment Adjusted EBITDA.

Fourth quarter 2013 consolidated Adjusted EBITDA was calculated by removing (i) $9.2 million of acquisition accounting

adjustments to fair value of deferred revenues and deferred costs associated with the acquisition of HFS; and (ii) acquisition-

related and other charges of $3.8 million, consisting of business integration costs incurred in connection with the acquisition of

HFS and retention and incentive costs and integration expenses associated with acquisitions. 

On a consolidated basis, Adjusted EBITDA margin for the fourth quarter of 2013 was 29.9%, compared to 27.8% for the same

period in 2012, due to the inclusion of HFS in the U.S. Segment. Although HFS has lower margins than our other U.S. Segment

offerings, it has a higher margin than the overall Canadian Segment. 

Canadian Segment

Canadian Segment Adjusted EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $40.1 million, a decrease of $1.1 million, or 2.7%,

compared to the same quarter in 2012. Adjusted EBITDA was impacted by lower cheque volumes, lower mortgage origination

fees resulting from pricing modifications and an increase in share-based compensation as described above. The decrease in

Adjusted EBITDA was partially offset by growth in product and service enhancements in the chequing and credit card programs,

higher transaction volumes in registration and recovery services and savings realized from recent transformation and cost-

realignment activities in the Canadian Segment.

Canadian Segment Adjusted EBITDA margin for the fourth quarter was 25.2% compared to 26.3% for the same period in

2012. Adjusted EBITDA is the same as EBITDA in the Canadian Segment. Lower margins in the fourth quarter of 2013 were

primarily due to changes in product mix resulting from factors impacting Adjusted EBITDA described above, partially offset by

savings realized from recent transformation and cost-realignment activities.
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U.S. Segment

Adjusted EBITDA for the U.S. Segment during the fourth quarter of 2013 was $41.1 million, an increase of $34.4 million, or

514.8%, compared to the same quarter in 2012 mainly due to the inclusion of HFS and Compushare.

Adjusted EBITDA in the U.S. Segment excluded the impacts of $9.2 million attributable to acquisition accounting adjustments

related to fair value of deferred revenues and deferred costs on D+H’s acquisition of HFS, in accordance with IFRS, which

consisted of $13.1 million of acquisition accounting adjustments related to fair value of deferred revenues and $3.8 million 

of fair value adjustments related to deferred costs. A strong U.S. dollar in the latter part of the year compared to the prior 

year benefited Adjusted EBITDA in the U.S. Segment by $2.2 million. This impact was calculated using the methodology 

described previously.

Adjusted EBITDA margin for the U.S. Segment for the fourth quarter of 2013 was 36.4%, compared to 43.5% for the same

period in 2012. As described earlier, HFS margins are lower than the previously combined SaaS offerings in the U.S. Segment,

which resulted in a lower Adjusted EBITDA margin in 2013, compared to 2012.

depreciation of Capital Assets and Amortization of Non-Acquisition intangible Assets

Consolidated depreciation of capital assets and amortization of non-acquisition intangible assets of $10.9 million in the fourth

quarter of 2013 increased by $3.4 million, or 44.5%, compared to the same period in 2012 due to the inclusion of HFS and

Compushare. Depreciation of capital assets and amortization of non-acquisition intangible assets can be impacted by timing of

capital expenditures and completion of projects.

Amortization of intangible Assets from Acquisitions

Consolidated amortization of acquisition intangible assets for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $27.6 million, an increase of

$16.3 million, compared to the same period in 2012. The increase for the fourth quarter was attributable to the amortization

resulting from the acquisitions of HFS and Compushare. 

income from operating Activities

Consolidated income from operating activities was $29.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2013, an increase

of $7.1 million, or 31.6%, compared to $22.5 million for the same quarter in 2012. The increase in the fourth quarter of 

2013 was as a result of an increase in EBITDA as described above. Income from operating activities was impacted by

acquisition-related costs and other charges in connection with the HFS acquisition and higher amortization of intangible 

assets from acquisitions.

interest Expense

Interest expense of $15.5 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 increased by $10.9 million compared to the same quarter in

2012. The increase was a result of incremental debt financing through the Credit Facility bearing a higher credit spread and

bonds and Debentures issued to partially fund the HFS acquisition. Interest expense for the fourth quarter of 2013 also included

a non-cash interest charge of $1.3 million consisting of: (i) accretion expense of $0.5 million related to the Debentures, and 

(ii) $0.8 million related to amortization of deferred financing charges incurred in connection with the Company’s financing

arrangements. 
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income from investment in an Associate

Consolidated net income for the fourth quarter of 2012 included D+H’s share of income related to the minority interest held in

Compushare. Effective January 29, 2013, Compushare’s results were consolidated when D+H obtained 100% ownership. 

fair Value Adjustment of derivative instruments

An unrealized gain of $0.1 million related to fair value changes on derivative instruments was recognized in the fourth quarter of

2013, compared to $0.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2012.

For the interest-rate swaps that are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes, these unrealized gains and losses are

recognized in income. In general, a loss on interest-rate swaps is recorded when interest rates decrease as compared to certain

previous periods and a gain is recorded when interest rates increase. Provided the Company does not cancel its interest-rate

swaps, the unrealized amounts represent a non-cash unrealized gain or loss that will subsequently reverse through the

Consolidated Statements of Income as the related swaps mature. D+H has historically held its derivative contracts to maturity.

income tax Expense

An income tax recovery of $1.0 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to an income tax expense of

$4.2 million recognized for the same period in 2012. The income tax recovery is mainly attributable to a reduced income tax

rate resulting from a change in the geographic mix of income from continuing operations and an increase in the amortization of

intangible assets from acquisitions which resulted in a higher tax recovery. 

income from Continuing operations

Income from continuing operations for the fourth quarter of 2013 was $15.2 million compared to $14.2 million for the same

period in 2012. Income from continuing operations was impacted by a higher EBITDA of $26.8 million resulting from the

acquisition of HFS and was partially offset by higher amortization expense of $16.3 million relating to acquisition intangible

assets and higher interest expense of $10.9 million on debt drawn to fund the HFS acquisition.

income from discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations of $2.1 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 was mainly attributable to a working capital

adjustment, offset by services performed pursuant to a previously negotiated transitional services agreement in connection with

the divestiture of D+H’s non-strategic business processing operations on May 10, 2013. For the comparative period in 2012,

the loss from discontinued operations was $0.5 million. Refer to the ‘Divestiture’ section for further details.

Net income 

Consolidated net income of $17.4 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 was higher by $3.7 million, compared to consolidated

net income of $13.7 million for the same quarter in 2012. Net income in the fourth quarter of 2013 benefited from a higher

EBITDA of $26.8 million resulting from the acquisition of HFS but was offset by higher amortization expense of $16.3 million

relating to acquisition intangible assets, and higher interest expense of $10.9 million on debt drawn to fund the HFS acquisition.

A loss from discontinued operations of $2.1 million also impacted net income in the fourth quarter of 2013.
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Net income per Share 

Net income per share, basic

Consolidated basic net income per share of $0.2151 for the fourth quarter of 2013 was lower compared to a net income 

per share of $0.2315 for the same quarter in 2012, primarily due to the additional common shares issued in connection with

the acquisition of HFS and the other items discussed above impacting net income, including those related to the acquisition 

of HFS. 

Net income per share, diluted

For the fourth quarter of 2013, the inclusion of additional potential shares related to share-based compensation had a dilutive

effect on net income while additional potential shares related to the Debentures had an anti-dilutive effect on net income. Net

income per share for the three-month period on a diluted basis was $0.2147 per share, compared to net income per share of

$0.2315 for the same period in 2012. Per share amounts, on a diluted basis, were also impacted by the additional common

shares issued to fund the HFS acquisition. Refer to note 22 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the

year ended December 31, 2013 for the calculation of diluted net income per share.

Adjusted Net income and Adjusted Net income per Share

Consolidated Adjusted net income of $42.0 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 was higher by $16.0 million, or 61.6%,

compared to the $26.0 million for the same period in 2012. Consolidated Adjusted net income per share of $0.5206 increased

by 18.6% from $0.4390 per share for the same period in 2012. These increases were mainly due to higher Adjusted EBITDA

resulting from the inclusion of HFS results, partially impacted by higher depreciation of capital assets and amortization of 

non-acquisition intangible assets and higher cash interest expense on debt drawn to fund the HFS acquisition. Adjusted net

income per share for the fourth quarter of 2013 was impacted by the 21,505,000 additional shares issued to fund the acquisition

of HFS.

Consolidated Cash flow, Liquidity and Capital resources 

The following table is derived from, and should be read in conjunction with, the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Management believes this disclosure provides useful additional information related to the cash flows of the Corporation,

repayment of debt and other investing activities. 
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Consolidated Summary of Cash flows 

Quarter ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in):

Operating Activities

Income from continuing operations $ 15,235 $ 14,240

Depreciation and amortization of assets 38,568 18,860

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments (138) (542)

Interest expense, including amortization of deferred finance fees and accretion 15,509 4,629

Non-cash income tax and options expenses (781) 4,091

Income from investment in an associate, net of tax - 23

Decrease in non-cash working capital and other items 21,075 22,083

Cash generated from operating activities 89,468 63,384

Interest paid (8,674) (4,248)

Income tax paid (1,670) -

Net cash from operating activities 79,124 59,136

Financing Activities

Net change in long-term indebtedness (15,000) (26,187)

Dividends paid (25,836) (18,956)

Net cash used in financing activities (40,836) (45,143)

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (17,639) (9,717)

Net cash used in investing activities (17,639) (9,717)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents for the period 20,649 4,276

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 11,749 1,443

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 32,398 $ 5,719

As at December 31, 2013, cash and cash equivalents totalled $32.4 million, compared to $5.7 million at December 31, 2012.
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operating Activities

Operating activities provided $79.1 million during the quarter ended December 31, 2013, compared to $59.1 million for the

same period in 2012. The change in net cash from operating activities was primarily attributable to higher EBITDA in the fourth

quarter of 2013 due to the acquisition of HFS, and non-cash working capital changes as described below. Net cash from

operating activities for the fourth quarter of 2013 were also impacted by increased interest payments reflecting the HFS

acquisition and income tax installment payments made during the fourth quarter of 2013.

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital and Other Items 

Quarter ended December 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2012

Change in non-cash working capital $ 29,374 $ 25,091

Change in other operating assets and liabilities (8,109) (3,094)

Discontinued operations (190) 86

Decrease in non-cash working capital and other items $ 21,075 $ 22,083

The net decrease in non-cash working capital in the fourth quarter of 2013 reflected an increase in compensation costs, increased

trade payables reflecting cash management initiatives taken by the Company, and increased deferred revenues due to growth in

the HFS business. This was partially offset by increased prepayments reflecting deferred costs and integration expenses.

The net increase in other operating assets and liabilities for the fourth quarter of 2013 primarily related to increased non-current

accounts receivable and deferred costs, related to growth in our HFS business since its acquisition, and partially offset by

increased other long-term liabilities mainly resulting from a higher share-based compensation expense attributable to an increase

in the Company’s share price. 

Cash flows used in discontinued operations of $0.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 is attributable to activities undertaken

in accordance with the previously negotiated transition services agreement associated with the divestiture of D+H’s non-strategic

business processing operations on May 10, 2013.

financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $40.8 million during the fourth quarter, compared to $45.1 million used in the same

period in 2012. The net change was primarily due to debt repayments and a dividend payment. D+H made net debt repayments

of $15.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2013, compared to $26.2 million in the same period in 2012. 

Dividends

During the fourth quarter of 2013, D+H paid a dividend of $0.32 per share ($25.8 million) to its shareholders on record as of

November 30, 2013. For the same quarter in 2012, $0.32 per share ($19.0 million) was paid to shareholders. The increase in

total dividends paid reflected 21,505,000 additional common shares issued in connection with the acquisition of HFS in

August 2013.
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investing Activities

Net cash of $17.6 million was used in investing activities during the fourth quarter of 2013, reflecting capital expenditures,

compared to $9.7 million used in investing activities in the fourth quarter of 2012, also for capital expenditures. 

Higher capital expenditures in the fourth quarter of 2013 were mainly due to the inclusion of HFS. 

disclosure Controls and procedures and internal Controls over financial reporting

disclosure Controls and procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information is gathered and

reported to senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), on a

timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure. 

The Corporation’s management under the supervision of the CEO and CFO has designed and maintained a set of disclosure

controls and procedures to ensure that information required to be disclosed in filings made pursuant to Multilateral Instrument

52-109 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Canadian Securities

Administrators’ (“CSA”) rules and forms.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures was conducted as of

December 31, 2013 by the Corporation’s management under the supervision of the CEO and CFO. Based on this evaluation,

the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of December 31, 2013, our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined by

National instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosures in issuers’ Annual and interim filings, are effective.

internal Controls over financial reporting

Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting

and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Management is responsible for establishing internal control

over financial reporting for the Company.

Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may not prevent

or detect misstatements. Further, projections of an evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate.

The Corporation and its subsidiaries have also designed and maintain a set of internal controls over financial reporting to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements for external purposes

in accordance with IFRS.

The Company’s management, under the supervision of the CEO and CFO, has evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control

over financial reporting at December 31, 2013, using the framework issued by the Committee of sponsoring organizations of

the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in 1992. Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that internal control over

financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013.
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D+H management has limited its certification with respect to the scope of the design of disclosure controls and procedures

and internal control over financial reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of HFS acquired on August 16, 2013. 

The following is a summary of certain financial information relating to HFS effective from the date of acquisition of 

August 16, 2013.

As at December 31, 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013

Assets

Current assets $ 70,817

Capital and non-acquisition intangible assets 25,526

$ 96,343

Liabilities

Current liabilities $ 105,978

Commitments $ 30,938

Quarter ended December 31, Year ended December 31, 

2013 2013

Revenues $ 78,352 $ 98,501

Income from continuing operations $ 19,158 $ 15,569

Net income $ 19,158 $ 15,569

Adjusted revenues $ 91,410 $ 127,666

With the exception of the internal controls relating to the HFS acquisition, there have been no changes in the Corporation’s

internal controls over financial reporting during 2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its

internal control over financial reporting.

Effective December 2014, the Company will adopt the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. The

Company is currently evaluating the impact this revised framework will have on its internal controls over financial reporting.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

In applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has used judgment in areas which have the most significant effect

on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

revenue recognition

Professional fees in the banking technology (enterprise and lending) and lending processing service areas are recognized as

services are performed. For fixed professional fee contracts within revenue, revenue is recognized on a percentage of completion

basis, generally representing the probability that D+H will receive the benefits for the services performed and time spent relative

to total estimated time. Revenue under the Company’s software license arrangements are typically recognized as multiple

deliverable arrangements with revenue being allocated based on the associated fair value. In all revenue streams, management

exercises judgement in determining whether the related revenue contract’s outcome can be estimated reliably. Management

also applies estimates in the calculation of future contract costs and related profitability as it relates to labour hours and other

considerations that are used in the determination of the amounts recoverable on contracts as well as the timing of revenue

recognition.

Incentive fees related to the student loans administration services are determined based on achieving performance thresholds

as outlined in the contracts with the financial institutions and the governments. As management uses judgment in estimating

the expected outcome for the remainder of the contract year, imprecision in any of the assumptions could influence the

determination of revenue.

Acquisition of subsidiaries

In a business combination, D+H is required to fair value each identifiable asset and liability as at the acquisition date. This

requires management to make judgements and estimates, as of the acquisition date, to determine the fair value, discount rates,

estimated cost to fulfill obligations and future cash flows associated with acquired intangible assets. Any excess of acquisition

cost over the fair value of the identifiable net assets is recognized as goodwill. Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates

used in determining the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could affect the amounts assigned to assets, liabilities and

goodwill in the purchase price allocation.

deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the corresponding impact on deferred income tax expense or recovery are based

on the temporary differences that are expected to reverse in future periods. Management uses judgment in determining when

temporary differences will reverse and if the benefits of deductible temporary difference and tax losses can be realized. A key

assumption in determining the deferred income taxes is that D+H will be able to maintain sufficient levels of income such that

the temporary differences will reverse.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax D+H also takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and

whether additional taxes and interest may be due, based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax 

law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about

future events.

D+H | 2013 Annual Report 87



Valuation of Goodwill and intangibles 

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.

The significant assumptions underlying the recoverability of goodwill include future cash flow and growth projections, including

industry performance, general business and economic conditions and future weighted average cost of capital and may include

annual earnings multiples. D+H’s estimate of future performance is dependent on a number of market economic trends such as

cheque usage, interest rates, consolidation of financial institutions, residential real estate activity and lending activity in general,

among other items. D+H’s search and loan registration service area is dependent on car loan volumes, which are influenced by

interest rates and the general economic environment. As management uses judgment in estimating the fair value of cash-

generating units (or a group of cash-generating units), imprecision in any assumptions and estimates used in the fair value

calculations could influence the determination of goodwill impairment and affect the valuation of goodwill.

Intangible assets that derive their value from contractual customer relationships that can be separately identifiable, and have a

finite useful life, are amortized over their estimated useful life. Determining the estimated useful life of these finite life intangible

assets requires an analysis of the circumstances and management judgment. Finite life intangible assets are tested for impairment

whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable and requires management to exercise judgement

in analyzing such possible circumstances.

New and revised Accounting Standards

The following standards and amendments that became effective during 2013 were adopted by the Company effective the same

date with no significant impacts on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements: 

– IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures

– IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements

– IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

– IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement

– IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

– IAS 19, Employee Benefits

– IAS 28, Investment in Associates

The Company also early adopted amendments to IAS 36, Impairment of Assets.

Refer to note 3 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 for details

on these new and revised accounting standards.

New and updated Accounting policies

As a result of the HFS acquisition, the following are new accounting policies applicable to the Company during the year ended

December 31, 2013 or are updates to the Company’s accounting policies that were in effect as at December 31, 2012:
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revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of consideration received or receivable from clients for services and products provided by the

Company, net of discounts and allowance for sales returns. The Company’s revenue is primarily comprised of licensing software

products under perpetual and term license arrangements, cheque supply, hardware, and service revenues comprising: software

implementation services, software-as-a-service, transaction processing services, core processing service bureau deliverables,

consulting services, training services, other services, and maintenance. The Company recognizes revenue pertaining to the

sales of goods, software licenses and services when the following criteria are met:

• the Company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership and there is no remaining effective

control; 

• the Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor

effective control over the goods or licenses sold; 

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; and 

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction are identifiable and can be measured reliably.

In addition, when the stage of completion of a service transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured 

reliably, revenue associated with the service transaction is recognized by reference to the stage of completion at the end of the

reporting period. 

Typically, the Company’s software license arrangements are multiple-element arrangements as they may also include hardware,

professional services and maintenance. A delivered element is considered as separate unit of accounting if it has value to the

customer on a standalone basis, and delivery or performance of the undelivered elements is considered probable and

substantially under the Company’s control. If these criteria are not met, the delivered item is combined with other related elements

for purposes of revenue recognition. Software licenses are not considered to have standalone value where services are essential

to the software’s functionality as discussed further below.

Under these arrangements, revenue is allocated to each unit of accounting (component) based on their relative fair value or by

using the residual method, if applicable. Under the residual method, revenue is allocated to undelivered components of the

arrangement based on their fair values and the residual amount of the arrangement revenue is allocated to delivered components. 

Objective evidence of fair value for certain elements of an arrangement is based upon the pricing in comparable transactions

when the element is sold separately. Objective evidence of fair value for maintenance is primarily based upon the price charged

for the same or similar maintenance when sold in stand-alone renewals with customers, as substantiated by contractual renewal

rates and the Company’s renewal experience. Objective evidence of fair value for professional services is based upon the price

charged when the services are sold separately.

Essential professional services typically involve significant production, modification or customization of the software. Revenue

from essential services is combined with license revenue and recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis. Percentage-of-

completion recognizes both license and services revenue as the services are performed using an output method based on

contractual milestones. Any probable losses are recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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Revenue for licenses of software that are software-as-a-service hosted arrangements (cloud services), is allocated to separate

units of accounting based on the fair value of each unit of accounting as determined by a hierarchy of objective evidence 

of prices, third-party evidence of prices, or an internal analysis of prices. Objective evidence and third party evidence of 

prices are not available so an internal analysis is used. Separate units of accounting exist if they have standalone value.

Standalone value exists if the Company or other vendors sell the same item separately or the customer could resell the item on

a standalone basis. 

Standalone value exists for most individual modules of the Company’s hosted licenses because they are sold separately or as

a group depending on the needs of customers. For each module, revenue is deferred until related professional services are

complete. If standalone value does not exist, then revenue for all modules and professional services in an arrangement are

deferred until services are complete. Under either scenario, once services are complete, revenue is recognized on a straight-

line basis over the remaining term of the contract. Under this method the concept of the residual method is eliminated and any

discounts are allocated across all deliverables in proportion to the relative selling price. 

For arrangements that include both licenses and cloud services, each is accounted for under its relevant guidance.

Each new license includes maintenance, including the right to receive telephone support, “bug fixes” and unspecified upgrades

and enhancements, for a specified duration of time, usually one year. Maintenance revenue is recognized rateably over the life

of the related maintenance contract. Maintenance contracts on perpetual licenses generally renew annually. Maintenance fees

are typically invoiced on an annual basis prior to the anniversary date of the license. 

Time-based and usage based licenses may include maintenance as a bundled item that is committed for the period of the

agreement. The software under such contracts is not treated as a separate component and the related revenue is recognized

rateably over the term of the agreement or on an actual usage basis. 

Non-essential professional services revenue includes fees derived from the delivery of certain training, installation, and consulting

services. Revenue from non-essential training, installation, and consulting services is recognized on a time and materials basis

or after delivery is complete.

After delivery, if substantive uncertainty exists about customer acceptance of the software, license revenue is deferred until

acceptance occurs. The Company considers the following in evaluating the effect of customer acceptance: historical experience

with similar types of arrangements or products, whether the acceptance provisions are specific to the customer or are included

in all arrangements, the length of the acceptance term, and historical experience with the specific customer.

In some instances, the Company offers extended-payment terms on its term software licenses. When the receipt of payment is

deferred over the term of the arrangement, the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing transaction. In such cases, the

fair value of the consideration is determined by discounting all future receipts using an imputed rate of interest. The imputed

rate of interest is the more clearly determinable of either the prevailing rate for a similar instrument of an issuer with a similar

credit rating or a rate of interest that discounts the nominal amount of the instrument to the current cash sales price of the goods

or services. The difference between the fair value and the nominal amount of the consideration is accreted into profit or loss

using the effective interest method.
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The contractual terms of software sales do not provide for product returns or allowances. However, on occasion the Company

may allow for returns or allowances. Provisions for estimated returns and sales allowances are established by the Company

concurrently with the recognition of revenue and are based on a variety of factors including actual return and sales allowance

history and projected economic conditions.

Revenue from outsourced data processing services and other transaction processing services is recognized one month in

arrears based on the transactions processed or the services rendered.

deferred costs relating to revenue arrangements

Certain contract acquisition costs, comprising sales commissions, that are direct and incremental to obtaining revenue contracts

and are recoverable from minimum future cash flows associated with the contract are deferred and amortized to employee

compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income over the term of the related revenue.

Upfront direct costs for initial installation and implementation that relate to future activity on a customer contract are deferred

and recognized as an asset within other assets when it is probable that they will be recovered through future minimum payments

specified in contractual agreements. The deferred contract costs are amortized over the period of the related contract revenue.

Convertible debentures

Convertible debentures, where the holder has the option to convert the instrument into a fixed amount of common shares of the

Company, represents a compound financial instrument. A compound instrument comprises two components: a financial liability

(a contractual arrangement to deliver cash or another financial asset) and an equity instrument (a call option granting the holder

the right, for a specified period of time, to convert it into a fixed number of common shares of the Company). At the date of

issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible

instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost basis under the effective interest rate method until

extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date.

The carrying amount of the equity instrument represented by the option to convert the instrument into common shares is then

determined by deducting the fair value of the financial liability from the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole.

This residual amount is recognized and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently re-measured. 

Transaction costs that relate to the issuance of convertible instruments are allocated to the liability and equity components in

proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are recognized directly

in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability component and

are amortized over the life of the convertible instrument using the effective interest method.

Interest expense on a compound instrument is determined by applying an effective interest rate to the outstanding liability

component whereby the difference between actual cash interest payments and interest expense is accreted to the liability

component. Upon conversion of compound instrument, a ratable portion of the carrying value of the liability component is

reclassified as equity.
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future Accounting and reporting Changes

The Company will continue to monitor changes to IFRS in the upcoming periods. The IFRS standard-setting bodies have

significant ongoing projects that could impact the IFRS accounting policies that D+H has selected. In particular, there may be

additional new or revised standards in relation to revenue recognition, financial instruments, and leases. We have implemented

processes to ensure that potential changes to the IFRS are monitored, evaluated and implemented in a timely manner. 

The following are upcoming changes to IFRSs that may impact D+H:

IFRS 9, Financial instruments 

The IASB intends to replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in its entirety with IFRS 9 – Financial

Instruments (“IFRS 9”), however no mandatorily effective date has currently been defined. IFRS 9 is intended to reduce the

complexity for the classification and measurement of financial instruments and includes a new general hedge accounting standard

which will align hedge accounting more closely with risk management. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the final

standard is expected to have on its consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 32, Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

The amendments to IAS 32 clarify that an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off financial assets and financial

liabilities if that right is not contingent on a future event and is enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the

event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all counterparties. The amendments to IAS 32 also clarify when a

settlement mechanism provides for net settlement or a gross settlement that is equivalent to net settlement. The Company

intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 32 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 2014, and

does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

Novation of Derivatives and Continuance of Hedge Accounting (Amendments to IAS 39)

The amendments add a limited exception to IAS 39, to provide relief from discontinuing an existing hedging relationship when

a novation that was not contemplated in the original hedging documentation meets specific criteria. The Company intends to

adopt the amendments in its financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 2014, and does not expect the

amendments to have a material impact on the financial statements.
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business risks 

The following describes certain risks, events and uncertainties that could cause the reported financial information to not

necessarily be indicative of future operating results and that could affect certain forward-looking statements made in this MD&A,

including those related to our targeted revenue growth and cash flows.

Reliance on Contracts with Key Customers

While the Business serves approximately 7,000 customers, it remains dependent upon certain significant customers and several

large mortgage intermediaries, such as independent mortgage brokers, as well as a significant contract with the Government

of Canada (CSLP). Adjusted revenue attributable to the Business’ seven largest customers accounted for approximately 57%

of the Business’ 2013 consolidated Adjusted revenue.

The contracts with customers including banks, credit unions, mortgage intermediaries and the Government of Canada range

for terms of one to seven years. There can be no assurance that those contracts will be renewed or that D+H’s services will be

utilized by those parties. There could be material adverse effects on the Business if it fails to renew its contracts with these

parties, if these parties merge or are acquired by other businesses that have established relationships with other service providers,

or if these parties decide to perform the applicable product, service or technology solution supply functions in-house. Further,

there is no assurance that any new agreement or renewal entered into by the Business will have terms similar to those contained

in current arrangements, and the failure to obtain those terms could have an adverse effect on the Business.

Consolidation in the financial services industry could affect revenue earned by the Business as margins could be pressured as

those organizations seek their own merger synergies. 

Unauthorized disclosure of data, security breaches or computer viruses could harm the Business by
disrupting delivery of services, pose a risk of protracted and costly litigation, cause loss of customers
and reputational damage

D+H collects and stores confidential and personal information in its data centres. Unauthorized access to D+H’s computer

systems could result in the theft or publication of confidential information or the deletion or modification of records or could

otherwise cause interruptions in D+H’s operations. In addition, despite the Corporation’s implementation of security measures,

its systems are vulnerable to damages from computer viruses, natural disasters, unauthorized access, cyber-attack and other

similar disruptions. Any such system failure, accident or security breach could disrupt D+H’s delivery of services and make

D+H’s applications unavailable or cause similar disruptions to the Corporation’s operations. If a person penetrates D+H’s network

security or otherwise misappropriates sensitive data, D+H could be subject to liability or D+H’s business could be interrupted,

and any of these developments could have a material adverse effect on D+H’s business, results of operations and financial

condition. In addition D+H’s software may contain undetected errors, defects or “bugs”, and there can be no assurance that

errors would not be found in D+H’s existing or future products or third party products upon which products are dependent,

with the possible result of delays in or loss of market acceptance of products, diversion of resources, injury to D+H’s reputation

and increased service and warranty expenses and/or payment of damages.
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Competition from Substitute Products

Banking, banking related and other industries have introduced alternatives to paper-based payment products, including pre-

authorized debits, credit cards, debit cards, and electronic payment systems, such as telephone, web-based and mobile payment

systems. Additional forms of alternative payment methods such as person-to-person and business-to-business payments are

being developed continually and also compete with the products and services offered by the Business. Approximately 35% of

the Corporation’s consolidated Adjusted revenues are from our payments solutions service area. The majority of revenues in

this service area are related to cheque orders of which approximately half are from personal cheques and half are from business

cheques and are, therefore, affected by cheque usage. Management believes that the adoption of alternative payment methods

has and will continue to impact cheque order volumes and that the rate of adoption may differ between personal and business

cheques. The use of alternative payment methods continues to grow and expand and may accelerate further to reduce cheque

order volumes and values. Any reductions will have an adverse effect on the Business. If volume related to personal and business

cheque orders decreased by 1%, this would result in an Adjusted revenue decline of approximately $3.2 million.

Dependence on Decisions by Potential Clients to Replace their Legacy Computer Systems

D+H derives a portion of its revenues from the full range of services complementing D+H’s products, including outsourcing,

installation, training, maintenance and support services. A large portion of these fees are either directly attributable to licenses

of D+H’s core software platform or are generated over time by clients using D+H’s core software. Banks and credit unions

historically have been slow to adopt new technologies. Many of these financial institutions have traditionally met their information

technology needs through legacy computer systems, in which they have often invested significant resources. As a result, these

financial institutions may be inclined to resist replacing their legacy systems with D+H’s core software platform. D+H’s future

financial performance will depend in part on the successful development, introduction and client acceptance of new and

enhanced versions of D+H’s core software platform and D+H’s other complementary products. D+H’s failure to successfully

develop, introduce and achieve client acceptance of new and enhanced versions of D+H’s core software platform and other

products could have a material adverse effect on the Business.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Residential Mortgage and Other Lending Market Activity

Approximately 15% of the Business’ consolidated Adjusted revenue (mortgage origination and underwriting fees) is driven by

mortgage activity and directly or indirectly by residential real estate activity in Canada and the United States. Over the past

several years, these markets have been variable due to changing economic conditions, housing markets, interest rate changes

and regulatory changes among other factors. In the future, potentially higher interest rates, adverse cyclical economic changes,

regulatory or other significant changes in the housing or mortgage markets could have a negative effect on transaction volumes

and on the Business and as these services provide generally strong margins, such negative volume changes could have an

adverse effect on the Business.

Approximately 21% of the Business’ consolidated Adjusted revenue (search and loan registration services) is driven by personal

borrowing activity, including car loans. Car loan volumes are influenced by factors such as the number of new and used cars

purchased, the general economic environment, car manufacturer incentives and interest rates, among other factors. In the future,

potentially higher interest rates or other adverse cyclical economic changes could have a negative effect on transaction volumes

and an adverse effect on the Business. 

94 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 



Impact from Changing Economic Conditions and Legislative or Regulatory Changes on Customers and
Suppliers

While the Corporation believes that its customers and suppliers will continue to operate and deal with the Corporation on similar

terms to those currently in place, such terms could become unfavourable due to any unfavourable changing economic conditions

and legislative or regulatory changes in Canada, the United States and globally. Unfavourable economic conditions and legislative

or regulatory changes could: adversely affect initiatives that the Corporation seeks to implement to evolve and grow the Business;

adversely affect pricing negotiations; adversely affect demand for its products and services; and adversely affect payment

patterns, among other items. Similarly, some of D+H’s suppliers could attempt to increase their prices, pass through increased

costs, alter payment terms or seek other relief. D+H’s suppliers may be forced to reduce their product or production, close their

operations or file for bankruptcy protection, which in some cases would make it difficult to serve the market’s needs and could

have an adverse affect on the Business. To the extent that D+H’s customers and suppliers are negatively impacted by an

unfavourable economy and legislative or regulatory changes, D+H’s ability to deliver products and services could be similarly

impacted, which could have an adverse effect on the Business.

Consolidation and Failures of Financial Institutions in the United States 

D+H’s primary market in the U.S. consists of community banks and credit unions. Many financial institutions are experiencing

operating losses. In some cases, these operating losses have resulted in the failure and/or consolidation of banks and other

financial institutions. The number of community banks and credit unions has decreased because of failures over the last few

years and mergers and acquisitions over the last several decades and is expected to continue to decrease as more consolidation

occurs. It is also possible that the larger banks, credit unions or financial institutions resulting from mergers or consolidations

could have greater leverage in negotiating terms with D+H or could decide to perform in-house some or all of the services

which D+H currently provides or could provide. Any of these developments could have a material adverse effect on the Business,

D+H’s results of operations and financial condition.

Contract Performance

Most customer contracts contain provisions that govern the performance of the services being provided. Failure to meet the

terms or performance standards can result in variability in revenue earned, early termination of the contract, financial performance

penalties or litigation. There can be no assurance that service delivery differences or disputes will not occur. Differences or

disputes and the resolution thereof could have an adverse effect on the Business.

Acquisitions and Access to Cost of Competitive Capital

An important part of the Business’ strategy for growth and diversification is to make selective acquisitions. Either the inability to

access cost-effective capital or any capital at all, may limit or prevent the Business from making acquisitions or could make

future acquisitions less valuable to owners, both of which could have an adverse effect on the Business.
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Potential Undisclosed Liabilities Associated with Acquisitions

In connection with the acquisition of businesses, there may be liabilities that D+H or prior owners failed or were unable to

discover, or were unable to quantify, in their diligence prior to the consummation of the acquisitions. Within the applicable

purchase and sale agreements, D+H may not be fully indemnified for some or all of these liabilities by the former owners of

acquired businesses. To the extent that prior owners of such businesses failed to comply with or otherwise violated applicable

laws, including environmental laws, D+H, as a successor owner may be financially responsible for these violations. The discovery

of any material liabilities could have an adverse effect on the Business.

In addition, in connection with the acquisition of HFS in 2013, the Corporation agreed to indemnify Harland Clarke Holdings

Corp. against certain items for which the Corporation’s indemnity obligation is not limited. While the Corporation has estimated

these potential liabilities for the purposes of making its decision to enter into the stock purchase agreement pursuant to the

acquisition of HFS, there can be no assurance that any resulting liability will not exceed the Corporation’s estimates. The amount

of such liability could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial position.

Furthermore, acquisitions may involve a number of special risks including diversion of management’s attention, failure to retain

key personnel and unanticipated events or circumstances, some or all of which could have an adverse effect on the Business.

Inability to Successfully Integrate or to Attain the Expected Benefits from the Acquired Business

In 2013, the Corporation completed the acquisition of HFS. HFS operated in a marketplace that was highly variable and subject

to consolidation over the past several years. There can be no assurance that management of the Corporation will be able to fully

realize the expected benefits of the HFS acquisition, including from a margin, accretion and cash flow perspective. There is a

risk that some or all of the expected benefits will fail to materialize, or may not occur within the time periods anticipated by

management of the Corporation. The realization of such benefits may be affected by a number of factors, many of which are

beyond the control of the Corporation.

In addition, the Corporation intends to continue to identify, acquire and develop suitable acquisition targets in both new and

existing markets. While the Corporation has successfully integrated acquired businesses in the past, achieving the anticipated

benefits of acquisitions will depend in part upon the Corporation’s ability to integrate these businesses in an efficient and effective

manner. The integration of companies that have previously operated independently may result in significant challenges, and the

Corporation may be unable to accomplish the integration smoothly or successfully. In particular, the coordination of geographically

dispersed organizations with differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies may increase the difficulties of

integration. The integration of acquired businesses may also require the dedication of significant management resources, which

may temporarily distract management’s attention from the day-to-day operations of the Corporation. In addition, the process of

integrating operations may cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of one or more of D+H’s businesses

and the loss of key personnel from the Corporation, its subsidiaries or the acquired businesses. The Corporation’s strategy is,

in part, predicated on its ability to realize cost savings and to increase revenues through the acquisition of businesses that 

add to the breadth and depth of D+H’s products and services while also proving cross-selling opportunities. Achieving these

cost savings and revenue increases (including through the realization of cross-selling opportunities) is dependent upon a 

number of factors, many of which are beyond D+H’s control. In particular, the Corporation may not be able to realize the 

benefits of anticipated integration of sales forces, asset rationalization, systems integration and more comprehensive product

and service offerings. 
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Failure to Develop New Products and Services 

The Business’ ability to continue to generate comparable net income and cash flow is based, in part, on the addition of new

products and services and its ability to manage its continuously expanding offering of products and services. This is particularly

relevant in light of management’s expectation that cheque order volume will continue to experience declines. The failure to

properly manage the expanding offering of products and services as well as the failure to develop and successfully market new

products and services at favourable margins could have an adverse effect on the Business.

The markets for many of D+H’s products and services are characterized by competition, constant technological changes,

frequent introductions of new products and services and evolving industry standards. D+H’s ability to enhance its current

products and services and to develop and introduce new innovative products and services that keep pace with technological

developments and evolving industry standards while addressing the increasingly sophisticated needs of its clients and their

customers will significantly affect our future success. D+H may not be successful in developing, marketing or selling new

products and services that meet these changing demands. In addition, we may experience difficulties that could delay or prevent

the successful development, introduction or marketing of these services, or our new services and their enhancements may not

adequately meet the demands of the marketplace or achieve market acceptance. D+H continually engages in significant efforts

to upgrade its products and services. If D+H is unsuccessful in completing or gaining market acceptance of new technology,

it would likely have a material adverse effect on its ability to retain existing clients or attract new ones.

D+H Services the Financial Services Industry which is Subject to Complex and Potentially Changing
Government Regulations

The financial services industry and financial institutions are subject to extensive and complex federal, provincial and state

regulation. The global financial crisis has led to further, more onerous regulations and increased levels of government supervision.

D+H is obligated to comply with and to provide its U.S. customers with software solutions that comply with applicable federal

and state regulations. In particular, numerous new regulations have been proposed and are still being written to implement the

Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010. Current and future actions by regulatory authorities

could have an impact on the decisions of D+H’s customers, as well as the timing and implementation of those decisions. The

laws, rules or regulations that D+H and its customers must comply with could render the D+H business or operations more

costly and burdensome or less efficient, and could require D+H to modify its current or future products or services. Any of these

events, if realized, could have a material adverse effect on the Business.

In addition, as a result of this complex and potentially changing regulatory environment, substantial software research and

development and other corporate resources have been and will continue to be applied to adapt D+H’s software products to

this evolving, complex and often unpredictable regulatory environment. A failure to provide compliant solutions could result in

significant fines or consumer liability on D+H’s customers, for which D+H may bear ultimate liability.
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Competition from Competitors Supplying Similar Products and Services

The market for D+H’s products and services is competitive. D+H encounters competition from a number of sources and these

competitors vary in size and in the scope and breadth of the products and services they provide. Some of the Corporation’s

competitors (particularly those based in the United States) have advantages over D+H due to their significant worldwide

presence, longer operating and product development history, larger installed client base, substantially greater financial, technical

and marketing resources, and, in some cases, their willingness to lower their prices and margins to gain access to increased

market shares. As such, the Corporation is exposed to competition which could lead to loss of contracts or reduced margins

and could have an adverse effect on the Business. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Corporation expects to

feel increased pricing pressure in Canada, particularly in D+H’s mortgage origination business, where some competitors are

reducing their prices.

In response to competition, D+H may be required in the future to furnish additional discounts to customers, otherwise modify

pricing practices or offer more favourable payment terms or more favourable contractual implementation terms. Any such

developments could have a material adverse effect on the Business.

Operations

The services and revenues of D+H are dependent on the continued operation of facilities and operations including, for example,

premises, telephone systems and computing and technology operations. The operation of such facilities and technology involves

some risks, including failures related to substandard performance, problems with equipment or technology, natural disasters,

reduction or suspension of operations and new governmental statutes, regulations, guidelines and policies. The occurrence of

material operational problems, including but not limited to the above events, may have a material adverse effect on the Business.

Reliance on Outsourcing and Other Arrangements

In some areas of its operations, the Business relies on third parties to supply production, fulfillment, or other services, including

connectivity. Examples of such services by third parties include contracts with service providers for Canadian postal services,

certain program support services related to newly introduced identity protection services, connectivity to third party technology

and data service providers, third party network and data centre providers and other outsourcing or partnering arrangements in

general. The Business has commitments to deliver products and services to its customers and it may be exposed to claims from

customers if the Business’ outsource providers fail to perform under their contractual obligations for any reason or if continued

outsourcing or partnering arrangements are not renewed or secured. Current profit margins reflect these contractual

arrangements; therefore, if the Business was required to find an alternative outsourcing arrangement, margins and cash flows

could be negatively impacted and could have an adverse effect on the Business.

In operating the ASSET business, D+H relies solely upon independent subcontractors to pick up and deliver vehicles to and

from its storage facilities. A failure to pick up and deliver vehicles in a timely, accurate and appropriate manner could harm D+H’s

reputation and brand, which could have a negative effect on the Business. Further, an increase in fuel cost may lead to increased

prices charged by independent subcontractors, which may significantly increase costs. D+H may not be able to pass these

costs on to its customers.
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Reliance on Third Party Software

D+H’s software products are designed to work in conjunction with certain third party software products, including Microsoft

and Oracle relational databases. Although D+H believes that there are alternatives to these products generally available, any

significant interruption in the supply of such third party software, or the eventual obsolescence, incompatibility or failure to

maintain such third party software, could have a material adverse effect on sales unless and until D+H can replace the

functionality provided by these products. In addition, D+H is dependent upon third parties’ abilities to enhance their current

products, to develop new products on a timely and cost-effective basis and to respond to emerging industry standards and

other technological changes. Delays in the release of new and upgraded versions of third party software products, particularly

the Oracle relational database management system, could have a material adverse effect on the Business.

Risk of Insourcing

Certain of D+H’s key customers are large financial institutions with significant resources. There can be no assurance that these

institutions will not alter their existing operating methods and replace D+H’s products and services with internally developed

technology applications.

Raw Material Exposure

D+H utilizes a number of raw materials which are subject to price fluctuations beyond its control. Market price fluctuations of

these raw materials could have a material adverse effect on D+H’s financial condition and results of operations. There has

generally been a lag time before those increases and decreases can be passed on to D+H’s customers. There can be no

assurance that the price of D+H’s raw materials will not increase in the future or that the Business will be able to pass on those

increases to its customers. A significant increase in the price of raw materials that is not passed on to customers could have a

material adverse effect on the Corporation.

Reliance on Key Personnel

D+H’s operations are dependent on the abilities, experience and efforts of many key employees. Should any executives or key

employees of D+H be unable or unwilling to continue his or her employment or should the Business be unable to develop the

skills and capabilities needed for the continued evolution of the larger and more complex Business, it could have a material

adverse effect on the Corporation.

Labour

One collective agreement representing approximately 42 unionized employees of D+H expires on March 31, 2015. Although

management expects to renew the collective agreement on expiry, there can be no assurance that there will be no delays in the

renewal process, that negotiations will not prove difficult or that the collective agreement will be renewed without incident. Such

an incident could have a significant impact on the Corporation. To management’s knowledge, the D+H business has not suffered

any loss of production due to work stoppages by its employees during its history, but there can be no assurance that a work

stoppage will not occur in the future. In addition, a number of D+H’s suppliers (including Canada Post Corporation and certain

paper suppliers) have employees who are represented by collective agreements and may be subjected to work stoppages.

Such work stoppages could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation.
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Intellectual Property Rights

D+H relies on a combination of trade mark and copyright laws, patent laws, trade secret protection and confidentiality and

license agreements to protect its intellectual property. Intellectual property laws afford limited protection. It may be possible for

a third party to copy D+H’s products and services or otherwise obtain its proprietary information without its permission. There

is no assurance that competitors will not independently develop products and services that are substantially equivalent or

superior to D+H’s products and services and this would have a material adverse effect on the Corporation.

Infringement of Third Party Intellectual Property Rights

Third parties may claim that D+H is infringing their intellectual property rights. D+H may be exposed to additional liability if it

agrees to indemnify its clients against third party infringement claims. If the owner of intellectual property establishes that D+H

is, or a client which it is obligated to indemnify is, infringing its intellectual property rights, or that D+H’s intellectual property

rights are invalid, D+H may be forced to change its products or services, and such changes may be expensive or impractical.

As a result, D+H may then be forced to seek royalty or license agreements from the owner of such rights. If D+H is unable to

agree on acceptable terms, D+H may be required to discontinue the sale of key products or halt other aspects of its operations.

D+H may also be liable for financial damages for a violation of intellectual property rights, and D+H may incur expenses in

connection with indemnifying its clients against losses suffered by them. Any adverse result related to violation of third party

intellectual property rights could materially and adversely harm the business, financial condition and results of operations of

D+H. Even if intellectual property claims brought against D+H are without merit, they may result in costly and time consuming

litigation, and may divert D+H’s management and key personnel from operating the Business.

Additionally, in some circumstances, such as in the provision of cloud-based services and managed service offerings, D+H

relies on its customers to obtain and maintain required third party licenses. Failure by these customers to comply with their

contractual requirements could expose D+H to potential claims.

Research and Development

Developing and localizing software is expensive, and the investment in product development may involve a long payback cycle.

D+H’s future plans include significant investment in software research and development and related product opportunities.

While D+H’s management believes that D+H must continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to its research and

development efforts in order to maintain its competitive position, future revenues from these investments are not fully predictable.

Therefore, D+H may not realize any benefits from its research and development efforts in a timely fashion or at all. 

Regulatory, Environment, Health and Safety Requirements and Other Considerations

D+H’s operations are subject to numerous and significant laws, including statutes, regulations, by-laws, guidelines and policies

as well as permits and other approvals relating to the protection of the environment and workers’ health and safety governing,

among other things, air emissions, water discharges, non-hazardous and hazardous waste (including waste water), the storage,

handling, transportation and distribution of dangerous goods and hazardous materials such as chemicals, remediation of releases

and the presence of hazardous materials, land use and zoning and employee health and safety in Canada (the “Environment,

Health and Safety Requirements”). As a result of D+H’s operations, the Corporation is or may be involved from time to time in

administrative and judicial proceedings and inquiries relating to public regulatory, employee, environmental and health and safety

requirements among others. Future proceedings or inquiries could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation.

100 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 



In addition, changes to existing Environment, Health and Safety Requirements or the adoption of new Environment, Health and

Safety Requirements in the future, changes to the enforcement of Environment, Health and Safety Requirements, as well as the

discovery of additional or unknown conditions at facilities owned, operated or used by D+H, could require expenditures which

might have an adverse effect on the Corporation, to the extent these risks are not covered by an indemnity or by insurance.

Changes in Canadian Postal Delivery

In December 2013, Canada Post announced changes to the postal delivery services it provides which would, among other things,

result in the phasing out of door-to-door delivery of regular mail to urban residents. These changes may have a long-term impact

on customer appetite to order and receive cheques in the mail. Such an impact could have an adverse effect on the Business.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Business provides certain services to U.S. customers for which it is paid in U.S. dollars. To mitigate the potential foreign

exchange fluctuation risk, the Corporation enters into foreign exchange contracts. To the extent the net exposure is not covered

by the contracts, the Corporation may realize foreign exchange gains or losses based on the U.S. dollar fluctuation to the

Canadian dollar.

Financial Instruments

The main risks to the Business associated with interest-rate swaps are counterparty (credit) risk and early termination risk. The

Business mitigates counterparty risk by conducting swaps only with highly rated financial institutions. Should the Business

reduce its indebtedness that the swaps relate to, the Business would likely choose also to reduce the relevant swap amounts

at such time. To the extent that market interest rates applicable to the remaining term of such swaps are lower than the fixed rate

agreed to in the swap, the Business would have to pay the fair value at such time to the counterparty. Upon maturity of the

swaps, or in the event that the Business increases its outstanding indebtedness, the Business could be exposed to the risk that

higher interest rates may exist at such time.

Risks of Future Legal Proceedings

Failure by D+H to comply with laws and regulations could lead to termination of the Corporation’s customer contracts,

cancellation of the Credit Facility and the imposition of fines or penalties, or the denial, revocation or delay of the renewal of

permits and licenses by governmental authorities. D+H may also be susceptible to lawsuits and claims brought against it, either

directly or indirectly, by governmental authorities and third parties. In addition, governmental authorities as well as third parties

may claim that D+H is liable for environmental damages. A significant judgment against D+H, the loss of a significant permit or

other approval or the imposition of a significant fine or penalty could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation.

Indemnity Agreements and Indemnity Arrangements

All directors and/or officers of the Corporation, and each of its various subsidiary entities, are indemnified by the Corporation

for various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle lawsuits or actions due to their association with the Corporation,

subject to certain restrictions. The Corporation has purchased directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to mitigate the cost of

any potential future lawsuits or actions. The term of the indemnification is not explicitly defined, but is limited to events 

during the period during which the indemnified party served as a director or officer of the applicable Corporation entity. The

maximum amount of any potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated but could have a material adverse effect 

on the Corporation.
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In the normal course of business, D+H has entered into agreements that include indemnities in favour of third parties, such as

customer contracts, purchase and sale agreements, confidentiality agreements, engagement letters with advisors and

consultants, outsourcing agreements, leasing contracts, license agreements, information technology agreements and various

product, service, data hosting and network access agreements with customers. These indemnification arrangements may require

the applicable Corporation entity to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the counterparties as a result of breaches

in representations, covenants and warranties provided by the particular Corporation entity or as a result of litigation claims or

statutory sanctions that may be suffered by the counterparties as a consequence of the transaction. The terms of these

indemnities are not explicitly defined. The applicable Corporation entity, whenever possible, tries to limit this potential liability

within the particular agreement or contract, but due to the unpredictability of future events the maximum amount of any potential

reimbursement by the Corporation or its subsidiary entities cannot be reasonably estimated, but could have a material adverse

effect on the Corporation.

Uninsured and Underinsured Losses

The Corporation’s by-laws require that the Corporation obtain and maintain at all times insurance coverage in respect of potential

liabilities of the Corporation and the accidental loss of value of the assets of the Corporation from risks, in those amounts, with

those insurers, and on those terms as the Corporation’s directors consider appropriate, taking into account all relevant factors.

D+H’s insurance coverage is maintained in the form of comprehensive property and casualty insurance with coverages and

amounts sufficient to repair or replace any assets physically damaged or destroyed, including coverage for business interruption

losses, or extra expenses sustained, and to cover in respect of claims for bodily injury or property damage arising out of assets

or operations. However, not all risks are covered by insurance, and no assurance can be given that insurance will be consistently

available or will be consistently available on an economically feasible basis or that the amounts of insurance will at all times be

sufficient to cover each and every loss or claim that may occur involving the assets or operations of the Corporation.

Leverage, Liquidity and Restrictive Covenants

The Business has debt service obligations under its Credit Facility that mature and are fully repayable in August 2018, subject

to compliance with covenants as outlined in the Credit Facility agreement. As at February 25, 2014, the Business had drawn

$494.0 million under its revolving Credit Facility and is permitted to draw an additional $286.4 million. Further, the Credit Facility

provides for an additional uncommitted credit arrangement of up to $100.0 million with the use of this arrangement subject to

the prior approval of the relevant lenders and fees, spreads and other terms to be negotiated at that time. As at February 25,

2014, the Business had an aggregate of $439.8 million senior secured bonds outstanding with maturities ranging from June

2017 to August 2023.

If the amounts become repayable due to an inability to comply with covenants, or if the Business is unable to extend the terms

of the facilities at time of renewal, the loss of the Credit Facility could have an adverse effect on the Business. The Credit Facility

and bonds contain numerous restrictive covenants that limit the discretion of management with respect to certain business

matters and in certain situations, the ability to make dividend payments to shareholders. In addition, the Credit Facility and bonds

contain a number of financial covenants that D+H must meet.
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Leverage Risk

The Corporation’s degree of leverage could have adverse consequences for the Corporation, including: limiting the Corporation’s

ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, product development, debt service requirements,

acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; restricting the Corporation’s flexibility and discretion to operate its

business; limiting the Corporation’s ability to declare dividends; having to dedicate a portion of the Corporation’s cash flows

from operations to the payment of interest on its existing indebtedness and not having such cash flows available for other

purposes; exposing the Corporation to increased interest expense on borrowings at variable rates; limiting the Corporation’s

ability to adjust to changing market conditions; placing the Corporation at a competitive disadvantage compared to its

competitors that have less debt; making the Corporation vulnerable in a downturn in general economic conditions; and making

the Corporation unable to make expenditures that are important to its growth and strategies.

Income Taxes

The D+H business is subject to various tax laws and regulations. Significant judgment is required for the tax filings of the

Business, which are subject to audit by taxation authorities. While D+H believes that its tax filings are made in material compliance

with applicable tax laws and regulations, there is a risk that a tax authority could have a different interpretation and potentially

impose additional taxes, penalties or fines which may negatively impact the Corporation.

In prior years, D+H has received tax credits under the Ontario Apprenticeship Tax Credit program. There can be no assurance

that such program, or any other tax credit program applicable to the Corporation, will continue in its current form or at all in the

future or that the Company will continue to be eligible to receive tax credits. If the amount of tax credits payable under the

Apprenticeship Tax Credit program, or any other such tax credit program applicable to the Corporation, were to be reassessed,

reduced or eliminated, there may be a negative effect on the Corporation’s financial results.

The Corporation May Issue Additional Common Shares Diluting Existing Shareholders’ Interests

The Corporation’s articles of incorporation authorize the Corporation to issue an unlimited number of common shares for that

consideration and on those terms and conditions as are established by the Corporation’s directors without the approval of 

any shareholders.

In addition, the Corporation may issue common shares upon the conversion, redemption or maturity of or payment of interest

on the Debentures. Accordingly, holders of common shares may suffer dilution.

Risks Associated with Future Dividend Payments

Future dividend payments and the level thereof is uncertain, as the dividend policy and the funds available for the payment of

dividends will be dependent upon, among other things: operating cash flow generated by the Corporation and its subsidiaries;

financial requirements for the Corporation’s operations; execution of D+H’s growth strategy; fluctuations in working capital and

the timing and amount of capital expenditures; debt service requirements; and other factors, some of which may be beyond the

control of D+H. The market value of the common shares may deteriorate if the Corporation is unable to meet its cash dividend

targets in the future, and such deterioration may be material.
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Volatility of Market Price of Common Shares 

The market price of the common shares may be volatile. This volatility may affect the ability of holders of common shares or

Debentures to sell their securities at an advantageous price. In addition, it may result in greater volatility in the market price of

the Debentures than would be expected for non-convertible debt securities. Market price fluctuations in the common shares

may be due to the Corporation’s operating results failing to meet expectations of securities analysts or investors in any period,

downward revision in securities analysts’ estimates, adverse changes in general market conditions or economic trends,

acquisitions, dispositions or other material public announcements by the Corporation or its competitors, along with a variety of

additional factors. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market prices of the common shares and Debentures. 

Existing and Prior Ranking Indebtedness

The Debentures are subordinate to all of the Corporation’s senior indebtedness, as defined in the trust indenture pursuant to

which the Debentures were issued (“Indenture”). The Debentures are also effectively subordinate to claims of creditors of the

Corporation’s subsidiaries, except to the extent that the Corporation is a creditor of such subsidiaries ranking at least pari passu

with such creditors. Specifically, the Debentures are effectively subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of

all indebtedness under the Credit Facility. In the event of the Corporation’s insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization,

dissolution or winding up, its assets would be made available to satisfy the obligations of the creditors of all the senior

indebtedness before being available to pay the Corporation’s obligations to the holders of the Debentures. Accordingly, all or a

substantial portion of the Corporation’s assets could be unavailable to satisfy the claims of the holders of the Debentures.

The Corporation’s ability to meet its debt-services requirements will depend on its ability to generate cash in the future, which

depends on many factors, including the Corporation’s financial performance, debt-service obligations, working capital and future

capital-expenditure requirements. In addition, the Corporation’s ability to borrow funds in the future to make payments on

outstanding debt will depend on the satisfaction of covenants in existing credit agreements and other agreements. A failure to

comply with any covenants or obligations under the Corporation’s consolidated indebtedness could result in a default, which, if

not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of the relevant indebtedness. If such indebtedness were to be accelerated,

there can be no assurance that the Corporation’s assets would be sufficient to repay such indebtedness in full. There can also

be no assurance that the Corporation will generate cash flow in amounts sufficient to pay outstanding indebtedness or to fund

any other liquidity needs.

Repayment of Debentures

The Corporation may not be able to refinance the principal amount of the Debentures in order to repay the principal outstanding

or may not have generated enough cash from operations to meet this obligation. There is no guarantee that the Corporation will

be able to repay the outstanding principal amount upon maturity of the Debentures.

Prevailing Yields on Similar Securities

Prevailing yields on similar securities will affect the market value of the Debentures. Assuming all other factors remain unchanged,

the market value of the Debentures will decline as prevailing yields for similar securities rise, and will increase as prevailing yields

for similar securities decline.
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Redemption on a Change of Control

The Corporation will be required to offer to purchase for cash all outstanding Debentures upon the occurrence of a change of

control (as defined in the Indenture). However, it is possible that, following such a change of control, the Corporation will not

have sufficient funds at that time to make the required purchase of outstanding Debentures or that restrictions contained in

other indebtedness will restrict those purchases. In addition, the Corporation’s ability to purchase the Debentures in such an

event may be limited by law, by the Indenture, by the terms of other present or future agreements relating to indebtedness, and

agreements that the Corporation may enter into in the future which may replace, supplement or amend the Corporation’s future

debt. Future credit agreements or other agreements of the Corporation may contain provisions that could limit or prohibit the

purchase of the Debentures by the Corporation. The Corporation’s failure to purchase the Debentures would constitute an event

of default under the Indenture, which might also constitute a default under the terms of the Corporation’s other indebtedness at

that time.

If a holder of Debentures converts its Debentures in connection with a change of control, the Corporation may, in certain

circumstances, be required to increase the conversion rate. While the increased conversion rate is designed, inter alia, to

compensate a holder of Debentures for the lost option-time value of its Debentures as a result of a change of control, in certain

circumstances, the increased conversion rate amount is only an approximation of such lost value and may not adequately

compensate the holder for such loss. In addition, in some circumstances, no adjustment will be made.

Absence of Covenant Protection

The Indenture will not restrict the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries from incurring additional indebtedness or from mortgaging,

pledging or charging its assets to secure any indebtedness. The Indenture will not contain any provisions specifically intended

to protect holders of the Debentures in the event of a future leveraged transaction involving the Corporation or any of its

subsidiaries.

Redemption Prior to Final Maturity Date

The Debentures may be redeemed, at the option of the Corporation, on or after September 30, 2017 and prior to the final

maturity date (being September 30, 2018) at any time and from time to time, at their principal amount, together with any accrued

and unpaid interest. Holders of Debentures should assume that this redemption option will be exercised if the Corporation is

able to refinance at a lower interest rate or it is otherwise in the interests of the Corporation to redeem the Debentures. 

Conversion Right Following Certain Transactions

In the event of certain transactions, pursuant to the terms of the Indenture, each Debenture will become convertible into securities,

cash or property receivable by a holder of Shares in such transactions. This change could substantially reduce or eliminate any

potential future value of the conversion privilege associated with the Debentures. For example, if the Corporation were acquired

in a cash merger, each Debenture would become convertible solely into cash and would no longer be convertible into securities

whose value would vary depending on future prospects and other factors.

Credit Risk

The likelihood that purchasers of the Debentures will receive payments owing to them under the terms of the Debentures will

depend on the Corporation’s financial health and creditworthiness. 
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Withholding Tax

Effective January 1, 2008, the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) was amended to generally eliminate withholding tax 

on interest paid or credited to non-residents of Canada with whom the payor deals at arm’s length. However, Canadian

withholding tax continues to apply to payments of “participating debt interests”. For purposes of the Tax Act, participating debt

interest is generally interest paid on an obligations where all or any portion of such interest is contingent or dependent on the

use of or production from property in Canada or is computed by reference to revenue, profit, cash flow, commodity price or any

similar criterion.

Under the Tax Act, when a debenture or other debt obligation issued by a person resident in Canada is assigned or otherwise

transferred by a non-resident person to a person resident in Canada (which would include a conversion of the obligation or

payment on maturity), the amount, if any, by which the price for which the obligation was assigned or transferred exceeds the

price for which the obligation was issued is deemed to be a payment of interest on that obligation made by the person resident

in Canada to the non-resident (an “Excess”). The deeming rule does not apply in respect of certain “excluded obligations”,

although it is not clear whether a particular convertible debenture would qualify as an “excluded obligations”. If a convertible

debenture is not an “excluded obligation”, issues that arise are whether any Excess would be considered to exist, whether any

such Excess which is deemed to be interest is “participating debt interest”, and if the Excess is participating debt interest,

whether that results in all interest on the obligation being considered to be participating debt interest.

The Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) had previously stated that no Excess, and therefore no participating debt interest, would

in general arise on the conversion of a “traditional convertible debenture” and therefore there would be no withholding tax in

such circumstances (provided that the payor and payee deal at arm’s length for purposes of the Tax Act). The CRA had  published

guidance on what it believes to be a “traditional convertible debenture” for these purposes. The CRA has more recently stated

that it would not consider the Excess to be participating debt interest provided that the convertible debenture in question was

issued by a Canadian public corporation (such as the Corporation) and otherwise satisfied the requirements of a “standard

convertible debenture” (as that term was defined in a submission, dated May 10, 2010, made to the CRA by the Joint Committee

on Taxation of the Canadian Bar Association and the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants). Therefore, there would be

no withholding tax in such circumstances provided that the payor and payee deal at arm's length for purposes of the Tax Act.

The Corporation has not yet assessed whether or not the Debentures would generally meet the criteria set forth in the CRA’s

recent statement. Accordingly, there is a risk that amounts paid or payable by the Corporation to a non-resident holder of

Debentures on account of interest or any Excess amount may be subject to Canadian withholding tax at a rate of 25% (subject

to any reduction in accordance with any applicable income tax treaty or convention).

The Indenture will not contain a requirement that the Corporation increase the amount of interest or other payments to holders

of Debentures should it be required to withhold amounts in respect of income or similar taxes on payments of interest or other

amounts on the Debentures.
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Investment Eligibility

There can be no assurance that the D+H’s common shares will continue to be qualified investments under the Tax Act for trusts

governed by a registered retirement savings plan, deferred profit sharing plan, registered retirement income fund, registered

education savings plan, registered disability savings plan and tax-free savings account. Moreover, in certain circumstances,

even if common shares are a qualified investment for a trust governed by a tax-free savings account, they may nevertheless

constitute a “prohibited investment” for the purposes of a tax-free savings account in which case a holder of a tax-free savings

account would be subject to a penalty tax.

Shareholder Rights Plan

On May 8, 2013, the Corporation entered into an amended and restated rights plan agreement (the “Rights Plan Agreement”)

with CIBC Mellon Trust Company, as rights agent, in connection with the renewal of the Corporation’s shareholder rights plan.

The Rights Plan Agreement was approved by the shareholders of the Corporation on May 8, 2013. The Rights Plan Agreement

amended and restated the rights plan agreement of the Corporation dated January 1, 2011. The Rights Plan Agreement may

discourage, delay, or prevent a third party from acquiring a large portion of the Corporation’s securities, initiating a tender offer

or proxy contest, or acquiring the Corporation through an acquisition, merger, or similar transaction. Such an acquirer could be

prevented from consummating one of these transactions even if the Corporation’s Shareholders might receive a premium for

their shares over then-current market prices.

outlook 

D+H’s long-term financial objective is to deliver sustainable and growing earnings through continued organic revenue growth

and by way of strategic acquisitions. Management believes the recent acquisition of HFS will: (i) strengthen our ability to 

deliver on our goal of being a leading FinTech provider to the financial services industry; (ii) provide enhanced revenue

diversification; (iii) deliver strong and sustainable cash flows to fund future growth, dividends and deleveraging; and (iv) support

our long-term strategy.

Going forward, we will focus on building an integrated operating model for our U.S. operations that will enable us to efficiently

and effectively execute our organic growth initiatives including cross-selling our now larger suite of FinTech solutions inclusive

of HFS. This includes achieving effective integration of our HFS platform technologies and sales plans. Simultaneously across

all operations, we will continue to diligently identify and realize on efficiency opportunities to better serve customers, and achieve

our financial goals. We believe that our market leadership and combined capabilities will solidly position D+H in the markets we

serve and allow us to grow, consistent with our long-term objectives. 

As set out in our statement of strategy, we look to grow through a combination of organic initiatives, partnering with third parties

and, over time, by way of selective additional acquisitions. Our organic initiatives include: (i) cross-selling our expanded FinTech

products including existing SaaS offerings and cloud-based offerings with those provided by the newly acquired HFS to both

our now larger customer base and approximately 7,000 other U.S. financial institutions that could benefit from our technology

portfolio; (ii) advancing our payments solutions through growth in value-added consumer and business services to financial

institution customers; (iii) expanding our current technology-enabled offerings within the mortgage, auto, personal, student

lending, commercial and leasing markets; and (iv) exploring opportunities to provide our expanded solutions to customers in

selected international markets and to Canada’s credit unions.
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We also look to add to our organic growth through partnerships with other leading providers. D+H has established a number

of such partnerships over the years, as has HFS, and we intend to capitalize on our expanded customer base to build on these

mutually beneficial relationships as we move forward.

The acquisition strategy executed by D+H over the past number of years has evolved our FinTech leadership position within the

North American market and has strengthened our operating model by diversifying revenue and reduced our risk profile by

lowering our customer concentration and product dependency. Following past acquisitions, D+H has focused on reducing

leverage used for acquisition purposes. Consistent with our approach, we intend to repay debt following the HFS acquisition

and expect to reduce our Debt to EBITDA ratio to below 2.5 in 2015 while supporting our current dividend.

With the inclusion of several new service areas over the last several years, we expect to continue to experience some increase

in variability in year-over-year quarterly revenues, EBITDA, net income and cash flows, due to, among other items: (i) volatility in

personal cheque order volume declines; (ii) competitive dynamics in the Canadian lending environment; (iii) volume variances

within the mortgage origination and lien registration markets; (iv) timing differences and variability in professional services work;

and (v) fees and expenses associated with acquisitions and related integration activities. 

Canadian Segment

Within the Canadian Segment, the downward trend in cheque order volumes is expected to continue to be in the mid-single

digits through 2014, with ongoing volatility in personal cheque order volumes coupled with comparatively minimal volatility in

business cheque order volumes. 

In the Canadian banking technology service area, Canadian housing markets analysts are expecting a softening in real estate

activity, along with a softening in home sale pricing in 2014. Furthermore, a potential rate increase by the Bank of Canada would

likely further slowdown activity and moderate home prices. In addition, the broker market will continue to experience competition

from internal mobile sales force at lending institutions. Revenues from Canadian banking technology service area may be

impacted by pricing model adjustments, which may be offset by potential revenue from the launch of new products in the

Canadian lending market, including extension of our technology solutions across various areas in the lending value chain. 

Revenues within the lending processing solutions is expected to benefit from: (i) growth in tuition rates and an increase in uptake

rates in the student loans administration service area; and (ii) continuing recovery within the auto and auto lending markets,

including increased repossessions. 

Volumes in the student loan administration service area are expected to be relatively stable and modestly growing in the short

term. Activities related to cost management and improving delivery efficiency are being directed towards lowering the impact of

reduced pricing and fees related to the recent customer consolidation. Within the auto and auto lending markets, growth in

new and resold car sales is expected to continue in 2014, while increases in lender portfolio values should continue to drive

recovery volume increases despite falling delinquency rates.

In addition, within our Canadian Segment, EBITDA and margins may be impacted from the timing of customer adoption of new

products and service, which may cause pressure on overall Canadian Segment EBITDA and margins in the short term as these

programs mature. 
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U.S. Segment

In the U.S. Segment, we expect to benefit from the emerging recovery of the U.S. economy and banking sector, anticipated

growth in spending by community banks and credit unions on core banking technology and additional FinTech solutions and

increased need for lending technology products that can meet regulatory and compliance requirements. The recovering U.S.

housing market will be offset by the impact that higher interest rates may have on refinancing activity which will negatively impact

transaction-related volumes and revenues within our businesses that service the U.S. mortgage markets. We also anticipate

revenue synergies from cross selling opportunities between our existing SaaS customers and product offerings. Additionally,

community banks are expected to increase technology investment on new core systems over the next few years. Overall,

forecasts from IDC Financial Insights suggest that North American FinTech spending will grow between 4% and 6% in 2014

and 2015 among banks and credit unions that are primary users of our current technologies. Across banks and credit unions

of all sizes, IDC projects that the FinTech market will be valued at over $61 billion by the end of 2015. There are currently over

13,000 financial institutions in the U.S., of which we currently serve over 6,000. Our technology suite allows us to offer products

to large and small financial institutions alike and we are reaching into the available markets to gain a foothold among the more

than 7,000 banks and credit unions who have not used D+H before. We believe we are well-positioned to capture our share

of market expansion through our strategies. 

Capital spend

For 2014, inclusive of HFS, we anticipate total capital spending of approximately $50 to $55 million, focusing more on new

growth opportunities. Capital spending in 2014 may vary based on spending in support of new growth opportunities if and as

they arise.

Cash taxes

The Corporation will pay its 2013 Canadian tax liability in early 2014 and will begin to make increased Canadian tax installment

payments in 2014, in addition to its existing U.S. tax installment payments, which have increased due to the acquisition of HFS. 

Additional information

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s most recently filed Annual Information Form, is available

on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

february 25, 2014
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SuppLEMENtAry fiNANCiAL iNforMAtioN 

Consolidated operating results by period 
Canadian

IFRS GAAP 

Year Year Year Year Year 
ended ended ended ended ended 

Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts, unaudited) 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues $ 837,093 $ 259,075 $ 209,223 $ 197,134 $ 171,661 $ 695,456 $ 172,457 $ 176,689 $ 180,989 $ 165,321 $ 655,714 $ 166,580 $ 169,334 $ 167,873 $ 151,927 $ 584,224 $ 445,414 
Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 29,165 13,058 16,107 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Adjusted revenues 2 866,258 272,133 225,330 197,134 171,661 695,456 172,457 176,689 180,989 165,321 655,714 166,580 169,334 167,873 151,927 584,224 445,414 

Revenues 837,093 259,075 209,223 197,134 171,661 695,456 172,457 176,689 180,989 165,321 655,714 166,580 169,334 167,873 151,927 584,224 445,414 
Expenses 3 637,630 190,876 172,539 144,551 129,664 513,850 131,082 129,405 128,289 125,074 480,919 121,865 123,655 120,295 115,104 439,994 308,906 
EBITDA 2, 3 199,463 68,199 36,684 52,583 41,997 181,606 41,375 47,284 52,700 40,247 174,795 44,715 45,679 47,578 36,823 144,230 136,508 
Adjustments:

Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 24,247 9,217 15,030 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Acquisition-related and other charges 3 23,760 3,842 13,126 5,764 1,028 14,938 6,558 3,265 4,378 737 3,753 637 610 707 1,799 8,428 - 

Adjusted EBITDA 2 247,470 81,258 64,840 58,347 43,025 196,544 47,933 50,549 57,078 40,984 178,548 45,352 46,289 48,285 38,622 152,658 136,508 

EBITDA 2, 3 199,463 68,199 36,684 52,583 41,997 181,606 41,375 47,284 52,700 40,247 174,795 44,715 45,679 47,578 36,823 144,230 136,508 
Depreciation of capital assets and amortization of 

non-acquisition intangibles 31,645 10,937 7,532 6,657 6,519 27,667 7,568 6,648 6,986 6,465 21,588 6,171 5,242 5,249 4,926 17,888 15,676 
Amortization of intangibles from acquisitions 68,787 27,631 19,182 11,060 10,914 42,990 11,292 10,597 10,706 10,395 38,555 10,465 10,496 10,046 7,548 25,840 19,180 
Income from operating activities 99,031 29,631 9,970 34,866 24,564 110,949 22,515 30,039 35,008 23,387 114,652 28,079 29,941 32,283 24,349 100,502 101,652 
Interest expense 35,747 15,509 11,251 4,516 4,471 19,214 4,629 4,943 4,821 4,821 18,962 4,909 4,792 5,272 3,989 13,988 9,541 
Other finance charges 4 3,224 - 3,224 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Income from investment in an associate, net of tax (130) - - - (130) (68) 23 (53) (38) - - - - - - - - 
Gain on re-measurement of previously held equity interest 5 (1,587) - - - (1,587) - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Amortization and fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 6 (6,207) (138) (4,759) (1,203) (107) (2,016) (542) (445) 616 (1,645) 3,386 (145) 3,991 1,227 (1,687) (803) (3,667)
Income tax expense (recovery) 6,280 (975) (7,383) 9,158 5,480 23,531 4,165 5,987 8,345 5,034 1,165 7,758 5,685 1,887 (14,165) 3,914 (1,469)
Income from continuing operations 61,704 15,235 7,637 22,395 16,437 70,288 14,240 19,607 21,264 15,177 91,139 15,557 15,473 23,897 36,212 83,403 97,247 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 7 (18,052) 2,133 (704) (8,786) (10,695) (1,151) (529) (2) (377) (243) (1,211) (188) (413) (433) (177) (4,616) (2,233)
Net income 43,652 17,368 6,933 13,609 5,742 69,137 13,711 19,605 20,887 14,934 89,928 15,369 15,060 23,464 36,035 78,787 95,014 

Adjustments:
Non-cash items:

Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 24,247 9,217 15,030 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Non-cash interest expense 8 2,058 1,349 709 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Other finance charges 4 3,224 - 3,224 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Amortization of intangibles from acquisitions 68,787 27,631 19,182 11,060 10,914 42,990 11,292 10,597 10,706 10,395 38,555 10,465 10,496 10,046 7,548
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest 5 (1,587) - - - (1,587) - - - - - - - - - -
Amortization and fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 6 (6,207) (138) (4,759) (1,203) (107) (2,016) (542) (445) 616 (1,645) 3,386 (145) 3,991 1,227 (1,687)

Other items of note:
Acquisition-related and other charges 3 23,760 3,842 13,126 5,764 1,028 14,938 6,558 3,265 4,378 737 3,753 637 610 707 1,799

Tax effect of above adjustments 9 (38,207) (15,100) (15,715) (3,814) (3,578) (16,974) (5,543) (3,962) (4,615) (2,854) (12,630) (3,237) (4,311) (3,103) (1,979)
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 7 18,052 (2,133) 704 8,786 10,695 1,151 529 2 377 243 1,211 188 413 433 177
Tax effect of corporate conversion, acquisitions and IFRS adjustments 10 (1,726) - (1,726) - - (1,156) - (1,156) - - (20,757) 2,080 - (3,628) (19,209)
Adjusted net income 2 $ 136,053 $ 42,036 $ 36,708 $ 34,202 $ 23,107 $ 108,070 $ 26,005 $ 27,906 $ 32,349 $ 21,810 $ 103,446 $ 25,357 $ 26,259 $ 29,146 $ 22,684

Adjusted net income per share, basic 2 2.0197 0.5206 0.5245 0.5774 0.3901 1.8245 0.4390 0.4711 0.5461 0.3682 1.7968 0.4281 0.4433 0.4982 0.4261 n/m n/m 
Net income from continuing operations per share 11

Basic 0.9160 0.1887 0.1091 0.3781 0.2775 1.1866 0.2404 0.3310 0.3590 0.2562 1.5830 0.2626 0.2612 0.4084 0.6803 1.5667 2.0274 
Diluted 0.9149 0.1883 0.1089 0.3781 0.2775 1.1866 0.2404 0.3310 0.3590 0.2562 1.5830 0.2626 0.2612 0.4084 0.6803 1.5667 2.0274 

Loss from discontinued operations per share 11

Basic (0.2680) 0.0264 (0.0101) (0.1483) (0.1806) (0.0194) (0.0089) - (0.0064) (0.0041) (0.0210) (0.0032) (0.0070) (0.0074) (0.0033) (0.0867) (0.0466)
Diluted (0.2677) 0.0264 (0.0100) (0.1483) (0.1806) (0.0194) (0.0089) - (0.0064) (0.0041) (0.0210) (0.0032) (0.0070) (0.0074) (0.0033) (0.0867) (0.0466)

Net income per share 11

Basic 0.6480 0.2151 0.0990 0.2298 0.0969 1.1672 0.2315 0.3310 0.3526 0.2521 1.5620 0.2594 0.2542 0.4010 0.6770 1.4800 1.9808 
Diluted 0.6472 0.2147 0.0989 0.2298 0.0969 1.1672 0.2315 0.3310 0.3526 0.2521 1.5620 0.2594 0.2542 0.4010 0.6770 1.4800 1.9808 
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Consolidated operating results by period 
Canadian

IFRS GAAP 

Year Year Year Year Year 
ended ended ended ended ended 

Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts, unaudited) 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues $ 837,093 $ 259,075 $ 209,223 $ 197,134 $ 171,661 $ 695,456 $ 172,457 $ 176,689 $ 180,989 $ 165,321 $ 655,714 $ 166,580 $ 169,334 $ 167,873 $ 151,927 $ 584,224 $ 445,414 
Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 29,165 13,058 16,107 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Adjusted revenues 2 866,258 272,133 225,330 197,134 171,661 695,456 172,457 176,689 180,989 165,321 655,714 166,580 169,334 167,873 151,927 584,224 445,414 

Revenues 837,093 259,075 209,223 197,134 171,661 695,456 172,457 176,689 180,989 165,321 655,714 166,580 169,334 167,873 151,927 584,224 445,414 
Expenses 3 637,630 190,876 172,539 144,551 129,664 513,850 131,082 129,405 128,289 125,074 480,919 121,865 123,655 120,295 115,104 439,994 308,906 
EBITDA 2, 3 199,463 68,199 36,684 52,583 41,997 181,606 41,375 47,284 52,700 40,247 174,795 44,715 45,679 47,578 36,823 144,230 136,508 
Adjustments:

Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 24,247 9,217 15,030 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Acquisition-related and other charges 3 23,760 3,842 13,126 5,764 1,028 14,938 6,558 3,265 4,378 737 3,753 637 610 707 1,799 8,428 - 

Adjusted EBITDA 2 247,470 81,258 64,840 58,347 43,025 196,544 47,933 50,549 57,078 40,984 178,548 45,352 46,289 48,285 38,622 152,658 136,508 

EBITDA 2, 3 199,463 68,199 36,684 52,583 41,997 181,606 41,375 47,284 52,700 40,247 174,795 44,715 45,679 47,578 36,823 144,230 136,508 
Depreciation of capital assets and amortization of 

non-acquisition intangibles 31,645 10,937 7,532 6,657 6,519 27,667 7,568 6,648 6,986 6,465 21,588 6,171 5,242 5,249 4,926 17,888 15,676 
Amortization of intangibles from acquisitions 68,787 27,631 19,182 11,060 10,914 42,990 11,292 10,597 10,706 10,395 38,555 10,465 10,496 10,046 7,548 25,840 19,180 
Income from operating activities 99,031 29,631 9,970 34,866 24,564 110,949 22,515 30,039 35,008 23,387 114,652 28,079 29,941 32,283 24,349 100,502 101,652 
Interest expense 35,747 15,509 11,251 4,516 4,471 19,214 4,629 4,943 4,821 4,821 18,962 4,909 4,792 5,272 3,989 13,988 9,541 
Other finance charges 4 3,224 - 3,224 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Income from investment in an associate, net of tax (130) - - - (130) (68) 23 (53) (38) - - - - - - - - 
Gain on re-measurement of previously held equity interest 5 (1,587) - - - (1,587) - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Amortization and fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 6 (6,207) (138) (4,759) (1,203) (107) (2,016) (542) (445) 616 (1,645) 3,386 (145) 3,991 1,227 (1,687) (803) (3,667)
Income tax expense (recovery) 6,280 (975) (7,383) 9,158 5,480 23,531 4,165 5,987 8,345 5,034 1,165 7,758 5,685 1,887 (14,165) 3,914 (1,469)
Income from continuing operations 61,704 15,235 7,637 22,395 16,437 70,288 14,240 19,607 21,264 15,177 91,139 15,557 15,473 23,897 36,212 83,403 97,247 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 7 (18,052) 2,133 (704) (8,786) (10,695) (1,151) (529) (2) (377) (243) (1,211) (188) (413) (433) (177) (4,616) (2,233)
Net income 43,652 17,368 6,933 13,609 5,742 69,137 13,711 19,605 20,887 14,934 89,928 15,369 15,060 23,464 36,035 78,787 95,014 

Adjustments:
Non-cash items:

Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 24,247 9,217 15,030 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Non-cash interest expense 8 2,058 1,349 709 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Other finance charges 4 3,224 - 3,224 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Amortization of intangibles from acquisitions 68,787 27,631 19,182 11,060 10,914 42,990 11,292 10,597 10,706 10,395 38,555 10,465 10,496 10,046 7,548
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest 5 (1,587) - - - (1,587) - - - - - - - - - -
Amortization and fair value adjustment of derivative instruments 6 (6,207) (138) (4,759) (1,203) (107) (2,016) (542) (445) 616 (1,645) 3,386 (145) 3,991 1,227 (1,687)

Other items of note:
Acquisition-related and other charges 3 23,760 3,842 13,126 5,764 1,028 14,938 6,558 3,265 4,378 737 3,753 637 610 707 1,799

Tax effect of above adjustments 9 (38,207) (15,100) (15,715) (3,814) (3,578) (16,974) (5,543) (3,962) (4,615) (2,854) (12,630) (3,237) (4,311) (3,103) (1,979)
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 7 18,052 (2,133) 704 8,786 10,695 1,151 529 2 377 243 1,211 188 413 433 177
Tax effect of corporate conversion, acquisitions and IFRS adjustments 10 (1,726) - (1,726) - - (1,156) - (1,156) - - (20,757) 2,080 - (3,628) (19,209)
Adjusted net income 2 $ 136,053 $ 42,036 $ 36,708 $ 34,202 $ 23,107 $ 108,070 $ 26,005 $ 27,906 $ 32,349 $ 21,810 $ 103,446 $ 25,357 $ 26,259 $ 29,146 $ 22,684

Adjusted net income per share, basic 2 2.0197 0.5206 0.5245 0.5774 0.3901 1.8245 0.4390 0.4711 0.5461 0.3682 1.7968 0.4281 0.4433 0.4982 0.4261 n/m n/m 
Net income from continuing operations per share 11

Basic 0.9160 0.1887 0.1091 0.3781 0.2775 1.1866 0.2404 0.3310 0.3590 0.2562 1.5830 0.2626 0.2612 0.4084 0.6803 1.5667 2.0274 
Diluted 0.9149 0.1883 0.1089 0.3781 0.2775 1.1866 0.2404 0.3310 0.3590 0.2562 1.5830 0.2626 0.2612 0.4084 0.6803 1.5667 2.0274 

Loss from discontinued operations per share 11

Basic (0.2680) 0.0264 (0.0101) (0.1483) (0.1806) (0.0194) (0.0089) - (0.0064) (0.0041) (0.0210) (0.0032) (0.0070) (0.0074) (0.0033) (0.0867) (0.0466)
Diluted (0.2677) 0.0264 (0.0100) (0.1483) (0.1806) (0.0194) (0.0089) - (0.0064) (0.0041) (0.0210) (0.0032) (0.0070) (0.0074) (0.0033) (0.0867) (0.0466)

Net income per share 11

Basic 0.6480 0.2151 0.0990 0.2298 0.0969 1.1672 0.2315 0.3310 0.3526 0.2521 1.5620 0.2594 0.2542 0.4010 0.6770 1.4800 1.9808 
Diluted 0.6472 0.2147 0.0989 0.2298 0.0969 1.1672 0.2315 0.3310 0.3526 0.2521 1.5620 0.2594 0.2542 0.4010 0.6770 1.4800 1.9808 



Condensed Consolidated Statements of financial position 1

Canadian
IFRS GAAP 

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q4
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents $ 32,398 $ 11,749 $ 3,794 $ 768 $ 5,719 $ 1,443 $ 2,038 $ 2,888 $ 2,213 $ 4,195 $ 747 $ 1,986 $ 1,144 $ 3,878 

Other current assets 139,585 141,364 100,843 113,849 103,281 114,725 114,166 96,806 97,646 101,675 102,802 83,905 77,460 72,878 

Capital and other non-current assets 77,234 68,401 31,307 30,742 43,517 43,625 44,409 35,902 35,809 35,701 36,564 36,799 32,289 30,667 

Intangible assets 1,156,170 1,146,737 415,532 421,988 421,366 429,593 444,708 432,880 444,575 455,640 456,165 317,885 266,837 289,774 

Goodwill 1,508,430 1,485,729 724,380 717,555 690,583 688,444 693,640 664,356 666,735 669,411 656,110 544,053 524,228 519,848 

$ 2,913,817 $2,853,980 $1,275,856 $1,284,902 $ 1,264,466 $1,277,830 $1,298,961 $1,232,832 $ 1,246,978 $1,266,622 $1,252,388 $ 984,628 $ 901,958 $ 917,045 

Payables and other current liabilities $ 241,393 $ 211,128 $ 118,781 $ 114,729 113,193 $ 99,910 $ 101,427 $ 93,739 $ 106,827 $ 103,546 $ 101,296 $ 94,505 $ 106,426 $ 87,463 

Long-term indebtedness 924,129 913,956 353,588 369,340 340,577 365,268 387,064 350,027 345,921 367,573 377,178 277,254 196,215 208,463 

Convertible debentures 209,647 208,777 - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Other long-term liabilities 401,115 399,208 110,662 108,666 108,588 107,640 101,363 85,655 84,532 77,894 66,601 29,617 44,167 45,828 

Equity 1,137,533 1,120,911 692,825 692,167 702,108 705,012 709,107 703,411 709,698 717,609 707,313 583,252 555,150 575,291 

$ 2,913,817 $2,853,980 $1,275,856 $1,284,902 $ 1,264,466 $1,277,830 $1,298,961 $1,232,832 $ 1,246,978 $1,266,622 $1,252,388 $ 984,628 $ 901,958 $ 917,045

1 Comparatives have been restated to conform to the current period’s disclosure.

112 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 

Footnotes to Consolidated Operating Results by Period

1 Acquisition accounting adjustments relate to the amortization of the fair value adjustments on deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired in connection with
the acquisition of HFS. See “Adjusted revenues” and “Adjusted EBITDA” in the Non-IFRS Financial Measures for a more complete description of these terms.

2 Adjusted Revenue, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted net income and Adjusted net income per share are non-IFRS terms. See Non-IFRS Financial Measures
for a more complete description of these terms. Income from operating activities is an additional IFRS term. See Additional IFRS Measures for a more complete
description of this term.

3 Acquisition-related and other charges may include the following: acquisition-related expenses such as transaction costs, business integration costs and certain
retention and incentive costs incurred in connection with acquisitions; (ii) other charges such as corporate development costs related to strategic acquisition
initiatives; and (iii) costs incurred in connection with cost-realignment initiatives, all of which are not considered to be part of the normal course of operations. 

4 Upon acquisition of HFS, the Credit Facility replaced the Previous Credit Facility entered into in 2011, resulting in a write-off of the unamortized deferred debt
issuance costs related to the Previous Credit Facility.

5 Upon acquisition of the remaining interest in Compushare in January 2013, a non-cash gain related to re-measurement of the previously held equity interest was
recognized in accordance with IFRS standards.

6 Gain in the third quarter of 2013 was mainly attributable to the fair value changes of the foreign exchange forward contracts entered into by D+H to economically
hedge the foreign exchange risk arising from the proceeds denominated in U.S. dollar to fund the acquisition of HFS. Gains and losses in the other periods
included: (i) mark-to-market adjustments of interest-rate swaps that are not designated as hedges for hedge accounting purposes, and for which any change in
the fair value of these contracts is recorded through the Consolidated Statement of Income, and (ii) amortization of the mark-to-market adjustment of interest rate
swaps relating to cumulative net gains and losses that were deferred prior to January 1, 2007 when hedge accounting was discontinued for these swaps.
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of financial position 1

Canadian
IFRS GAAP 

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q4
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents $ 32,398 $ 11,749 $ 3,794 $ 768 $ 5,719 $ 1,443 $ 2,038 $ 2,888 $ 2,213 $ 4,195 $ 747 $ 1,986 $ 1,144 $ 3,878 

Other current assets 139,585 141,364 100,843 113,849 103,281 114,725 114,166 96,806 97,646 101,675 102,802 83,905 77,460 72,878 

Capital and other non-current assets 77,234 68,401 31,307 30,742 43,517 43,625 44,409 35,902 35,809 35,701 36,564 36,799 32,289 30,667 

Intangible assets 1,156,170 1,146,737 415,532 421,988 421,366 429,593 444,708 432,880 444,575 455,640 456,165 317,885 266,837 289,774 

Goodwill 1,508,430 1,485,729 724,380 717,555 690,583 688,444 693,640 664,356 666,735 669,411 656,110 544,053 524,228 519,848 

$ 2,913,817 $2,853,980 $1,275,856 $1,284,902 $ 1,264,466 $1,277,830 $1,298,961 $1,232,832 $ 1,246,978 $1,266,622 $1,252,388 $ 984,628 $ 901,958 $ 917,045 

Payables and other current liabilities $ 241,393 $ 211,128 $ 118,781 $ 114,729 113,193 $ 99,910 $ 101,427 $ 93,739 $ 106,827 $ 103,546 $ 101,296 $ 94,505 $ 106,426 $ 87,463 

Long-term indebtedness 924,129 913,956 353,588 369,340 340,577 365,268 387,064 350,027 345,921 367,573 377,178 277,254 196,215 208,463 

Convertible debentures 209,647 208,777 - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Other long-term liabilities 401,115 399,208 110,662 108,666 108,588 107,640 101,363 85,655 84,532 77,894 66,601 29,617 44,167 45,828 

Equity 1,137,533 1,120,911 692,825 692,167 702,108 705,012 709,107 703,411 709,698 717,609 707,313 583,252 555,150 575,291 

$ 2,913,817 $2,853,980 $1,275,856 $1,284,902 $ 1,264,466 $1,277,830 $1,298,961 $1,232,832 $ 1,246,978 $1,266,622 $1,252,388 $ 984,628 $ 901,958 $ 917,045

1 Comparatives have been restated to conform to the current period’s disclosure.

Footnotes continured from page 112

7 Income (loss) from discontinued operations include results from the following sale(s) of businesses: (i) D+H’s divestiture of its non-strategic business processing
operations in May 2013, and (ii) D+H divestiture of a non-strategic component of its contact centre business in October 2010. D+H entered into transition
services agreements for both of these sales. The results of these operations are presented as discontinued operations.

8 Non-cash interest charges relate to accretion of Debentures issued to partially fund the acquisition of HFS and amortization of deferred financing charges incurred
in connection with the Company’s financing arrangements. 

9 The adjustments to net income are tax effected at their respective tax rates.

10 Adjustments for the third quarters of 2013 and 2012 included a non-cash tax recovery related to liabilities recognized in connection with the acquisition of
Mortgagebot.  Adjustment for the third quarter of 2013 also included a one-time income tax expense arising from the revaluation of the Company’s deferred taxes
to reflect the change in future U.S. income tax rates resulting from the acquisition of HFS. Adjustments for the first and second quarters of 2011 included non-
cash income tax recoveries recorded in connection with the conversion to a corporation and acquisitions. Adjustments for the fourth quarter of 2011 related to
de-recognition of previously recognized tax attributes.

11 Diluted per share reflects the impacts of outstanding stock options. If the average market price during the period is below the option price plus the fair market
value of the option, then the options are not included in the dilution calculation for income from operating activities per share.



Consolidated Cash flows by period
Canadian

IFRS GAAP 

Year Year Year Year Year 
ended ended ended ended ended 

Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2009 

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in):

Operating Activities

Income from continuing operations $ 61,704 $ 15,235 $ 7,637 $ 22,395 $ 16,437 $ 70,288 $ 14,240 $ 19,607 $ 21,264 $ 15,177 $ 91,139 $ 15,557 $ 15,473 $ 23,897 $ 36,212 $ 83,403 $ 97,247

Depreciation and amortization of assets 100,432 38,568 26,714 17,717 17,433 70,657 18,860 17,245 17,692 16,860 60,143 16,636 15,738 15,295 12,474 43,728 34,856

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments (6,207) (138) (4,759) (1,203) (107) (2,016) (542) (445) 616 (1,645) 3,386 (145) 3,991 1,227 (1,687) (803) (3,667)

Income from investment in an associate, net of tax (130) - - - (130) (68) 23 (53) (38) - - - - - - - -

Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest (1,587) - - - (1,587) - - - - - - - - - - - -

Business combination adjustments - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2,257 -

Interest expense, including amortization of deferred finance 

fees and accretion 35,747 15,509 11,251 4,516 4,471 19,214 4,629 4,943 4,821 4,821 18,962 4,909 4,792 5,272 3,989 13,988 9,541

Other finance charges 3,224 - 3,224 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Non-cash income tax and options expenses 6,822 (781) (7,188) 9,200 5,591 25,184 4,091 5,899 8,242 6,952 1,475 7,914 5,790 1,936 (14,165) 3,914 (1,469)

200,005 68,393 36,879 52,625 42,108 183,259 41,301 47,196 52,597 42,165 175,105 44,871 45,784 47,627 36,823 146,487 136,508

Changes in non-cash working capital items 37,427 29,374 23,196 5 (15,148) (4,500) 25,091 (2,282) (12,669) (14,640) (23,021) 6,746 1,036 (15,129) (15,674) 423 (8,302)

Changes in other operating assets and liabilities and 

discontinued operations (19,521) (8,299) (1,660) (6,623) (2,939) 1,545 (3,008) 2,530 754 1,269 3,993 (220) 1,676 1,752 784 3,338 549

Interest paid (23,081) (8,674) (6,189) (4,175) (4,043) (17,118) (4,248) (4,163) (4,486) (4,221) (17,395) (4,357) (4,510) (4,343) (4,185) (12,995) (9,033)

Income tax paid (4,966) (1,670) (1,173) (779) (1,344) - - - - - - - - - - - -

Net cash from operating activities 189,864 79,124 51,053 41,053 18,634 163,186 59,136 43,281 36,196 24,573 138,681 47,040 43,986 29,907 17,748 137,253 119,722

Financing Activities

Net change in long-term indebtedness 561,131 (15,000) 570,563 (20,481) 26,049 (3,415) (26,187) (17,789) 35,561 5,000 149,505 (20,000) (15,000) 103,505 81,000 (11,000) (11,948)

Issuance costs, equity and debt (37,761) - (37,761) - - (902) - (791) (111) - (9,928) (28) (103) (8,492) (1,305) (2,564) (2,321)

Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures 230,000 - 230,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Proceeds from issuance of shares 460,207 - 460,207 - - - - - - - 121,800 - - 121,800 - - -

Distributions and dividends paid during the period (89,582) (25,836) (25,836) (18,955) (18,955) (74,042) (18,956) (18,362) (18,362) (18,362) (70,640) (18,362) (18,362) (17,770) (16,146) (97,928) (87,962)

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities 1,123,995 (40,836) 1,197,173 (39,436) 7,094 (78,359) (45,143) (36,942) 17,088 (13,362) 190,737 (38,390) (33,465) 199,043 63,549 (111,492) (102,231)

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (39,861) (17,639) (9,301) (6,635) (6,286) (33,317) (9,717) (6,934) (6,130) (10,536) (35,356) (10,632) (7,073) (7,930) (9,721) (30,264) (15,243)

Acquisition of investment in associate - - - - - (10,058) - - (10,058) - - - - - - - -

Acquisitions and divestitures (1,256,450) - (1,231,601) (456) (24,393) (37,946) - - (37,946) - (292,993) - - (222,259) (70,734) 1,769 (10,436)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 631 - 631 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Sale of discontinued operations 8,500 - - 8,500 - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities (1,287,180) (17,639) (1,240,271) 1,409 (30,679) (81,321) (9,717) (6,934) (54,134) (10,536) (328,349) (10,632) (7,073) (230,189) (80,455) (28,495) (25,679)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the period 26,679 20,649 7,955 3,026 (4,951) 3,506 4,276 (595) (850) 675 1,069 (1,982) 3,448 (1,239) 842 (2,734) (8,188)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 5,719 11,749 3,794 768 5,719 2,213 1,443 2,038 2,888 2,213 1,144 4,195 747 1,986 1,144 3,878 12,066

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 32,398 $ 32,398 $ 11,749 $ 3,794 $ 768 $ 5,719 $ 5,719 $ 1,443 $ 2,038 $ 2,888 $ 2,213 $ 2,213 $ 4,195 $ 747 $ 1,986 $ 1,144 $ 3,878
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Consolidated Cash flows by period
Canadian

IFRS GAAP 

Year Year Year Year Year 
ended ended ended ended ended 

Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unaudited) 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2009 

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in):

Operating Activities

Income from continuing operations $ 61,704 $ 15,235 $ 7,637 $ 22,395 $ 16,437 $ 70,288 $ 14,240 $ 19,607 $ 21,264 $ 15,177 $ 91,139 $ 15,557 $ 15,473 $ 23,897 $ 36,212 $ 83,403 $ 97,247

Depreciation and amortization of assets 100,432 38,568 26,714 17,717 17,433 70,657 18,860 17,245 17,692 16,860 60,143 16,636 15,738 15,295 12,474 43,728 34,856

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments (6,207) (138) (4,759) (1,203) (107) (2,016) (542) (445) 616 (1,645) 3,386 (145) 3,991 1,227 (1,687) (803) (3,667)

Income from investment in an associate, net of tax (130) - - - (130) (68) 23 (53) (38) - - - - - - - -

Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest (1,587) - - - (1,587) - - - - - - - - - - - -

Business combination adjustments - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2,257 -

Interest expense, including amortization of deferred finance 

fees and accretion 35,747 15,509 11,251 4,516 4,471 19,214 4,629 4,943 4,821 4,821 18,962 4,909 4,792 5,272 3,989 13,988 9,541

Other finance charges 3,224 - 3,224 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Non-cash income tax and options expenses 6,822 (781) (7,188) 9,200 5,591 25,184 4,091 5,899 8,242 6,952 1,475 7,914 5,790 1,936 (14,165) 3,914 (1,469)

200,005 68,393 36,879 52,625 42,108 183,259 41,301 47,196 52,597 42,165 175,105 44,871 45,784 47,627 36,823 146,487 136,508

Changes in non-cash working capital items 37,427 29,374 23,196 5 (15,148) (4,500) 25,091 (2,282) (12,669) (14,640) (23,021) 6,746 1,036 (15,129) (15,674) 423 (8,302)

Changes in other operating assets and liabilities and 

discontinued operations (19,521) (8,299) (1,660) (6,623) (2,939) 1,545 (3,008) 2,530 754 1,269 3,993 (220) 1,676 1,752 784 3,338 549

Interest paid (23,081) (8,674) (6,189) (4,175) (4,043) (17,118) (4,248) (4,163) (4,486) (4,221) (17,395) (4,357) (4,510) (4,343) (4,185) (12,995) (9,033)

Income tax paid (4,966) (1,670) (1,173) (779) (1,344) - - - - - - - - - - - -

Net cash from operating activities 189,864 79,124 51,053 41,053 18,634 163,186 59,136 43,281 36,196 24,573 138,681 47,040 43,986 29,907 17,748 137,253 119,722

Financing Activities

Net change in long-term indebtedness 561,131 (15,000) 570,563 (20,481) 26,049 (3,415) (26,187) (17,789) 35,561 5,000 149,505 (20,000) (15,000) 103,505 81,000 (11,000) (11,948)

Issuance costs, equity and debt (37,761) - (37,761) - - (902) - (791) (111) - (9,928) (28) (103) (8,492) (1,305) (2,564) (2,321)

Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures 230,000 - 230,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Proceeds from issuance of shares 460,207 - 460,207 - - - - - - - 121,800 - - 121,800 - - -

Distributions and dividends paid during the period (89,582) (25,836) (25,836) (18,955) (18,955) (74,042) (18,956) (18,362) (18,362) (18,362) (70,640) (18,362) (18,362) (17,770) (16,146) (97,928) (87,962)

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities 1,123,995 (40,836) 1,197,173 (39,436) 7,094 (78,359) (45,143) (36,942) 17,088 (13,362) 190,737 (38,390) (33,465) 199,043 63,549 (111,492) (102,231)

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (39,861) (17,639) (9,301) (6,635) (6,286) (33,317) (9,717) (6,934) (6,130) (10,536) (35,356) (10,632) (7,073) (7,930) (9,721) (30,264) (15,243)

Acquisition of investment in associate - - - - - (10,058) - - (10,058) - - - - - - - -

Acquisitions and divestitures (1,256,450) - (1,231,601) (456) (24,393) (37,946) - - (37,946) - (292,993) - - (222,259) (70,734) 1,769 (10,436)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 631 - 631 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Sale of discontinued operations 8,500 - - 8,500 - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities (1,287,180) (17,639) (1,240,271) 1,409 (30,679) (81,321) (9,717) (6,934) (54,134) (10,536) (328,349) (10,632) (7,073) (230,189) (80,455) (28,495) (25,679)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the period 26,679 20,649 7,955 3,026 (4,951) 3,506 4,276 (595) (850) 675 1,069 (1,982) 3,448 (1,239) 842 (2,734) (8,188)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 5,719 11,749 3,794 768 5,719 2,213 1,443 2,038 2,888 2,213 1,144 4,195 747 1,986 1,144 3,878 12,066

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 32,398 $ 32,398 $ 11,749 $ 3,794 $ 768 $ 5,719 $ 5,719 $ 1,443 $ 2,038 $ 2,888 $ 2,213 $ 2,213 $ 4,195 $ 747 $ 1,986 $ 1,144 $ 3,878



dividend / distribution history

Dividends / Distributions Declared per share1

Month 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

January  $ - $ - $ - $0.1533 $0.1533 $0.1430 $0.1280 $0.1220 $0.1200 

February - - - 0.1533 0.1533 0.1430 0.1280 0.1220 0.1200 

March 2 0.3200 0.3100 0.1500 0.1533 0.1533 0.1430 0.1320 0.1250 0.1200 

April  - - - 0.1533 0.1533 0.1430 0.1320 0.1250 0.1200 

May  - - 0.3000 0.1533 0.1533 0.1533 0.1320 0.1250 0.1200 

June 0.3200 0.3100 - 0.1533 0.1533 0.1533 0.1320 0.1250 0.1200 

July - - - 0.1533 0.1533 0.1533 0.1320 0.1250 0.1200 

August - - - 0.1533 0.1533 0.1533 0.1320 0.1250 0.1220 

September 0.3200 0.3100 0.3100 0.1533 0.1533 0.1533 0.1320 0.1250 0.1220 

October - - - 0.1533 0.1533 0.1533 0.1320 0.1250 0.1220 

November - - - 0.1533 0.1533 0.1533 0.3430 0.1280 0.1220 

December 0.3200 0.3200 0.3100 0.1533 0.1533 0.1933 0.1430 0.1280 0.1220 

$1.2800 $1.2500 $1.0700 $1.8396 $1.8396 $1.8384 $1.7980 $1.5000 $1.4500 

1 Prior to January 1, 2011, monthly distributions were declared to unitholders of record on the last business day of each month and paid within 31 days following
each month end. Effective January 1, 2011, dividends are declared coincident with the release of D+H’s quarterly results, which are generally published 4-5
weeks after calendar quarter ends. Declared dividends are paid at the end of the month following the month in which the dividend is declared.

2 On March 9, 2011, D+H declared a one-time special cash dividend of $0.15 per common share to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 18,
2011 and were paid on March 31, 2011.

tax Allocation of dividends / distributions

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Dividend income 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Other income 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 91.6%

Return of capital 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 8.4%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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other Statistics

Number of

(in thousands, except  Average shares Market
per share amounts)

Trading price range of shares (TSX: “DH”)
daily outstanding capitalization

Quarter High Low Close volume at quarter end at quarter end

2013 Q4 $ 29.92 $ 25.50 $ 29.79 240 80,738 $ 2,405,196 

Q3 27.50 21.31 26.93 370 80,738 2,174,284 

Q2 24.37 21.28 22.59 105 59,233 1,338,082 

Q1 22.18 20.79 21.84 117 59,233 1,293,657 

2012 Q4 21.97 19.60 21.56 132 59,233 1,277,072 

Q3 20.69 16.81 20.64 129 59,233 1,222,577 

Q2 19.47 16.17 17.32 123 59,233 1,025,922 

Q1 19.00 16.70 18.50 174 59,233 1,095,817 

2011 Q4 17.25 14.45 16.85 190 59,233 998,082 

Q3 19.65 16.00 16.65 93 59,233 986,236 

Q2 20.48 18.51 19.64 93 59,233 1,163,343 

Q1 22.35 19.52 20.48 150 53,233 1,090,219 

2010 Q4 20.68 18.51 19.83 130 53,233 1,055,618 

Q3 19.25 16.00 19.15 100 53,233 1,019,419 

Q2 18.46 15.16 16.58 118 53,233 882,609 

Q1 18.00 15.59 17.71 161 53,233 942,763 

2009 Q4 16.92 14.05 16.92 177 53,233 900,709 

Q3 14.99 12.25 14.90 182 53,233 793,177 

Q2 14.29 11.51 12.25 126 43,947 538,348 

Q1 16.76 10.40 11.92 104 43,947 523,846 

2008 Q4 17.15 10.30 16.79 117 43,947 737,867 

Q3 16.40 13.50 15.47 93 43,947 679,857 

Q2 17.85 15.53 15.58 83 43,947 684,691 

Q1 21.75 15.77 17.19 107 43,947 755,445 

2007 Q4 22.00 18.75 21.00 98 43,947 922,883 

Q3 20.10 17.14 19.80 78 43,947 870,146 

Q2 19.79 16.30 19.31 90 43,947 848,613 

Q1 17.19 15.00 16.60 87 43,947 729,517 

2006 Q4 19.80 13.80 15.46 143 43,947 679,417 

Q3 19.49 17.21 19.19 96 43,947 843,339 

Q2 21.99 16.99 17.70 100 43,947 777,858 

Q1 23.18 19.50 21.50 61 37,921 815,297 

2005 Q4 24.00 16.32 23.19 92 37,921 879,383 

Q3 24.07 19.50 21.19 88 37,921 803,542 

Q2 22.85 19.58 20.92 61 37,921 793,303 

Q1 23.25 19.65 22.00 67 37,921 834,257 

D+H | 2013 Annual Report 117



fiNANCiAL rEportiNG rESpoNSibiLity of MANAGEMENt

The accompanying consolidated financial statements for Davis + Henderson Corporation (the “Corporation”) have been

prepared by management and approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. Management is responsible for the

preparation and presentation of these financial statements and all the financial information contained within this annual report

within reasonable limits of materiality. The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. In the preparation

of these financial statements, estimates are sometimes necessary because a precise determination of certain assets and liabilities

is dependent on future events. Management believes such estimates have been based on careful judgments and have been

properly reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The financial information throughout this annual report

is consistent with that in the financial statements.

To assist management in discharging these responsibilities, the Corporation has developed and maintains a system of internal

controls which are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the Corporation’s consolidated assets are properly accounted

for and safeguarded, that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and that the financial records

form a reliable base for the preparation of accurate and timely financial information.

Management recognizes its responsibilities for conducting the Corporation’s affairs in compliance with established financial

standards and applicable laws, and for the maintenance of proper standards of conduct in its activities. 

KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, are appointed by the shareholders and have audited the consolidated financial

statements of the Corporation that are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by

the International Accounting Standards Board. Their report outlines the nature of their audit and expresses their opinion on the

consolidated financial statements of the Corporation.

The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee composed of three independent directors. The Audit Committee

meets periodically with management and the auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing

matters and financial reporting issues. They are responsible for reviewing the Corporation’s annual and interim consolidated

financial statements and the report of the auditors. The Audit Committee reports the results of such reviews to the Board of

Directors and makes recommendations with respect to the appointment of the Corporation’s auditors. In addition, the Board of

Directors may refer to the Audit Committee any other matters and questions relating to the financial position of the Corporation

and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors are responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting, and are

responsible for approving the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation.

Gerrard Schmid Brian Kyle

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Davis + Henderson Corporation Davis + Henderson Corporation

February 25, 2014
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iNdEpENdENt AuditorS’ rEport

To the Shareholders of Davis + Henderson Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Davis + Henderson Corporation, which comprise the

consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the consolidated statements

of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended and notes, comprising a summary

of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the Consolidated financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our

audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial

statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement

of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal

control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of

Davis + Henderson Corporation as at December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012, and its consolidated financial performance

and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

February 25, 2014

Toronto, Canada
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CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENtS of fiNANCiAL poSitioN

Years ended December 31, (in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2013 2012

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 32,398 $ 5,719 

Trade and other receivables (note 8) 111,156 84,996 

Prepayments and other current assets 25,370 14,104 

Inventories (note 9) 3,059 4,181 

Total current assets 171,983 109,000 

Non-current trade receivable (note 8) 22,179 - 

Deferred tax assets (note 12) 4,327 3,171 

Property, plant and equipment (note 13) 44,913 30,201 

Investment in an associate (note 4b) - 10,145 

Intangible assets (note 14) 1,156,170 421,366 

Goodwill (note 10) 1,508,430 690,583 

Other assets (note 11) 5,815 - 

Total non-current assets 2,741,834 1,155,466 

Total assets $ 2,913,817 $1,264,466 

Liabilities

Trade payables, accrued and other liabilities (note 15) $ 129,728 $ 99,910 

Deferred revenue 86,885 12,586 

Current tax liabilities (note 12) 24,780 697 

Total current liabilities 241,393 113,193 

Non-current deferred revenue 22,048 9,419 

Derivative liabilities held for risk management (note 16) 3,029 4,686 

Loans and borrowings (note 18) 924,129 340,577 

Convertible debentures (note 17) 209,647 - 

Deferred tax liabilities (note 12) 366,856 88,367 

Other long-term liabilities (note 19) 9,182 6,116 

Total non-current liabilities 1,534,891 449,165 

Total liabilities 1,776,284 562,358 

Equity

Capital (note 21) 1,117,785 672,853 

Reserves 43,519 6,711 

Retained earnings (deficit) (23,771) 22,544 

Total equity 1,137,533 702,108 

Total liabilities and equity $ 2,913,817 $1,264,466 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Paul D. Damp Bradley D. Nullmeyer

Director and Chair of the Board of Directors Director and Chair of the Audit Committee 
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CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENtS of iNCoME

Years ended December 31, (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 2013 2012

Revenues (note 5) $ 837,093 $ 695,456 
Employee compensation and benefits (note 6) 242,877 178,806 
Other expenses (note 6) 394,753 335,044 
Income from operating activities before depreciation and amortization 199,463 181,606 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 13) 11,173 8,554 
Amortization of intangible assets (note 14) 89,259 62,103 
Income from operating activities 99,031 110,949 
Finance expenses:

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments (6,207) (2,016)
Interest expense 35,747 19,214 
Other finance charges (note 18) 3,224 - 

Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest (note 4b) (1,587) - 
Income from investment in an associate, net of income tax (note 4b) (130) (68)
Income from continuing operations before income tax 67,984 93,819 
Income tax expense (note 12) 6,280 23,531 
Income from continuing operations 61,704 70,288 
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax (note 26) (18,052) (1,151)
Net income $ 43,652 $ 69,137 

Earnings per share (note 22)
Income per share from continuing operations, 

Basic $ 0.9160 $ 1.1866 
Diluted $ 0.9149 $ 1.1866 

Loss per share from discontinued operations, 
Basic $ (0.2680) $ (0.0194)
Diluted $ (0.2677) $ (0.0194)

Net income per share
Basic $ 0.6480 $ 1.1672 
Diluted $ 0.6472 $ 1.1672 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENtS of CoMprEhENSiVE iNCoME

Years ended December 31, (in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2013 2012

Net income $ 43,652 $ 69,137 
The following items may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Cash flow hedges:
Effective portion of changes in fair value (220) (126)
Net amount transferred to profit or loss - 366 

Foreign currency translation 27,597 (3,442)
Total comprehensive income $ 71,029 $ 65,935 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENtS of ChANGES iN EQuity

Year ended December 31, 2013

Reserves

Equity Foreign 
Equity-settled component of currency Retained 

Share share based convertible translation Hedging earnings 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) capital1 compensation1 debentures reserve reserve (deficit) Total equity

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 672,853 $ 827 $ - $ 5,884 $ - $ 22,544 $ 702,108 

Impact of transition to 

IAS 19R (note 3) - - - - - (385) (385)

Net income for the year - - - - - 43,652 43,652 

Foreign currency translation - - - 27,597 - - 27,597 

Cash flow hedges - - - - (220) - (220)

Share issuance 444,932 - - - - - 444,932 

Equity component of 

convertible debentures, 

net of tax (note 17) - - 8,889 - - - 8,889 

Dividends - - - - - (89,582) (89,582)

Stock options (note 20) - 542 - - - - 542 

Balance at December 31, 2013 $1,117,785 $ 1,369 $ 8,889 $ 33,481 $ (220) $ (23,771) $1,137,533 

1 Stock options were presented as part of share capital in prior periods. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Year ended December 31, 2012

Reserves

Equity Foreign 
Equity-settled component of currency Retained 

Share share based convertible translation Hedging earnings 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) capital1 compensation1 debentures reserve reserve (deficit) Total equity

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 672,853 $ 310 $ - $ 9,326 $ (240) $ 27,449 $ 709,698 

Net income for the year - - - - - 69,137 69,137 

Cash flow hedges - - - - 240 - 240 

Foreign currency translation - - - (3,442) - - (3,442)

Dividends - - - - - (74,042) (74,042)

Stock options (note 20) - 517 - - - - 517 

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 672,853 $ 827 $ - $ 5,884 $ - $ 22,544 $ 702,108 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENtS of CASh fLoWS

Years ended December 31, (in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in): 

Operating Activities

Income from continuing operations $ 61,704 $ 70,288 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11,173 8,554 
Amortization of intangible assets 89,259 62,103 
Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments (6,207) (2,016)
Interest expense 32,983 17,891 
Amortization of deferred financing fees 2,003 1,323 
Interest accretion expense 761 - 
Other finance charges (note 18) 3,224 - 
Income tax expense 6,280 24,667 
Stock options (note 20) 542 517 
Income from investment in an associate, net of income tax (note 4b) (130) (68)
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest (note 4b) (1,587) - 
Changes in non-cash working capital items (note 7) 38,134 (3,528)
Changes in other operating assets and liabilities (9,080) (1,218)
Cash flows from (used in) discontinued operations (note 26) (11,147) 1,791 

Cash generated from operating activities 217,912 180,304 
Interest paid (23,081) (17,118)
Income taxes paid (4,966) - 

Net cash from operating activities 189,865 163,186

Financing Activities

Repayment of long-term indebtedness (581,042) (106,467)
Proceeds from long-term indebtedness 1,142,173 103,052 
Payment of issuance costs of long-term indebtedness (8,521) (902)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures (note 17) 230,000 - 
Payment of issuance costs of convertible debentures (note 17) (9,357) - 
Proceeds from issuance of shares  460,207 - 
Payment of issuance costs of shares (19,883) - 
Dividends paid (89,582) (74,042)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities 1,123,995 (78,359)

Investing Activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (note 13) (11,647) (7,676)
Acquisition of intangible assets (note 14) (28,215) (25,641)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 4) (1,256,450) (37,946)
Acquisition of investment in an associate - (10,058)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 631 - 
Sale of discontinued operations (note 26) 8,500 - 
Net cash used in investing activities (1,287,181) (81,321)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year 26,679 3,506 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 5,719 2,213 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 32,398 $ 5,719 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NotES to CoNSoLidAtEd fiNANCiAL StAtEMENtS

Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts unless otherwise stated)

1. reporting Entity

Davis + Henderson Corporation (“D+H”) is a company domiciled in Canada. The address of the registered office is 

939 Eglinton Avenue East, Suite 201, Toronto, ON, M4G 4H7. The consolidated financial statements are of D+H and its

subsidiaries, together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group Entities”. D+H’s Canadian businesses, including

Tricura Canada Inc, are indirectly owned by the Group through its 100% interest in D+H Limited Partnership, which D+H

wholely owns through its subsidiaries Davis + Henderson G.P. Inc., Davis + Henderson Limited Partnership and D+H Ltd.

D+H’s U.S. businesses are held by D+H USA Inc., which is a wholly owned subsidiary of D+H Ltd. D+H Ltd. also owns

a 100% interest in D+H Sarl, headquartered in Luxembourg, which in turn owns all of the Group’s businesses outside

North America. The Group’s service offerings within Canada include its payments solutions program; lending processing

solutions; and banking technology solutions for the lending market. Additionally, D+H is a provider of Software-as-a-Service

(“SaaS”), point-of-sale and loan origination solutions in the United States and delivers a wide range of consumer direct,

loan officer and branch and call centre mortgage origination solutions for banks and credit unions. 

With the acquisition of Harland Financial Solutions (note 4a), D+H now indirectly owns Harland Financial Solutions, Inc.,

HFS Solutions Worldwide Limited, Harland Israel Ltd. and HFS Software India Private Limited (collectively referred to as

“HFS”). HFS is a U.S. based provider of strategic technology, including lending and compliance, core banking, and channel

management technology solutions to U.S. banks, credit unions and mortgage companies.

2. basis of presentation

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by D+H in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 25, 2014.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost

convention, except for the following:

• derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.

• liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements are measured at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is D+H’s functional currency. All

financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

The functional currency of the D+H’s U.S. operations is U.S. dollars and the functional currency of the most significant

of the D+H’s other foreign operations are their respective local currencies or the functional currency of the parent.
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foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the

exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign

currency are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Realized

and unrealized foreign currency differences are generally recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of a qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that

hedges are effective are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations with local currencies as the functional currency are translated

to Canadian dollars at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average

exchange rates prevailing during the year. The resulting unrealized gains or losses are recognized in the Consolidated

Statements of Comprehensive Income.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements is in conformity with IFRS and requires management to make

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical

experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which

form the basis of making judgements about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are

recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

The areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are:

• Note 3 – Revenue Recognition

• Note 4 – Acquisition of subsidiaries

• Note 12 – Income taxes for the recognition of deferred income tax assets and liabilities

• Note 10 and 14 – Goodwill and intangible assets for the measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-

generating units containing goodwill

revenue recognition

Professional fees in the banking technology (enterprise and lending) and lending processing service areas are

recognized as services are performed. For fixed professional fee contracts, revenue is recognized on a percentage of

completion basis, generally representing the probability that D+H will receive the benefits for the services performed

and time spent relative to total estimated time. Revenue under the Group’s software license arrangements are typically

recognized as multiple deliverable arrangements with revenue being allocated based on the associated fair value. In

all revenue streams, management exercises judgement in determining whether the related revenue contract’s outcome

can be estimated reliably. Management also applies estimates in the calculation of future contract costs and related
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profitability as it relates to labour hours and other considerations that are used in the determination of the amounts

recoverable on contracts as well as the timing of revenue recognition.

Incentive fees related to the student loans administration services are determined based on achieving performance

thresholds as outlined in the contracts with the financial institutions and the governments. As management uses

judgement in estimating the expected outcome for the remainder of the contract year, imprecision in any of the

assumptions could influence the determination of revenue.

Acquisition of subsidiaries

In a business combination, D+H is required to fair value each identifiable asset and liability as at the acquisition date.

This requires management to make judgements and estimates, as of the acquisition date, to determine the fair value,

discount rates, estimated cost to fulfill obligations and future cash flows associated with acquired intangible assets.

Any excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of the identifiable net assets is recognized as goodwill. Changes in

any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could affect

the amounts assigned to assets, liabilities and goodwill in the purchase price allocation.

deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the corresponding impact on deferred income tax expense or recovery

are based on the temporary differences that are expected to reverse in future periods. Management uses judgment in

determining when temporary differences will reverse and if the benefits of deductible temporary differences and tax

losses can be realized. A key assumption in determining the deferred income taxes is that D+H will be able to maintain

sufficient levels of income such that the temporary differences will reverse.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, D+H also takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions

and whether additional taxes and interest may be due, based on its assessment of many factors, including

interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve

a series of judgements about future events.

Valuation of Goodwill and intangibles 

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less

costs to sell. The significant assumptions underlying the recoverability of goodwill include future cash flow and growth

projections, including industry performance, general business and economic conditions and future weighted average

cost of capital and may include annual earnings multiples. D+H’s estimate of future performance is dependent on a

number of market economic trends such as cheque usage, interest rates, consolidation of financial institutions,

residential real estate activity and lending activity in general, among other items. D+H’s search and loan registration

service area is dependent on car loan volumes, which are influenced by interest rates and the general economic

environment. As management uses judgment in estimating the fair value of cash-generating units (or a group of cash-

generating units), imprecision in any assumptions and estimates used in the fair value calculations could influence the

determination of goodwill impairment and affect the valuation of goodwill.

Intangible assets that derive their value from contractual customer relationships that can be separately identifiable,

and have a finite useful life, are amortized over their estimated useful life. Determining the estimated useful life of these
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finite life intangible assets requires an analysis of the circumstances and management judgment. Finite life intangible

assets are tested for impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable and

requires management to exercise judgement in analyzing such possible circumstances. 

3. Significant Accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial

statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date. The Group

measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred less the net amount (generally fair value) of

the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date. When the excess

is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs

in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

(ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the

financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of

subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the

date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align

them with the policies adopted by the Group.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses are eliminated

in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(iv) Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and

operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of

the voting power of another entity.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized initially at cost. The cost

of the investment includes transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive

income or loss (“OCI”) of its associate, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group,

from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.

D+H | 2013 Annual Report 127



(b) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currency are translated to the functional currency of the Group at exchange rates in effect

at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting

date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary items are translated

at rates of exchange in effect when the assets were acquired or obligations incurred. Foreign currency differences

arising on translation are recognized in profit or loss.

(ii) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions,

are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign

operations are translated to Canadian dollars at average exchange rate during the period. Foreign currency

differences are recognized in OCI.

(c) Financial Instruments

financial assets

Purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized on the settlement date, which is the date on which the asset is

delivered to or by the Group. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the

investment have expired or were transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of

ownership. Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) or

loans and receivables.

financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance

of the contractual agreement.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of

its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities.

derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures. 

Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as

described below. 

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic

characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument

with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument

is not measured at FVTPL. 
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hedging activities

On initial designation of a hedge, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and

hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction, together

with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an

assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging

instruments are expected to be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective

hedged items during the period for which the hedge is designated.

Cash flow hedges

For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to occur and should present

an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported net income. When a derivative is designated

as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a

recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion

of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in OCI and presented in hedging reserve within equity. The

amount recognized in OCI is removed and included in profit or loss in the same period as the hedged cash flows

affect profit or loss under the same line item in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income as the hedged

item. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated, exercised,

or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss

previously recognized in OCI and presented in hedging reserve within equity remains there until the forecast transaction

affects profit or loss. When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount recognized in OCI is transferred to

the carrying amount of the asset when the asset is recognized. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to

occur, then the balance in OCI is recognized immediately in profit or loss. In other cases the amount recognized in

OCI is transferred to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss. 

(i) FVTPL financial assets or liabilities

An instrument is classified as FVTPL if it is a derivative or it is designated as such upon initial recognition. Upon

initial recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss when incurred. Financial

instruments at FVTPL are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized in profit or loss. The 

Group’s interest-rate swaps that are not designated for hedge accounting are classified as FVTPL financial 

assets or liabilities.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 

are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the transaction value 

and subsequently carried at amortized cost less impairment losses. The impairment loss of receivables is 

based on review of all outstanding amounts at period end. Bad debts are written off during the year in which 

they are identified. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

All temporary investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to be

cash equivalents. 

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from customers from the rendering of services or sale of goods in

the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are classified as current assets if payment is due within one

year or less. Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost,

less impairment. The Group maintains a specific and collective portfolio impairment to provide for impairment of

trade receivables.

(iii) Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured

at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis.

The Group has classified trade payables, loans and borrowings, convertible debentures and accrued liabilities as

other financial liabilities.

(d) Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods and are measured at the lower of cost and

net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred

in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing

location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in process, cost includes an appropriate

share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of

completion and selling expenses.

Raw materials primarily consist of paper but also include foil, hologram and ink. Work-in-process consists of base

stock which refers to sheets of cheque stock with non-personalized background print. Finished goods primarily consist

of retail products, labels, accessories, security bags and corporate seals.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that

is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as

separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
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Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognized in profit

or loss. 

(ii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the

item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost

can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day

servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of the asset less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognized based on the methods noted below, over the estimated useful lives of each part of

property, plant and equipment, as this mostly reflects the expected pattern of consumption of future economic

benefits embodied in the assets. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:

Machinery and equipment 10% to 30% declining balance 

Computer equipment, furniture and fixtures 20% to 45% declining balance

Buildings straight-line over 40 years

Leasehold improvements lower of the remaining term of the lease or its useful life

Land not amortized

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if

appropriate.

Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably

certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

(f) Intangible assets and Goodwill

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of

the acquiree at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less

accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill recognized by the Group arose from the acquisitions of Avista,

Compushare, and HFS businesses and acquisitions from prior years.

Research and development

Expenditures on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining technical knowledge and

understanding are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
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Certain costs incurred in connection with the development of software to be used internally or for providing

services to customers are capitalized once a project has progressed beyond a conceptual, preliminary stage to

that of application development. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of

identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are recognized as intangible assets when the

following criteria are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

• management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

• there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

• it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the

software products are available; and

• the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Costs that qualify for capitalization include both internal and external costs, but are limited to those that are directly

related to the specific project. Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated

amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less

accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. These intangible assets include customer service

contracts, proprietary software, customer relationships and brand names.

(iii) Subsequent expenditures

Subsequent expenditures related to an asset initially recognized as an intangible asset are capitalized only when

it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures

are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

(iv) Amortization

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible

assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current

and comparative periods are as follows:

Customer service contracts straight-line over lesser of seven years or the remaining term

Proprietary software straight-line over 3 to 10 years

Brand names straight-line over 15 years

Customer relationships straight-line over 3 to 15 years

Computer software straight-line over 3 years
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(g) Leased assets

Leases are classified as either operating or finance, based on the substance of the transaction at inception of the

lease. Classification is re-assessed if the terms of the lease are changed.

(h) Operating lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as

operating leases. 

(i) Impairment 

(i) Financial assets

If a financial asset is not carried at fair value through profit or loss, it is assessed at each reporting date to determine

whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective

evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, or a loss event had a

negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of the asset that can be reliably measured. Objective evidence

that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring due to the Group

on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, or indications that the debtor may enter bankruptcy. The

Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both specific and collective levels. All individually

significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that

has occurred but not specifically identified. Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on

an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit

risk characteristics.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference

between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original

effective interest rate.

All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized

through the unwinding of the discount.

An impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring

after the impairment loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the reversal is

recognized in profit or loss.

(ii) Non-financial assets

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that

generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or

groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose

of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the

combination.
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication

exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite

lives, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset, cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units is the greater of its

value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit or group of cash-

generating units exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount

of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit

(group of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized

in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer

exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment

loss had been recognized.

(j) Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions

and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Payments to defined contribution plans

are expensed as incurred, which is as the related employee service is rendered.

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits

The Group provides certain post-retirement benefits for eligible employees, which are not funded. These benefits

include health care, life insurance and dental benefits. The Group’s net obligation is the amount of future benefit

that the employees has earned in return for their service in current and prior periods and the benefit is discounted

to determine the present value. The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected

unit credit method. Actuarial gains/losses are recognized immediately into OCI. Past service costs for members

who have reached full eligibility are recognized immediately and on a linear basis over the expected average

remaining service period to full eligibility for active members who have not reached full eligibility. 
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(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, without realistic

possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement

date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination

benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognized as an expense if the Group has made an offer of voluntary

redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated

reliably.

(iv) Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related

service is provided.

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans

if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided

by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(v) Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share-based payments, which are settled in cash,

is recognized as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the

employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is re-measured at each reporting date and at

settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized in profit or loss.

For equity-settled plans, expense is based on the fair value of the awards granted, with a corresponding increase

in equity. The expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified

vesting conditions are satisfied. 

(k) Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that

can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

Provisions are measured by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is

recognized as finance cost.

D+H | 2013 Annual Report 135



(l) Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of consideration received or receivable from clients for services and products

provided by the Group, net of discounts and allowance for sales returns. The Group’s revenue is primarily comprised

of licensing software products under perpetual and term license arrangements, cheque supply, hardware, and service

revenues comprising: software implementation services, software-as-a-service, transaction processing services, core

processing service bureau deliverables, consulting services, training services, maintenance, and other services. The

Group recognizes revenue pertaining to the sales of goods, software licenses and services when the following criteria

are met:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership and there is no remaining

effective control; 

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership

nor effective control over the goods or licenses sold; 

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and 

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction are identifiable and can be measured reliably.

In addition, when the stage of completion of a service transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured

reliably, revenue associated with the service transaction is recognized by reference to the stage of completion at the

end of the reporting period. 

Typically, the Group’s software license arrangements are multiple-element arrangements as they may also include

hardware, professional services and maintenance. A delivered element is considered as a separate unit of accounting

if it has value to the customer on a standalone basis, and delivery or performance of the undelivered elements is

considered probable and substantially under the Group’s control. If these criteria are not met, the delivered item is

combined with other related elements for purposes of revenue recognition. Software licenses are not considered to

have standalone value where services are essential to the software’s functionality as discussed further below.

Under these arrangements, revenue is allocated to each unit of accounting (component) based on their relative fair

value or by using the residual method, if applicable. Under the residual method, revenue is allocated to undelivered

components of the arrangement based on their fair values and the residual amount of the arrangement revenue is

allocated to delivered components. 

Objective evidence of fair value for certain elements of an arrangement is based upon the pricing in comparable

transactions when the element is sold separately. Objective evidence of fair value for maintenance is primarily based

upon the price charged for the same or similar maintenance when sold in stand-alone renewals with customers, as

substantiated by contractual renewal rates and the Group’s renewal experience. Objective evidence of fair value for

professional services is based upon the price charged when the services are sold separately.

Essential professional services typically involve significant production, modification or customization of the software.

Revenue from essential services is combined with license revenue and recognized on a percentage-of-completion

basis. Percentage-of-completion recognizes both license and services revenue as the services are performed using

an output method based on contractual milestones. Any probable losses are recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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Revenue for licenses of software that are software-as-a-service hosted arrangements (cloud services), is allocated to

separate units of accounting based on the fair value of each unit of accounting as determined by a hierarchy of objective

evidence of prices, third-party evidence of prices, or an internal analysis of prices. If objective evidence and third party

evidence of prices are not available, then an internal analysis is used. Separate units of accounting exist if they have

standalone value. Standalone value exists if the Group or other vendors sell the same item separately or the customer

could resell the item on a standalone basis. 

Standalone value exists for most individual modules of the Group’s hosted licenses because they are sold separately

or as a group depending on the needs of customers. For each module, revenue is deferred until related professional

services are complete. If standalone value does not exist, then revenue for all modules and professional services in 

an arrangement are deferred until services are complete. Under either scenario, once services are complete, revenue

is recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the contract. Under this method the concept of 

the residual method is eliminated and any discounts are allocated across all deliverables in proportion to the relative

selling price. 

Each new license includes maintenance, including the right to receive telephone support, “bug fixes” and unspecified

upgrades and enhancements, for a specified duration of time, usually one year. Maintenance revenue is recognized

rateably over the life of the related maintenance contract. Maintenance contracts on perpetual licenses generally renew

annually. Maintenance fees are typically invoiced on an annual basis prior to the anniversary date of the license. 

Time-based and usage based licenses may include maintenance as a bundled item that is committed for the period

of the agreement. The software under such contracts is not treated as a separate component and the related revenue

is recognized rateably over the term of the agreement or on an actual usage basis. 

Non-essential professional services revenue includes fees derived from the delivery of certain training, installation, and

consulting services. Revenue from non-essential training, installation, and consulting services is recognized on a time

and materials basis or after delivery is complete.

After delivery, if substantive uncertainty exists about customer acceptance of the software, license revenue is deferred

until acceptance occurs. The Group considers the following in evaluating the effect of customer acceptance: historical

experience with similar types of arrangements or products, whether the acceptance provisions are specific to the

customer or are included in all arrangements, the length of the acceptance term, and historical experience with the

specific customer.

In some instances, the Group offers extended-payment terms on its term software licenses. When the receipt of

payment is deferred over the term of the arrangement, the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing transaction.

In such cases, the fair value of the consideration is determined by discounting all future receipts using an imputed rate

of interest. 

The contractual terms of software sales do not provide for product returns or allowances. However, on occasion the

Group may allow for returns or allowances. Provisions for estimated returns and sales allowances are established by

the Group concurrently with the recognition of revenue and are based on a variety of factors including actual return

and sales allowance history and projected economic conditions.
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Revenue from outsourced data processing services and other transaction processing services is recognized one

month in arrears based on the transactions processed or the services rendered.

The Group’s search and registration program for certain customers are multiple-element arrangements with initial

registrations typically considered as separate units of accounting.  Revenue attributable to other elements is deferred

and recognized on a straight-line basis over the average contractual term of the registrations.

(m) Deferred costs relating to revenue arrangements

Certain contract acquisition costs, comprising sales commissions, that are direct and incremental to obtaining revenue

contracts and are recoverable from minimum future cash flows associated with the contract are deferred and amortized

to employee compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statement of Income over the term of the related revenue.

Upfront direct costs for initial installation and implementation that relate to future activity on a customer contract are

deferred and recognized as an asset within other assets when it is probable that they will be recovered through future

minimum payments specified in contractual agreements. The deferred contract costs are amortized over the period of

the related contract revenue.

(n) Lease Payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the

lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction

of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a

constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

(o) Finance income and expenses

Interest income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance expenses are comprised of interest expense on borrowings using the effective interest method, amortization

of deferred finance costs, accretion of interest relating to convertible debentures and the mark-to-market adjustment

of interest-rate swaps that are not designated as hedges for hedge accounting purposes. Borrowing costs that 

are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in 

profit or loss using the effective interest method. Amortization of deferred finance costs relate to amendment and

renewal of the Group’s credit facilities and bonds and is recognized over the term of the facilities using the effective

interest method.

(p) Government grants

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss as a reduction in expenses

on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognized.
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(q) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss

except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted

or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the

following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in

subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax

is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured

at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and

assets, and these relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax

entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or these tax assets and liabilities will

be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax

assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related

tax benefit will be realized.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions

and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate

for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.

This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New

information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing

tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 

(r) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business

that has been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when

the operations meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a

discontinued operation, the comparative statement of comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation had

been discontinued from the start of the comparative period.
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(s) Net income per share

Basic net income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding

during the period. 

Diluted net income per share is calculated by adjusting net income and weighted average number of shares outstanding

during the period for the effects of dilutive potential shares, which comprise of options granted and issued convertible

debentures.

(t) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues

and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other

components. Segment operating results are reviewed monthly by the Group’s executive team (“chief operating decision

maker” or “CODM”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance,

and for which discrete financial information is available. 

(u) Convertible debentures

Convertible debentures (“Debentures”), where the holder has the option to convert the instrument into a fixed amount

of common shares of the Group, represent a compound financial instrument. A compound instrument comprises two

components: a financial liability (a contractual arrangement to deliver cash or another financial asset) and an equity

instrument (a call option granting the holder the right, for a specified period of time, to convert it into a fixed number

of common shares of the Group). At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the

prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on an

amortized cost basis under the effective interest rate method until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s

maturity date.

The carrying amount of the equity instrument represented by the option to convert the instrument into common shares

is then determined by deducting the fair value of the financial liability from the fair value of the compound financial

instrument as a whole. This residual amount is recognized and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not

subsequently re-measured. 

Transaction costs that relate to the issuance of convertible instruments are allocated to the liability and equity

components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component

are recognized directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying

amount of the liability component and are amortized over the life of the convertible instrument using the effective

interest method.

Interest expense on a compound instrument is determined by applying an effective interest rate to the outstanding

liability component whereby the difference between actual cash interest payments and interest expense is accreted

to the liability component. Upon conversion of compound instrument, a ratable portion of the carrying value of the

liability component is reclassified as equity.
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(v) New and revised accounting standards

The Group also adopted the following standards and amendments that became effective on January 1, 2013:

• IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amendments to IFRS 7 contain new disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities that are offset in

the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position or subject to master netting arrangements or similar arrangements. 

At January  1, 2013, the Group adopted this amendment and there was no material impact on the Group’s

consolidated financial statements.

• IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 introduces a new control model that is applicable to all investees; among other things, it requires the

consolidation of an investee if the Group controls the investee on the basis of de facto circumstances. 

At January 1, 2013, the Group adopted this standard and there was no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

• IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 requires the disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of,

and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on its financial position,

financial performance and cash flows. 

At January 1, 2013, the Group adopted this standard and there was no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured, replacing the fair value measurement

guidance contained in individual IFRSs. The standard defines fair value and establishes a framework for measuring

fair value. It does not introduce new fair value measurements, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to

fair value measurements that currently exist in certain standards. 

At January 1, 2013, the Group adopted this standard and there was no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

• IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendments to IAS 1 require companies preparing financial statements under IFRS to group items within OCI

that may be reclassified to profit or loss and those that will not be reclassified. 

At January 1, 2013, the Group adopted this standard and amended its Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive

Income for all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements to reflect the presentation changes

required under the amended IAS 1. Since these changes are reclassifications within the Consolidated Statements

of Comprehensive Income, there is no net impact on the Group’s comprehensive income.
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• IAS 19, Employee Benefits

The revised IAS 19 requires, amongst other things, the recognition of actuarial gains and losses immediately in OCI,

full recognition of past service costs immediately in profit or loss, recognition of expected return on plan assets in

profit or loss to be calculated based on the rate used to discount the defined benefit obligation. 

At January 1, 2013, the Group adopted this pronouncement and the impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements was a cumulative reduction in retained earnings of $0.4 million.

• IAS 28, Investment in Associates

The amendments to IAS 28 prescribe measurement requirements as they pertain to any retained stake in associates

after changes in the interests held in associates or joint ventures as a result of disposal, or the associates or joint

ventures being classified as held for sale under IFRS 5.

At January 1, 2013, the Group adopted this amendment and there was no impact on the Group’s consolidated

financial statements.

Standards and amendments early adopted by the Group:

• IAS 36, Impairment of Assets

The International Accounting Standards Board has issued amendments to reverse the unintended requirement in

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement to disclose the recoverable amount of every cash-generating unit to which

significant goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets have been allocated. Under the amendments, the recoverable

amount is required to be disclosed only when an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed.

The Group early adopted the amendments to IAS 36 during 2013. 

(w) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The following are upcoming changes to IFRSs that may impact D+H:

• IFRS 9, Financial instruments 

The IASB intends to replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in its entirety with 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), however no mandatorily effective date has currently been defined. 

IFRS 9 is intended to reduce the complexity for the classification and measurement of financial instruments and

includes a new general hedge accounting standard which will align hedge accounting more closely with risk

management. The Group is currently evaluating the impact the final standard is expected to have on its consolidated

financial statements.
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• Amendments to IAS 32, Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

The amendments to IAS 32 clarify that an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off financial assets

and financial liabilities if that right is not contingent on a future event and is enforceable both in the normal course of

business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all counterparties. The amendments

to IAS 32 also clarify when a settlement mechanism provides for net settlement or a gross settlement that is equivalent

to net settlement. The Group intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 32 in its financial statements for the annual

period beginning January 1, 2014, and does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on the financial

statements. 

• Novation of Derivatives and Continuance of Hedge Accounting (Amendments to IAS 39)

The amendments add a limited exception to IAS 39, to provide relief from discontinuing an existing hedging

relationship when a novation that was not contemplated in the original hedging documentation meets specific criteria.

The Group intends to adopt the amendments in its financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1,

2014, and does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on the financial statements.

4. Acquisition of subsidiaries

(a) Harland Financial Solutions

On August 16, 2013, D+H completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of HFS, giving D+H 100%

ownership of HFS. The acquisition of HFS and its complimentary product suite enhances D+H’s position as a FinTech

provider and expands the Group’s capabilities in lending and compliance solutions, core banking technology and

channel solutions, creates significant cross-selling and revenue synergies, improves diversification of revenues and

provides further support for D+H’s growth strategies.  

HFS is a leading U.S. based provider of strategic technology, including lending and compliance, core banking, and

channel management technology solutions to U.S. banks, credit unions, and mortgage companies. HFS is

headquartered in Lake Mary, Florida, and operates from offices throughout the U.S., as well as Dublin, Ireland,

Trivandrum, India and Tel Aviv, Israel. 

The purchase price was approximately US $1.2 billion in cash. 
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The net assets acquired and considerations given are as follows:

Cash $ 1,902 

Trade receivables 45,228 

Prepaids and other current assets 8,364 

Property, plant and equipment 16,668 

Intangible assets

Brand name 50,691 

Proprietary software 206,900 

Purchased software 3,297 

Customer relationships 495,525 

Non-current trade receivable 15,582 

Other assets 2,118 

Trade payables, accrued and other liabilities (27,023)

Deferred revenue (57,902)

Current tax liability (383)

Deferred tax liability (281,296)

Other long-term liabilities (1,300)

478,371 

Goodwill 759,822 

Total $1,238,193 

Consideration for 100% ownership:

Cash $1,233,503 

Net gain from settlement of derivative instrument (note 16) 4,690 

Total $1,238,193 

HFS’s revenue has been reported as part of banking technology solutions revenue in the U.S. segment.

The goodwill is attributable to entrenchment in the U.S. market as the acquisition significantly enhances D+H’s

presence in the U.S. FinTech sector by positioning D+H as a vendor of core processing systems and lending solutions

for financial institutions in the U.S., providing D+H access with HFS’s large client base and the enhancement of sales

and revenue synergy opportunities in the U.S. banking and credit union marketplace. Lastly, the acquisition of HFS

also diversifies D+H’s business in terms of service offerings, clients and geographic focus. The goodwill is not

deductible for tax purposes.

The useful lives of the intangible assets recognized is consistent with the Group’s intangible assets accounting policy.

The value of trade receivables recognized is net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.4 million.

The Group has not completed its assessment and valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the

acquisition as working capital items are subject to change due to post-closing adjustments. The change in the value

of the net assets acquired since acquisition in August 2013 is due to the finalization of certain post-closing adjustments

and the valuation of acquired intangible assets. 
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Since the acquisition on August 16, 2013, HFS has contributed revenues of $98.5 million and income from continuing

operations of $15.6 million. The income from continuing operations included the impact of fair value adjustments to

deferred revenues and deferred costs upon acquisition.

If the acquisitions of HFS and Compushare (note 4b) had occurred on January 1, 2013, management estimates that

for the year ended December 31, 2013, consolidated revenues would have been $1.0 billion and income from

continuing operations would have been $42.5 million.

(b) Compushare

On January  29, 2013, D+H purchased all remaining shares of Santa Ana, California-based Compushare Inc.

(“Compushare”), a technology management and cloud computing provider to financial institutions. Building on its initial

minority investment where D+H acquired 33% of the outstanding shares of Compushare on April 24, 2012, this

transaction gives D+H 100% ownership of Compushare. Compushare offers a full suite of technology solutions that

assist community banks, credit unions and other financial service providers with systems management, network security,

and application solutions that are designed specifically for financial institutions. The acquisition was financed through

drawings from D+H’s existing credit facilities. Prior to the acquisition, Compushare was accounted for as an investment

in an associate under IFRS, using the equity method of accounting. The net assets acquired and consideration given

were as follows:

Cash $ 97 

Other current assets 2,955 

Property, plant and equipment 2,007 

Intangible assets 10,600 

Trade payables and other current liabilities (4,350)

Other non-current liabilities (530)

Deferred tax liabilities (3,839)

6,940 

Goodwill 30,068 

Total $ 37,008 

Consideration for 100% ownership:

Cash $ 24,946 

Fair value of pre-existing equity interest 12,062 

Total $ 37,008 

The remeasurement to fair value of the Group’s existing minority interest in Compushare resulted in a gain of $1.6 million

recognized upon the acquisition of the remaining outstanding shares. 

Compushare’s revenue has been reported as part of banking technology solutions in the U.S. segment.

The goodwill is attributable to entrance and growth initiatives in the U.S. market. Goodwill is not deductible for 

tax purposes.

Since the acquisition on January 29, 2013, Compushare has contributed revenues of $19.5 million and income from

continuing operations of $2.2 million.
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The change in the value of the net assets acquired and the increase in the purchase price of $0.5 million since

acquisition in January 2013 is due to the finalization of certain post-closing adjustments. 

(c) Avista

On May 3, 2012, the Group completed its acquisition of 100% of Avista for a purchase price of US$ 40.0 million.

Avista is a leading provider of SaaS mortgage loan origination software for community and regional banks, credit

unions and mortgage bankers in the United States. The net assets acquired and consideration given is as follows:

Cash $ 539 

Other current assets 852 

Property, plant and equipment 447 

Intangible assets 18,108 

Deferred tax assets 245 

Trade payables and other current liabilities (960)

Deferred tax liabilities (7,074)

12,157 

Goodwill 26,328 

Total $ 38,485 

Consideration for 100% ownership:

Cash $ 38,485 

Total $ 38,485 

The purchase price of US$40.0 million included a US$1.0 million retention payment related to the acquisition that is

amortized and expensed over the term of the contract, and therefore not included in the figures above. 

The goodwill is attributable to entrance and growth initiatives in the U.S. market. Goodwill is not deductible for tax

purposes.

5. revenues

Revenues pertaining to major service areas for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

2013 2012

Payments solutions $ 304,360 $ 301,433 

Lending processing solutions 1 282,161 265,884 

Banking technology solutions 2

Enterprise 79,564 - 

Lending 171,008 128,139 

$ 837,093 $ 695,456 

1 Reported as loan servicing solutions and loan registration and recovery services in prior periods. 

2 Reported as lending technology services in prior periods. Effective the third quarter of 2013, banking technology solutions have been further segregated
into Enterprise and Lending to reflect revenues from HFS. 
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For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Group earned 59% of its consolidated revenues from its seven largest

customers (2012 – 69%) and two of these customers individually accounted for greater than 10%, but not more than 13%

of the Group’s total revenue (2012 – four of these customers individually accounted for greater than 10%, but not more

than 15% of the Group’s total revenue).

6. Expenses

Employee compensation and benefits

2013 2012

Wages and salaries $ 202,613 $ 152,100 

Compulsory statutory contributions 17,100 12,612 

Benefits 23,164 14,094 

$ 242,877 $ 178,806 

Employee compensation and benefits are net of certain employee-related tax benefits and amounts capitalized related to

software product development. 

other expenses

2013 2012

Material, shipping and selling expenses $ 171,604 $ 157,700 

Third party disbursements 85,661 80,854 

Occupancy costs 18,329 14,358 

Other 1 119,159 82,132 

$ 394,753 $ 335,044 

1 Other expenses includes communication costs, royalties, professional fees, contractor fees, transaction costs related to acquisitions of businesses and
expenses not included in other categories. Transaction costs of $14.9 million were incurred for the year ended December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012 –
$0.6 million).

7. Supplemental Cash flow information

Non-cash working capital items

2013 2012

Trade and other receivables $ 10,344 $ (6,622)

Prepayments and other current assets (2,140) (405)

Trade payables, accruals and provisions 3,098 1,975 

Deferred revenue 26,832 1,524 

$ 38,134 $ (3,528)
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8. trade and other receivables

2013 2012

Trade receivables $ 107,288 $ 78,298 

Other receivables 5,064 7,115 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,196) (417)

Trade and other receivables – current $ 111,156 $ 84,996 

Trade receivables – non-current $ 22,179 $ - 

Total trade and other receivables $ 133,335 $ 84,996 

Non-current trade receivable of $22.2 million represents future amounts to be billed that are contractually due to the Group

resulting from sales of HFS’s lending products.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is disclosed in note 16.

The aging of gross receivables at each reporting date is as follows:

2013 2012

Current $ 94,088 $ 78,628 

Past due 1-30 days 11,564 5,482 

Past due > 30 days 6,700 1,303 

$ 112,352 $ 85,413 

The changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows:

2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year $ 417 $ 461 

Charges 1 692 6 

Recoveries (80) (44)

Other 167 (6)

Balance, end of year $ 1,196 $ 417 

1 Charges include $0.4 million recognized from the acquisition of HFS.
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9. inventories

2013 2012

Raw materials $ 979 $ 1,454 

Work-in-process 1,030 1,608 

Finished goods 1,050 1,119 

$ 3,059 $ 4,181 

Raw materials primarily consist of paper but also include foil, hologram and ink. Work-in-process consists of base stock

which refers to sheets of cheque stock with non-personalized background print. Finished goods primarily consist of retail

products, labels, accessories, security bags and corporate seals.

Inventory that was recognized within operating expenses – material, shipping and selling expenses – during the year ended

December 31, 2013 was $29.5 million (2012 – $32.2 million). The amount of write-down of inventories to net realizable

value during the year ended December 31, 2013 amounted to $0.2 million (2012 – $0.1 million). The write-down is also

included in operating expenses.

10. Goodwill

2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year $ 690,583 $ 666,735 

Additions during the year:

Avista (note 4c) - 26,328 

Compushare (note 4b) 30,068 - 

Harland Financial Solutions (note 4a) 759,822 - 

Effect of movements in exchange rates 33,157 (2,480)

Loss on measurement of businesses disposed (note 26) (5,200) - 

Balance, end of year $ 1,508,430 $ 690,583 

impairment test of goodwill

Goodwill was assessed for impairment as at November 30, 2013. As at this date, the recoverable amounts exceeded the

carrying values of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”). As a result, no goodwill impairment was recorded. 

Goodwill is tested at a group of CGUs, the Canadian segment and the U.S. segment. Canadian operations consist of:

payments solutions, lending processing solutions and banking technology solutions for the lending market. U.S. operations

consists of banking technology solutions for the lending and enterprise markets. The carrying value of goodwill at

December 31, 2013 is as follows: 

2013 2012

Canadian segment $ 537,455 $ 542,655 

U.S. segment 970,975 147,928 

$ 1,508,430 $ 690,583 
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The valuation techniques, significant assumptions and sensitivities applied in the goodwill impairment test are described

below:

Valuation techniques

The recoverable amounts of the CGU groups were based on fair value less costs to sell and was determined by discounting

the future cash flows to be generated from continuing use of the CGU groups with the assistance of independent valuators.

The fair value measurement was categorized as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs in the valuation technique used.

Fair value less costs to sell as at November 30, 2013 was determined in a similar manner as at November 30, 2012.

Significant assumptions

Estimated discretionary after-tax cash flow

Estimated discretionary after-tax cash flows are based on budgeted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

for the next three years. The forecast is extended for an additional two years based on an analysis of historical and forecast

growth rates of the businesses, forecast volume changes, industry reports, forecast GDP growth and inflation rates.

Weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”)

WACC was determined to be in the range of 9.5% to 11.5% and is based on market capital structure of debt, risk-free

rate, equity risk premium, beta adjustment to the equity risk premium based on a review of betas of comparable publicly-

traded companies, an unsystematic risk premium, and after-tax cost of debt based on corporate bond yields.

Terminal value growth rate

Five years of cash flows have been included in the discounted cash flow models. Maintainable debt-free net cash flow

beyond the forecast period is estimated to approximate the 2018 cash flows increased by a terminal growth rate in the

range of 2% to 3.5% and is based on forecast GDP growth, inflation rates, the industry’s expected growth rates and

management’s experiences.

Changes in key assumptions

Based on the assumptions listed above, the low end of the fair value range of the CGUs is higher than its carrying amount.

The Group estimates that a reasonably possible change in the key assumptions described above are not expected to cause

the recoverable amounts of the CGU groups to decline below their carrying amounts.

11. other Assets

Other assets comprise of contract acquisition costs and prepaids that are long term in nature. Contract acquisition costs

include the impact of fair value adjustments resulting from applying acquisition accounting upon acquisition of HFS.
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12. income taxes 

income tax recognized in profit or loss

2013 2012

Current tax expense

Current year $ 24,285 $ 2,626 

Tax benefits related to prior acquisitions (3,329) (1,150)

$ 20,956 $ 1,476 

deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences $ (13,945) $ 21,747 

Increase in tax rate 137 401 

Change in recognized deductible temporary differences (868) (94)

$ (14,676) $ 22,054 

Tax expense – continuing operations $ 6,280 $ 23,531 

Tax expense – discontinued operations (note 26) (2,322) (413) 

$ 3,958 $ 23,118 

reconciliation of effective tax rate – continuing operations

2013 2012

Income from continuing operations $ 61,704 $ 70,289 

Income tax expense 6,280 23,531 

Income from continuing operations before tax 67,984 93,820 

Income tax using the statutory rate 26.58% 18,070 26.45% 24,815 

Increase in tax rate 0.20% 137 0.43% 401 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (10.62%) (7,226) - -

Change in recognized deductible 

temporary differences (1.28%) (868) (0.10%) (94)

Tax benefits related to prior acquisitions (4.90%) (3,329) (1.23%) (1,150)

Recognition of previous unrecognized tax losses (1.07%) (731) - -

Non-deductible expenses / non-taxable income 0.39% 266 (0.60%) (563)

Other items (0.06%) (39) 0.13% 122 

Income tax expense 9.24% $ 6,280 25.08% $ 23,531 

The Canadian combined statutory tax rate for D+H increased from 26.45% to 26.58% during the year as a result of an

increase in 2013 provincial tax rates. Tax expense excludes the Group’s share of tax expense of the Group’s equity-

accounted investee of $0.08 million (2012: $0.04 million) which is included in ‘Income from investment in an associate, 

net of income tax’ in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
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unrecognized deferred tax assets

One of the Group’s Canadian corporate subsidiaries had $71.2  million of capital losses for income tax purposes 

(2012: $75.8 million). The benefit of these losses, which do not expire, has not been recognized since management does

not expect to utilize these losses in the foreseeable future. 

recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities: 

Significant components of the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities with respect to differences between the

consolidated carrying values and the related tax bases of the assets and liabilities are as follows:

Assets Liabilities Net

2013 20121 2013 20121 2013 20121

Intangible assets less than 

tax values $ 15,285 $ 14,663 $ - $ - $ 15,285 $ 14,663 

Tax losses available for 

future periods 3,771 5,112 - - 3,771 5,112 

Accrued and other liabilities 24,291 8,320 - - 24,291 8,320 

Property, plant and equipment 

greater than tax values - - (22,144) (22,370) (22,144) (22,370)

Intangible assets greater than 

tax values - - (358,528) (72,452) (358,528) (72,452)

Partnership income deferred for 

tax purposes - - (25,204) (18,469) (25,204) (18,469)

Set off of tax (39,020) (24,924) 39,020 24,924 - - 

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) $ 4,327 $ 3,171 $ (366,856) $ (88,367) $ (362,529) $ (85,196)

1 Comparatives have been presented to conform to the current period disclosure.

As at December 31, 2013, certain Canadian and U.S. corporate subsidiaries of the Group had $10.9 million of net operating

losses for income tax purposes. These losses will begin to expire commencing in fiscal 2025. The deductibility of losses

of a U.S. corporate subsidiary of approximately $2.1 million is subject to annual limitations.
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Movement in deferred tax balances during the period:

2013

Effect of 
Balance at Recognized movements Acquired in Included in 
January 1, in continuing Recognized in exchange business discontinued 

2013 operations in equity rates combinations operations Total

Intangible assets less 

than tax values $ 14,663 $ 622 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 15,285 

Tax losses available for 

future periods 5,112 (3,076) - 35 813 887 3,771 

Accrued and other 

liabilities 8,320 10,313 1,202 475 3,981 - 24,291 

Property, plant and 

equipment greater 

than tax values (22,370) 1,129 - (73) (1,790) 960 (22,144)

Intangible assets greater 

than tax values (72,452) 12,423 - (10,835) (288,139) 475 (358,528)

Partnership income 

deferred for tax 

purposes (18,469) (6,735) - - - - (25,204)

$ (85,196) $ 14,676 $ 1,202 $ (10,398) $ (285,135) $ 2,322 $ (362,529)

2012

Effect of 
Balance at Recognized movements Acquired in Included in 
January 1, in continuing Recognized in exchange business discontinued 

2012 operations in equity rates combinations operations Total

Intangible assets less 

than tax values $ 11,036 $ 3,627 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 14,663 

Tax losses available for 

future periods 22,291 (17,576) - (16) - 413 5,112 

Accrued and other 

liabilities 6,660 1,652 - (4) 12 - 8,320 

Property, plant and 

equipment greater 

than tax values (17,191) (5,001) - (36) (142) - (22,370)

Intangible assets greater 

than tax values (67,642) 1,195 - 694 (6,699) - (72,452)

Partnership income 

deferred for tax 

purposes (12,517) (5,952) - - - - (18,469)

$ (57,363) $ (22,055) $ - $ 638 $ (6,829) $ 413 $ (85,196)
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13. property, plant and Equipment 

2013

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures and

Land and and Computer leasehold
buildings equipment equipment improvements Total 

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 2,141 $ 21,452 $ 41,717 $ 13,026 $ 78,336 

Acquisition of businesses 206 1,602 13,413 3,454 18,675 

Additions - 1,226 6,622 3,799 11,647 

Disposals (791) (592) (474) (284) (2,141)

Discontinued operations (1,350) (2,477) (3,924) (2,735) (10,486)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates 6 60 511 408 985 

At December 31, 2013 $ 212 $ 21,271 $ 57,865 $ 17,668 $ 97,016 

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 553 $ 15,320 $ 25,604 $ 6,658 $ 48,135 

Depreciation 1 62 1,165 7,970 2,410 11,607 

Disposals (114) (592) (466) (279) (1,451)

Discontinued operations (477) (1,730) (2,598) (1,503) (6,308)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates - 1 31 88 120 

At December 31, 2013 $ 24 $ 14,164 $ 30,541 $ 7,374 $ 52,103 

Net carrying amount 

At December 31, 2013 $ 188 $ 7,107 $ 27,324 $ 10,294 $ 44,913 

1 Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2013 includes $0.4 million related to discontinued operations.
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2012 

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures and

Land and and Computer leasehold
buildings equipment equipment improvements Total 

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 2,141 $ 21,035 $ 36,286 $ 14,742 $ 74,204 

Acquisition of business - - - 447 447 

Additions - 453 5,431 1,792 7,676 

Disposals - (36) - (3,930) (3,966)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates - - - (25) (25)

At December 31, 2012 $ 2,141 $ 21,452 $ 41,717 $ 13,026 $ 78,336 

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 421 $ 13,772 $ 19,127 $ 8,715 $ 42,035 

Depreciation 1 132 1,580 6,477 1,881 10,070 

Disposals - (32) - (3,930) (3,962)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates - - - (8) (8)

At December 31, 2012 $ 553 $ 15,320 $ 25,604 $ 6,658 $ 48,135 

Net carrying amount 

At December 31, 2012 $ 1,588 $ 6,132 $ 16,113 $ 6,368 $ 30,201 

1 Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2012 included $1.5 million related to discontinued operations.
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14. intangible Assets 

2013

Contracts Software Acquisition of businesses Total

Customer 
Internally service Proprietary Brand Customer 

Purchased developed contracts software names relationships

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 7,683 $ 23,031 $ 62,133 $ - $ 147,740 $ 36,288 $ 341,743 $ 618,618 

Acquisition of businesses - 3,371 - - 209,005 50,691 503,946 767,013 

Additions 1,500 6,023 20,553 139 - - - 28,215 

Disposals (3,284) (8,692) (3,121) - - - - (15,097)

Discontinued operations - (310) (238) - - - (9,200) (9,748)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates - 206 259 - 8,727 3,338 21,014 33,544 

At December 31, 2013 $ 5,899 $ 23,629 $ 79,586 $ 139 $ 365,472 $ 90,317 $ 857,503 $1,422,545 

Accumulated amortization

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 5,147 $ 16,569 $ 18,681 $ - $ 53,576 $ 6,553 $ 96,726 $ 197,252 

Amortization 1 2,085 6,048 12,339 - 17,037 12,501 39,476 89,486 

Disposals (3,284) (8,692) (3,121) - - - - (15,097)

Discontinued operations - (300) - - - - (7,408) (7,708)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates - 72 66 - 673 449 1,182 2,442 

At December 31, 2013 $ 3,948 $ 13,697 $ 27,965 $ - $ 71,286 $ 19,503 $ 129,976 $ 266,375 

Net carrying amount 

At December 31, 2013 $ 1,951 $ 9,932 $ 51,621 $ 139 $ 294,186 $ 70,814 $ 727,527 $1,156,170 

1 Amortization for the year ended December 31, 2013 includes $0.2 million related to discontinued operations.
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2012

Contracts Software Acquisition of businesses Total

Customer 
Internally service Proprietary Brand Customer 

Purchased developed contracts software names relationships

Cost

At January 1, 2012 $ 7,875 $ 19,851 $ 45,778 $ 438 $147,966 $ 27,592 $ 338,472 $ 587,972 

Acquisition of business - - - - 148 9,276 8,684 18,108 

Additions 2,767 4,340 18,534 - - - - 25,641 

Disposals (2,959) (1,147) (2,153) (438) - - (3,306) (10,003)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates - (13) (26) - (374) (580) (2,107) (3,100)

At December 31, 2012 $ 7,683 $ 23,031 $ 62,133 $ - $147,740 $ 36,288 $ 341,743 $ 618,618 

Accumulated amortization

At January 1, 2012 $ 5,137 $ 10,764 $ 11,295 $ 438 $ 38,203 $ 4,419 $ 73,141 $ 143,397 

Amortization 1 2,969 6,610 9,536 - 15,463 2,157 27,016 63,751 

Disposals (2,959) (796) (2,147) (438) - - (3,306) (9,646)

Effect of movements in 

exchange rates - (9) (3) - (90) (23) (125) (250)

At December 31, 2012 $ 5,147 $ 16,569 $ 18,681 $ - $ 53,576 $ 6,553 $ 96,726 $ 197,252 

Net carrying amount 

At December 31, 2012 $ 2,536 $ 6,462 $ 43,452 $ - $ 94,164 $ 29,735 $ 245,017 $ 421,366 

1 Amortization for the year ended December 31, 2012 includes $1.6 million related to discontinued operations.

15. trade payables, Accrued and other Liabilities

2013 2012

Trade payables $ 37,286 $ 26,182 

Accrued liabilities 92,081 73,728 

Interest rate swaps – current 361 - 

$ 129,728 $ 99,910 

D+H | 2013 Annual Report 157



16. financial instruments

The Group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit Risk

• Market Risk (includes interest-rate and foreign exchange risk)

• Liquidity Risk

Credit Risk The Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,

accounts receivable and interest-rate swaps. The Group, in its normal course of business, is exposed to credit risk from its

customers. The Group is exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance by counterparties to the interest-rate

swaps and from time to time, foreign exchange contracts (none outstanding at December 31, 2013 or 2012). Risks

associated with concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable and interest-rate swaps are limited due

to the credit rating of the applicable customers and counterparties and the generally short payment terms of accounts

receivable.

Market Risk The Group is subject to interest-rate risks as the Eighth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement 

(“Credit Facility”) (note 18) bears interest at rates that depend on certain financial ratios of the Group and are based on

floating rates based on CDOR and LIBOR which vary in accordance with borrowing rates in Canada and the United States,

respectively. 

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis to changes in market interest rates and their potential impact on the

Group for the year ended December 31, 2013. As the sensitivity is hypothetical, it should be used with caution.

2013 2012

+ 100 bps -100 bps + 100 bps -100 bps

Increase (decrease) in interest expense $ 2,927 $ (2,927) $ 773 $ (773)

Change to net unrealized (gain) loss 

on interest-rate swaps (1,960) 1,960 (2,900) 2,900 

Change to net unrealized (gain) loss 

on interest-rate swaps through OCI (3,226) 3,226 - - 

Decrease (increase) in income from 

continuing operations before 

income tax $ 967 $ (967) $ (2,127) $ 2,127 

Decrease (increase) in total 

comprehensive income $ (3,226) $ 3,226 $ - $ - 

The Group manages interest-rate risk through the use of interest-rate swaps for a portion of its outstanding credit facilities.

During the year, the Company entered into four new 3-month resetting interest-rate swaps totalling US$100.0 million

(US$25.0 million each) to fix interest rates on its U.S. dollar denominated debt, which mature on October 17, 2016 or

October 17, 2018, as detailed in the table below. These interest-rate swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges

for hedge accounting purposes.
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As at December 31, 2013, the following fixed-paying interest-rate swaps were outstanding:

Fair value of interest-rate swaps

Maturity date Notional amount Asset Liability Interest rate1

December 18, 2014 2 $ 25,000 $ - $ 361 2.720%

March 18, 2015 2 25,000 - 514 2.940%

March 18, 2017 2 25,000 - 1,269 3.350%

March 20, 2017 2 20,000 - 1,026 3.366%

October 17, 2016 (US$25,000) 3 26,590 - 84 0.835%

October 17, 2016 (US$25,000) 3 26,590 - 84 0.835%

October 17, 2016 (US$25,000) 3 26,590 - 13 0.784%

October 17, 2018 (US$25,000) 3 26,590 - 39 1.645%

$ 201,360 $ - $ 3,390 

1 The listed interest rates exclude bankers’ acceptance fees and prime-rate spreads currently in effect. Such fees and spreads could increase or decrease
depending on the Group financial leverage compared to certain levels specified in the Credit Facility agreement. Based on the financial leverage as at
December 31, 2013, the Group ’s long-term bank indebtedness will be subject to bankers’ acceptance fees of 2.25% over the applicable BA rate and
prime rate spreads of 1.25% over the prime rate.

2 Not-designated as hedges for the purposes of hedge accounting. Fair value changes on these swaps impact the Consolidated Statements of Income.

3 Designated as hedges for the purposes of hedge accounting. Fair value changes on these swaps impact other comprehensive income.

The following table presents the impact of cash flow hedges on D+H’s financial results: 

Amount
Fair value change recognized in
recorded in OCI interest expense

2013

Interest rate  swaps $ (220) $ (146)

Total $ (220) $ (146)

2012

Interest rate swaps $ - $ -

Total $ - $ -

Expected cash flows

3 months or less

2013

Interest rate  swaps $ (184)

Total $ (184)

2012

Interest rate swaps $ -

Total $ -
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During the year, D+H entered into foreign exchange forward contracts to purchase a total of US$592.5 million, anytime

between August 16 and 23, 2013, to economically hedge the foreign exchange risk related to the acquisition price

denominated in USD to fund the acquisition of HFS. The Group recorded a gain of $4.7 million in the Consolidated

Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2013.The Group is subject to foreign exchange risk on its U.S.

dollar denominated debt (December 31, 2013 – US$744.5 million), transactions between the Group’s Canadian and

foreign operations and from the distribution of cash to D+H from foreign subsidiaries.

As at December 31, 2013, there were no foreign exchange contracts outstanding.The following table presents a sensitivity

analysis to changes in the foreign exchange rate between the Canadian and U.S. dollars for the year ended December 31,

2013. As the sensitivity is hypothetical, it should be used with caution.

2013 2012

+ $0.05 CAD -$0.05 CAD + $0.05 CAD -$0.05 CAD 
Per USD Per USD Per USD Per USD

Unrealized gain (loss) on translation $ 491 $ (491) $ (337) $ 337 

Increase (decrease) in net income $ 491 $ (491) $ (337) $ 337 

Liquidity Risk As at December 31, 2013, the table below provides the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s

revolving and non-revolving, non-amortizing term Credit Facility and all fixed-interest-rate bonds.

2013 

Contractual Less than 1 – 3 4 – 5 More than
amount Total 1 year years years 5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Revolver (US$25,000; C$42,000) $ 68,590 $ (68,590) $ - $ - $ (68,590) $ - 

Non-revolver I (US$400,000) 425,440 (425,440) - - (425,440) - 

Bonds (secured) 50,000 (50,000) - - (50,000) - 

Bonds (secured) 30,000 (30,000) - - (30,000) - 

Bonds (secured) (US$63,000) 67,007 (67,007) - - - (67,007)

Bonds (secured) (US$16,500) 17,549 (17,549) - - - (17,549)

Bonds (secured) (US$15,000) 15,954 (15,954) - - - (15,954)

Bonds (secured) 20,000 (20,000) - - - (20,000)

Bonds (secured) (US$100,000) 106,360 (106,360) - - - (106,360)

Bonds (secured) (US$75,000) 79,770 (79,770) - - - (79,770)

Bonds (secured) (US$50,000) 53,180 (53,180) - - - (53,180)

$ 933,850 $(933,850) $ - $ - $(574,030) $(359,820)
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The degree to which the Group is leveraged may reduce its ability to obtain additional financing for working capital and to

finance investments to maintain and grow the current levels of cash flows from operating activities. The Group’s ability to

extend the maturity date of the Credit Facility or to refinance outstanding indebtedness is dependent upon a number of

factors, including the Group’s future performance and economic conditions. As a result, there is no certainty that the Group

will be able to extend the Credit Facility or refinance outstanding indebtedness.

Management, to reduce liquidity risk, has historically renewed the terms of the Group’s long-term indebtedness in advance

of its maturity dates and the Group has maintained financial covenants applicable to the financing arrangements. To enhance

its liquidity position, $286.4 million of the Group’s committed term credit facilities remain undrawn at December 31, 2013.

Further, the Credit Facility provides for an additional uncommitted credit arrangement of up to $100.0 million and the

Group’s bond shelf facilities provides for an additional uncommitted arrangement of up to $93.8 million with the use of

these arrangements subject to the prior approval of the relevant lenders and fees, spreads and other terms to be negotiated

at that time. 

With respect to its level of indebtedness, the Group determines the appropriate level in the context of its cash flow and

overall business risks. Generally, the Group has maintained a lower level of indebtedness relative to cash flow in order to

provide increased financial flexibility. Additionally, the Group has historically generated cash flow in excess of dividends

and has used a portion of such excess to pay down indebtedness. The Group would consider increasing its level of

indebtedness relative to cash flow to assist in the financing of an acquisition. 

The Group’s indebtedness is subject to a number of covenants and restrictions including the requirement to meet certain

financial ratios and financial condition tests. One such ratio is the “Total Funded Debt / EBITDA Ratio” included in the

Credit Facility agreement as defined in the Credit Facility. Total Funded Debt includes all of the Company’s outstanding

indebtedness, amounts capitalized under finance leases, bankers’ acceptances and letters of credit. Debentures are

excluded from Total Funded Debt. EBITDA, for the purposes of the Total Funded Debt / EBITDA Ratio, is calculated on a

twelve-month trailing basis as Net income plus: interest expense, depreciation and amortization, income tax and capital 

tax expenses, other non-cash expenses and certain restructuring and transaction expenses, to the extent expensed in 

the Consolidated Statements of Income. Other add-backs to Net income include certain deferred revenue changes and

impacts of acquisition accounting adjustments impacting revenue with respect to the HFS acquisition. The maximum ratio

currently allowed for a 12-month trailing period is 3.70. The maximum ratio will step down to 3.00 by the quarter ended

September 30, 2015. For the 12-month trailing period ended December 31, 2013, this ratio was calculated at 2.93 

(12-month trailing period ended December 31, 2012 – 1.76). Management also uses this ratio as a key indicator in

managing the Group’s capital. 

Management manages liquidity risk through comparisons of current financial ratios with financial covenants contained in

the Credit Facility and ongoing monitoring of the Group’s liquidity to ensure that the Group has sufficient liquidity to meet

its liabilities when they are due.

Capital The Group views its capital as the combination of its long-term indebtedness and equity balances. In general, the

overall capital of the Group is evaluated and determined in the context of its financial objectives and its strategic plan.
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While the Group carries a level of cash on hand, this amount is modest in relation to its overall capital and is generally 

in an amount determined in reference to its pending dividend obligations and short-term changes in non-cash working

capital balances. With respect to its equity, the current level of capital is considered adequate in the context of current

operations and the present strategic plan of the Group. The equity component of capital increases is primarily based upon

the income of the business less the dividends paid. Any major acquisition would be expected to be financed in part with

additional equity. 

Fair value measurements 

The following table below lists the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities on the

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. 

2013 2012

Carrying Carrying 
amount Fair value amount Fair value

financial assets

Short-term trade accounts receivable 1 $ 111,156 $ - $ 84,996 $ - 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 32,398 - 5,719 - 

Non-current trade receivables 22,179 22,179 - - 

$ 165,733 $ 22,179 $ 90,715 $ - 

financial liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 1 $ 129,367 $ - $ 99,910 $ - 

Derivative liabilities held for 

risk management 3,390 3,390 4,686 4,686 

Convertible debentures – 

liability component 209,647 212,372 - - 

Loans and borrowings 933,850 935,933 340,577 360,924 

$1,276,254 $1,151,695 $ 445,173 $ 365,610 

1 The Group has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short term trade accounts receivable, accounts payable and cash and cash
equivalents because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair values.

Fair value hierarchy

A fair value hierarchy is utilized by D+H to categorize inputs used in valuation techniques to measure fair value. The different

fair value hierarchy levels are defined as follows:

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date.

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly.

• Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Instruments

Derivative liabilities held for 

risk management $ - $ 3,390 $ - $ 3,390 

$ - $ 3,390 $ - $ 3,390 

Recurring Financial instruments

Non-current trade receivables $ - $ 22,179 $ - $ 22,179 

Loans and borrowings $ - $ 935,933 $ - $ 935,933 

$ - $ 958,112 $ - $ 958,112 

Disclosures

Convertible debentures – 

liability component $ - $ 212,372 $ - $ 212,372 

$ - $ 212,372 $ - $ 212,372 

2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Instruments

Derivative liabilities held for 

risk management $ - $ 4,686 $ - $ 4,686 

$ - $ 4,686 $ - $ 4,686 

Recurring financial instruments

Loans and borrowings $ - $ 360,924 $ - $ 360,924 

$ - $ 360,924 $ - $ 360,924 

Derivative liabilities held for risk management, carried at fair value, are included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as they

are valued using pricing models or discounted cash flow models. These models require a variety of inputs, including, but

not limited to, contractual terms, market prices, forward price curves and yield curves. 

Loans and borrowings are included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as they are valued using pricing models or

discounted cash flow models. These models require a variety of inputs, including, but not limited to, contractual terms,

market prices, forward price curves, yield curves, and credit spreads. 

Non-current trade receivables are included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as they are valued using discounted cash

flows with required inputs being the credit-adjusted discount rate for each respective counterparty.
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The liability component of Debentures is included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as it is valued using the fair value of

a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. Specifically, the fair value of the liability component is

derived from applying credit spreads to the discount rate of the liability component that are implied from separating the fair

value of the equity conversion option from the observable fair market value of the compound instrument in aggregate.

Inputs are obtained from or corroborated with the market where possible. 

17. Convertible debentures

On August 13, 2013, the Group issued $230.0 million principal amount of 6.00% convertible unsecured subordinated

debentures for net proceeds of $220.6  million. These Debentures pay interest semi-annually on March  31 and

September 30, commencing with the initial interest payment on March 31, 2014 and have a maturity date of September 30,

2018. The Debentures are convertible at the option of the holder to common shares at a conversion price of $28.90 per

common share. D+H has the option to redeem the Debentures on or after September 30, 2016 and at any time prior to

September 30, 2017 at a redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest

provided that the current market price of the common shares is at least 125% of the conversion price of $28.90. On or

after September 30, 2017 and prior to September 30, 2018, the Debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part at the

option of D+H at a redemption price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. On redemption or

maturity D+H may elect to repay the principal and satisfy its interest obligations by issuing D+H common shares. The

Debentures can be converted to common shares at a conversion price of $28.90 per every $1,000 of the principle amount

of the Debentures. The Debentures are D+H’s direct obligations and are subordinated to D+H’s other liabilities.

Upon issuance of the Debentures, the $230.0 million principal amount was allocated between a liability and an equity

component, requiring the use of estimates and judgement. The liability component of the Debentures was recognized

initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. A market interest rate of 7.45%

was used for the estimation of the liability component of the Debenture. The difference between these two amounts of

$12.8 million has been recorded in equity with the remaining $217.2 million allocated to debt. Directly attributable

transaction costs of $9.4 million were allocated to the liability and equity components of the Debentures, on a proportionate

basis. The carrying value an is being accreted over the five year term using an effective interest rate of 4.14% such that the

liability at maturity will equal the face value of the Debentures of $230.0 million. 

The following table outlines the changes to the Debentures since their issuance:

Proceeds from issue of Debentures (230,000 notes at $1,000 par value) $ 230,000 

Transaction costs (9,357)

Net proceeds 220,643 

Amounts classified as equity, net of transaction costs and deferred tax (8,889)

Deferred tax on equity component (3,407)

Accretion of interest expense 1 1,300 

Carrying amount of liability at December 31, 2013 $ 209,647 

1 Includes amortization of debt issuance costs.
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18. Loans and borrowings

Reference Interest Rate 1 Maturity 2013 2012 

Previous Credit Facility (secured) 1 BA/LIBOR + 1.50% Apr 2017 $ - $172,306 

Credit Facility (secured) 2

Revolver (US$25,000; C$42,000) 2a BA/LIBOR + 2.25% Aug 2018 68,590 - 

Non-revolver I (US$400,000) 2b LIBOR + 2.25% Aug 2018 425,440 - 

Credit facilities 494,030 172,306 

Bond (secured) 3a 6.99% Jun 2017 50,000 50,000 

Bond (secured) 3a 6.17% Jun 2017 30,000 30,000 

Bond (secured) (US$63,000) 3a 6.59% Apr 2021 67,007 62,679 

Bond (secured) (US$16,500) 3a 4.94% Jun 2022 17,549 16,416 

Bond (secured) (US$15,000) 3a 4.94% Jun 2022 15,954 14,923 

Bond (secured) 3b 5.76% Aug 2023 20,000 - 

Bond (secured) (US$100,000) 3b 5.51% Aug 2023 106,360 - 

Bond (secured) (US$75,000) 3b 5.51% Aug 2023 79,770 - 

Bond (secured) (US$50,000) 3b 5.51% Aug 2023 53,180 - 

Bonds 439,820 174,018 

933,850 346,324 

Deferred finance costs (9,721) (5,747)

$924,129 $340,577 

1 The listed interest rates exclude bankers’ acceptance (“BA”) fees and prime-rate spreads currently in effect. Such fees and spreads could increase or
decrease depending on the Group’s financial leverage as compared to certain levels specified in the Credit Facility agreement. Based on the financial
leverage as of December 31, 2013, the Group’s long-term bank indebtedness will be subject to bankers’ acceptance fees of 2.25% over the applicable
BA rate and prime rate spreads of 1.25% over the prime rate.

The table below lists committed and uncommitted arrangements available to D+H. Uncommitted arrangements are subject

to the prior approval of the relevant lenders with any fees, spreads and other additional terms to be negotiated at that time.

As at December 31, 2013 

Committed Uncommitted Outstanding Available 

Revolver $ 355,000 $ - $ 68,590 $ 286,410 

Non-revolver I 425,440 - 425,440 - 

Uncommitted arrangements - 100,000 - 100,000 

Credit Facility 780,440 100,000 494,030 386,410 

Bonds 439,820 93,816 439,820 93,816 

$1,220,260 $ 193,816 $ 933,850 $ 480,226 

The non-revolving, non-amortizing secured credit facilities and bonds are listed in the table above and further described

below. D+H has guaranteed all of the obligations under the Credit Facility and bonds, with such guarantees secured by 

a security interest over all of D+H’s assets.
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1. Previous Credit Facility: Effective August 16, 2013, the Seventh Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Previous

Credit Facility”) was replaced with the Credit Facility. 

2. Credit Facility: the Credit Facility provides for the following: 

2a. A revolving term credit facility in the amount of $355.0 million (“Revolver”),

2b. A non-revolving, non-amortizing term credit facility in the amounts of $425.4 million (“Non-revolver I”).

A non-revolving, non-amortizing term credit facility in the amounts of US $244.0 million (“Non-revolver II”) was also

available at August 16, 2013. The Credit Facility matures on August 16, 2018 however Non-revolver I and Non-

revolver II (collectively “Non-revolver I and II”) were available as a single drawdown for the purposes of financing the

HFS acquisition and following the drawdown, both facilities were permanently reduced to the amount drawn

($425.4 million and US$244.0 million). In August 26, 2013, Non-revolver II was fully repaid and no further borrowings

are available under Non-revolver II. Non-revolver I’s borrowing capacity will be permanently reduced upon any payments

by the Group on outstanding balances. 

Drawings under the Group’s secured Credit Facility, Revolver and Non-revolver I, bear interest at the applicable floating

rate plus a margin. The margin can vary based upon leverage as determined by the Total Funded Debt/EBITDA ratio.

The Credit Facility also subjects the Group to a number of covenants and restrictions as described in Note 16, including

the requirement to meet certain financial ratios and financial condition tests.

The replacement of the Previous Credit Facility with the Credit Facility resulted in a $3.2 million loss associated with

the write-off of unamortized deferred debt issuance costs pertaining to the Previous Credit Facility. This loss was

recognized in finance expenses – other finance charges in the Consolidated Statements of Income – for the year

ended December 31, 2013.

3. Bonds:

3a. During the year ended December  31, 2013, all of D+H’s secured bonds that were outstanding as at

December  31, 2012 had their coupon rates increased by 1% per annum until the Group’s Total Funded

Debt/EBITDA Ratio (note 16) is less than 3.00 for two consecutive fiscal quarters. 

3b. On August 26, 2013, aggregate proceeds from the issue of US$225.0 million and $20 million of secured bonds

were used to refinance amounts drawn under the Non-revolver II. 

D+H’s bonds are secured by the assets of the Group and the bonds also subject the Group to a number of covenants

and restrictions as described in note 16, including the requirement to meet certain financial ratios and financial 

condition tests.
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19. other long-term liabilities

2013 2012

Deferred compensation program $ 4,596 $ 2,537 

Employee future benefits 3,384 2,938 

Other 1 1,202 641 

$ 9,182 $ 6,116 

1 Other long term liabilities primarily include lease and employee compensation related balances.

Obligations relating to the Group’s deferred compensation program as at December  31, 2013 consisted of two

components: (i) restricted share units plan (“RSUs”) and (ii) performance share units plan (“PSUs”). Both components

have a three-year vesting period and are cash-settled share-based compensation. The RSU’s vest 1/3 on each of the first,

second and third anniversaries of January 1 of the calendar year in which the award of RSUs is made whereas the PSU’s

vest on the third anniversary of January 1 of the calendar year in which the award of PSUs is made. The PSU’s also have a

performance target which is based on the annual three-year change in earnings per share during the vesting period as

measured against a performance grid set for a specific period. The fair value amount payable was measured using the

closing price of $29.79 at December 31, 2013 and an expected dividend payment of $1.28 per share, representing the

annualized declared dividend at December 31, 2013. For the year ended December 31, 2013, an expense of $6.2 million

was recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income relating to the deferred compensation program (2012  –

$2.9 million).

The following table presents information concerning the number of outstanding PSU and RSU units granted by D+H:

2013 2012 

Balance at January 1 259,437 167,899 

Granted 139,018 168,142 

Exercised 91,295 68,600 

Forfeited 8,759 8,004 

Outstanding at December 31 298,401 259,437 

Obligations relating to employee future benefits relate to the Group’s non-pension post-retirement benefit plans. The

Group’s non-pension post-retirement benefit plans are defined benefit plans funded on a cash basis by contributions from

the Group, which covers certain medical costs of a limited number of employees. The Group measures its accrued benefit

obligations for accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. The latest actuarial valuation of the post-retirement

benefit plan was performed as at December 31, 2013. The next valuation will be performed in 2014. 

The total expense for the Group’s benefit plans for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $3.4 million (2012 –

$3.1 million).
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The components of post-retirement benefit obligations recognized are as follows:

2013 2012

Change in post-retirement benefit obligation 

Balance at beginning of year $ 2,938 $ 3,407 

Impact of transition to IAS 19R (note 3) 385 - 

Current service costs 265 132 

Interest cost 105 118 

Benefits paid (171) (438)

Remeasurement loss (gain): 

Acturial loss (gain) arising from: 

Demographic assumptions (11) (139)

Financial assumptions (194) 156 

Experience adjustments 67 87 

Unrecognized net actuarial gain - (385)

Net non-pension post-retirement benefit liability $ 3,384 $ 2,938 

Actuarial assumptions: 

Accrued benefit obligation: 

Discount rate 4.55% 3.75%

Rate of compensation increase 2.00% 2.00%

Initial weighted average health-care trend rate 6.37% 6.92%

Ultimate weighted average health care trend rate 4.30% 4.29%

Year the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2033 2029

Net benefit plan expense: 

Discount rate 3.75% 4.30%

Rate of compensation increase 2.00% 2.00%

Initial weighted average health-care trend rate 7.02% 7.06%

Ultimate weighted average health care trend rate 4.30% 4.29%

Year the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2033 2029

Effects of change in assumed health cost trend rates: 

1% increase: 

Effect on total service and interest cost components $ 9 $ 10 

Effect on post-retirement accrued benefit obligation 241 234 

1% decrease: 

Effect on total service and interest cost components (8) (9)

Effect on post-retirement accrued benefit obligation $ (224) $ (209)

168 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 



20. options

D+H maintains a stock option plan (“program”) for its key management personnel. In accordance with the program, options

are exercisable at the market price of the shares at the date of grant and vest over a four or five year period starting from

their grant date with a contracted life of seven years. All options are to be settled by the delivery of shares. 

The following table provides a summary of stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2013:

2013 2012

Weighted Weighted 
Number of average Number of average 

options exercise price options exercise price

Balance at January 1 726,821 $ 18.78 301,000 $ 19.77 

Granted 298,892 22.80 525,821 18.49 

Exercised - - - - 

Forfeited 109,685 18.13 100,000 20.26 

Outstanding 916,028 $ 20.17 726,821 $ 18.78 

Exercisable 181,221 $ 19.17 50,250 $ 19.53 

2013

Number of stock options Weighted average remaining 
Range of exercise price outstanding contractual life (years)

$16.75 – $22.80 916,028 5.45

Stock compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $0.5 million (2012 – $0.5 million).

The fair value of options granted is determined using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The following weighted average

assumptions were used in computing the fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2013:

Black-Scholes weighted average assumptions:

Share price $ 22.80

Expected dividend yield 5.6%

Expected volatility 21.0%

Risk-free rate of return 1.3%

Expected life of option in years 4

Fair value per stock option granted $ 2.71
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21. Capital

2013 2012

Common shares: 

Authorized, unlimited 

Issued: 

Balance, beginning of year 1 $ 672,853 $ 672,853 

Share issuance pursuant to the HFS acquisition 444,932 - 

Total Capital, end of year $ 1,117,785 $ 672,853 

Common shares outstanding, end of year 80,738,373 59,233,373 

1 Stock options of $0.8 million were presented as part of share capital in prior periods.

The authorized capital of D+H consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of preferred

shares issuable in a series. Holders of common shares are entitled to one vote per share of meetings of shareholders of

D+H and to receive dividends if declared by the board of directors. Holders of preferred shares do not have any voting

rights and the shares have rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that are determined by the board of directors prior

to issuance. At December 31, 2013, no preferred shares were issued by D+H. 

On August 13, 2013, the Group completed a bought deal underwriting offering which included 21,505,000 subscription

receipts at a price of $21.40 per subscription receipt for gross proceeds of $460.2 million. The gross proceeds were held

by an escrow agent pending closing of the HFS acquisition and initially recorded as a financial liability measured at amortized

cost. On August 16, 2013, the Group closed the HFS acquisition and the gross proceeds from the subscription receipt

offering were released from escrow and each holder of a subscription receipt automatically received one common share

of D+H without further consideration. The Group incurred $19.9  million for transaction costs associated with the

subscription receipt offering. 

The gross proceeds of $460.2 million from subscription receipts discussed above are presented net of transaction costs

of $19.9 million and a $4.6 million tax impact to equity related to a deferred tax asset.

22. Earnings per share

Basic net income per share, income from continuing operations per share and loss from discontinued operations per share

are calculated by dividing net income, income from continuing operations and loss from discontinued operations for the

period by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted net income per share, income from continuing operations per share and loss from discontinued operations per

share are calculated by adjusting net income, income from continuing operations, loss from discontinued operations and

weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period for the effects of dilutive potential shares. The diluted

per share amounts for share-based compensation are calculated using the treasury stock method, as if all the share

equivalents where the average market price exceeds the issue price had been exercised at the beginning of the reporting

period, or the date of issue, as the case may be, and that the funds obtained thereby were used to purchase shares of

D+H at the average trading price of the common shares during the period. The dilution impact of the Debentures is

calculated using the if-converted method from the beginning of the period, or the date of issue, as the case may be.
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The following table sets out the computation of basic and diluted net income, income from continuing operations and loss

from discontinued operations per share.

2013 2012

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share 

Income from continuing operations $ 61,704 $ 70,288 

Loss from discontinued operations (18,052) (1,151)

Net income $ 43,652 $ 69,137 

denominator (thousands of shares)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for basic earnings per share 67,364 59,233 

Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 79 - 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share 67,443 59,233 

Earnings per share – basic 

Earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.9160 $ 1.1866 

Loss per share from discontinued operations $ (0.2680) $ (0.0194)

Net income per share $ 0.6480 $ 1.1672 

Earnings per share – diluted 

Earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.9149 $ 1.1866 

Loss per share from discontinued operations $ (0.2677) $ (0.0194)

Net income per share $ 0.6472 $ 1.1672 

The following table lists the equity securities excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share. As at

December 31, 2013, all equity securities relating to stock options were included in the earnings per share calculation as

the average market price of the Group’s shares exceeded the exercise price of the options (2012 – all equity securities

related to stock options were excluded as the average market price of Group’s shares were below the exercise price of the

options). Equity securities related to Debentures were excluded as the inclusion of the equity securities had an anti-dilutive

effect on net income (2012 – no Debentures were issued).

2013 2012

Options - 727

Debentures 3,009 - 
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23. related party transactions

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel consist of the executive team and the directors of D+H. Compensation of key management

personnel is comprised of:

2013 2012

Short-term employee compensation $ 6,548 $ 8,654 

Post-employment benefits 91 102 

Share based compensation 881 660 

Other long-term benefits 5,206 2,318 

$ 12,726 $ 11,734 

24. operating Leases

As at December 31, 2013, the Group had annual lease obligations with respect to real estate, vehicles and equipment 

as follows: 

2013 2012

Less than 1 year $ 13,939 $ 8,440 

Between 1 and 5 years 34,906 17,860 

More than 5 years 8,486 5,958 

$ 57,331 $ 32,258 

The Group enters into operating leases in the ordinary course of business, primarily for real property, vehicles and equipment.

During the year-end December 31, 2013, the Group entered into new operating leases of $1.9 million which were acquired

as part of the Group’s acquisition of Compushare and $26.6 million from the acquisition of HFS. An expense of $9.9 million

was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $12.5 million) for operating leases which include 

certain maintenance costs paid as part of lease agreements. Significant leases relate to offices and typically run for a period

of 10 years, with an option to renew. Payments for these leases are contractual obligations as scheduled per each agreement.

172 D+H | 2013 Annual Report 



25. operating Segments

The Group’s operating segments are based on its strategic business units, reflecting management’s strategic views of

D+H in 2013. The two reportable segments based on the strategic business units are the Canadian segment and the U.S.

segment. Both of these strategic business units are based on geography with the Canadian segment comprising primarily

of the Group’s operations in Canada while the U.S. segment comprises of most of the Group’s operations in the U.S. and

other international locations. The Canadian and U.S. segment are components of the entity that the Group’s CODM monitors

in making decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and to assess performance.

The Segment’s operating results are reviewed by the Group’s CODM to make decisions about resources to be allocated

to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. For both segments,

the Group’s CODM reviews internal management reports on a monthly basis.

Acquisition-related and other charges including transaction costs related to acquisitions, retention and incentive costs in

connection with the acquisition of businesses, business integration costs and expenses related to cost-realignment initiatives

are reported in Corporate.

Head office expenses are shared between the two segments. The costs for these reside in the Canadian segment and the

U.S. segment is charged a management fee which is calculated on a fair value basis.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on 

the segment’s Income from operating activities before interest, taxes depreciation and amortization and also excludes: 

(i) acquisition-related expenses such as transaction costs, business integration costs and certain retention and 

incentive costs incurred in connection with acquisitions; (ii) other charges such as corporate development costs related 

to strategic acquisition initiatives; (iii) costs incurred in connection with cost-realignment initiatives; and (iv) the effects of

acquisition accounting on the fair value of deferred revenues and deferred costs acquired from the acquisition of HFS

(“Adjusted EBITDA”).  

Canadian segment U.S. segment Total
For the years ended 
December 31, 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

External revenue $654,608 $638,811 $182,485 $ 56,645 $837,093 $695,456 

Inter-segment revenue (expense) 5,846 2,998 (5,846) (2,998) - - 

Consolidated – Non-GAAP

Adjusted EBITDA $168,818 $167,883 $ 78,652 $ 28,661 $247,470 $196,544 
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reconciliation of information on reportable segments to the Consolidated Statements of income:

2013 2012

Total segment measure of profit – Adjusted EBITDA $ 247,470 $ 196,544 

Acquisition accounting adjustments (24,247) - 

Acquisition-related and other charges (23,760) (14,938)

Income from operating activities before depreciation and amortization $ 199,463 $ 181,606 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment $ 11,173 $ 8,554 

Amortization of intangible assets 89,259 62,103 

Fair value adjustment of derivative instruments (6,207) (2,016)

Interest expense 35,747 19,214 

Other finance charges 3,224 - 

Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest (1,587) - 

Income from investment in an associate, net of income tax (130) (68)

Income from continuing operations before tax $ 67,984 $ 93,819 

Geographic information

Revenues from the Canadian and U.S. operating segments represents revenue earned in Canada and U.S./internationally,

respectively. The Group’s non-current assets by geographic location are as follows:

Non-current assets 1 2013 2012

Canada $ 803,151 $ 847,279 

United States / international 1,934,356 294,871 

Total non-current assets $ 2,737,507 $ 1,142,150 

1 Other assets exclude deferred taxes and investment in an associate.
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26. discontinued operations

On May 10, 2013, D+H announced the divesture of its non-strategic business processing operations which are comprised

of the following components: credit card services, contact centre services, benefits and administration, coupon and rebate

services and real estate services. These components largely served customers comprising retailers, real estate boards and

packaged goods companies and provided services that are not considered part of D+H’s strategic business of serving

financial institutions.

Consideration for the sale included $8.5 million in cash, subject to certain post closing adjustments, and may be further

increased upon achievement of certain specific targets of earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization

for the disposed operations (as defined in the sale agreement) over the next four years. 

The results of operations of these components were included in the Canadian Segment in prior periods. These components

and the related transition services have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. 

Results of discontinued operations:

2013 2012 

Revenues $ 22,761 $ 62,207 

Expenses 26,110 63,771 

Loss from operating activities (3,349) (1,564)

Income tax recovery (887) (413)

Loss from operating activities, net of income tax (2,462) (1,151)

Loss on disposal (5,851) - 

Loss on measurement to fair value less costs to sell (11,174) - 

Income tax recovery due to loss on measurement (1,435) - 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax $ (18,052) $ (1,151)

The loss on disposal recognized in the year ended December 31, 2013 represents the write-off of net assets in excess of

net proceeds received on closing.

The loss on measurement to fair value less costs to sell in the year ended December 31, 2013 represents the loss on

measurement in accordance with IFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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Paul D. Damp 1, 2

Chairman, Director

Mr. Damp is Managing Partner of Kestrel Capital Partners (a private investment firm). From October
1996 to June 1998, Mr. Damp was Chairman, Director and Chief Executive Officer of Accugraph
Corporation (a telecommunications software provider). Prior to November 1994, he was President
and Chief Operating Officer of SHL Systemhouse Inc., and prior to October 1990, a Partner at
KPMG LLP. Mr. Damp is a director of several private companies. Mr. Damp is a chartered
professional accountant.

Gordon J. Feeney 2, 3

Director

Mr. Feeney is Chairman of Rideau Recognition Solutions Inc. and Rainsford Lane Prestige
Properties Ltd., and a Director of Wheels Group Inc. Mr. Feeney joined the RBC Financial Group
in 1959 and retired as Deputy Chairman in June 2001. Mr. Feeney was also Chairman of Canada
Post Corporation from September 2004 until April 2007.

Michael A. Foulkes 2 ǂ

Director

Mr. Foulkes is a former executive of TD Bank Group, having held a variety of executive positions
over 30 years with the bank and retiring in late 2006 as President & Chief Executive Officer, 
TD Waterhouse UK. He was also previously a Director and Chairman of Symcor Services Inc. 
Mr. Foulkes is currently a Director and Chairman of the Royal Conservatory of Music, a Director of
CDS Inc. (a subsidiary of TMX Group), First Nations Bank of Canada and eHealth Ontario.

Deborah L. Kerr 2, 3 

Director

Ms. Kerr is Chief Product and Technology Officer of Sabre Holdings, a leading global travel
technology company that provides technology solutions to the travel and tourism industry. She joined
the company in April 2013. From 2009 to 2012, she was Executive Vice President and Chief
Product and Technology Officer for FICO, a leading provider of analytics and decision management
technology. She also served for four years as Chief Technology Officer for HP Enterprise Services
and was Vice President of business technology optimization products at HP Software. 
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Bradley D. Nullmeyer 1 ǂ

Director

Mr. Nullmeyer was appointed President of Element Financial Corporation (an independent financial
services company that originates, sells and manages equipment financing in addition to providing
vehicle fleet leasing) on September 1, 2012. Prior to that, he was President and Chief Executive
Officer of A&A Capital (a private investment company). From 1999 to 2001 he was Chief Executive
Officer, Vendor Finance of CIT Group (a finance company) and, prior to 1999, President of
Newcourt Financial (a finance company). Mr. Nullmeyer is a chartered professional accountant.

Helen K. Sinclair 1, 3 ǂ

Director

Ms. Sinclair is the Founder and Chief Executive Officer of BankWorks Trading Inc. (a consulting
and satellite communications company). From October 1989 to June 1996, Ms. Sinclair was
President of the Canadian Bankers Association. Ms. Sinclair is a director of a number of other
organizations including TD Bank Financial Group and EPCOR Utilities Inc.

Committees of the Board
1 Audit
2 Human Resources and Compensation
3 Governance and Nominating
ǂ Committee Chair 

Gerrard B. Schmid
Chief Executive Officer, Director

Mr. Schmid joined D+H in 2007 as President of one of our operating divisions and has served as
the Corporation’s President and Chief Operating Officer since 2009 before commencing his term
as Chief Executive Officer in February, 2012. Mr. Schmid has over 15 years’ experience in financial
services and prior to joining D+H, served as head of the deposits and overdraft lending business
of Lloyds TSB Bank in the United Kingdom and in Canada as Chief Operating Officer of CIBC’s
retail bank. Mr. Schmid is a member of the Toronto Cabinet of the United Way.
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